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Company Profile

No ane sells more office products to
moré customers in more countries
than Office Depof. The Company
operates under the Office Depot®,
Viking Office Products®, Viking
Direct®, 4Sure.com® and NiceDay™
brand names. At year-end, there were
1,099 Office Depot stores operating
as wholly-owned or under licensed
and joint-venture agreements in 13
couhtries, including 900 in the United
States and Canada. Office Depot’s
North American business-to-business
delivery network is supported by 22

-delivery centers, more than 60 local

TRPOT

sales offices and 13 regional call
centers. Internationally, the Company
sells products and services in 21
countries outside the United States
and Canada and is supported by 25
distribution centers and 31 call
centers. The Company operates an
award-winning U.S. 6ﬁice Depot brand
web site at www.officedepot.com, and
maintains 31 other public web sites
outside North America. Office Depot
reports financial results for three
operating segments: International
Division, incorporating operating

results from the Company’s wholly-

owned international mail order,
e-commerce, retail and contract sales
operations outside North America;
Business Services Group, reflecting
results from all of the Company’s North
American delivery channels, including
catalog, e-commerce and contract
sales; and North American Retail,
incorporating results for all of its retail
operations in the United States and
Canada. Office Depot’'s common stock
is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol ODP and

is included in the S&P 500 Index.

Sales

Operating Profit

Net Earnings

Diluted Earnings per Share

Working Capital
Total Assets
Commoen Stockholders’ Equity

FINANC'AL HlGHLIGHTS (in millions, except per share data)

2003
$12,358.6
470.3
276.3

0.88

$1,2995
6,145.2
2,794.1

2002 2001
$11,356.6 - $ 11,0821
499.7 3534
310.7 201.0
0.98 0.66

$ 12177 $ 7219
4,765.8 4,331.6
2,297.1 1,848.4
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Global Leadership

Office Depot is much more than just a North American
retailer. In fact, our North American Retail Bivision
comprises less than half of our overall business.

¢ 2003 marked a year of substantial global advancement now includes 31 public web sites as well as the ability

for Office Depot. In June, we acquired Guilbert, a
leading European contract stationer. This acquisition
nearly doubled our size in Europe, accelerated our
growth in the large-sized business customer segment,
and established Office Depot as the undisputed office
supply leader in Europe. We now have the capability
to serve customers of all sizes across most major
European markets.

Direct selling is the key strength of our International
Division. With a salesforce of more than 1,900
professionals, we are able to serve large customer
accounts across 10 countries internationally. Our
catalog channel, designed to serve small and medium-
sized accounts, operates in 12 countries outside of
North America. Our growing e-commerce presence

Total Company Sales Mix

1998 2003

" North American Retail

to offer customized intranet web sites to our large
account segment. Collectively, a robust network of
31 call centers and 25 warehouses supports Office
Depot’s International Division.

In 2003 we expanded our International Division
wholly-owned retail presence to 64 stores by
introducing six retail stores in Spain and by opening
five additional stores in Japan and three in France.

In addition, there are another 135 Office Depot stores
in eight countries operating under joint venture and
licensing agreements.

Our International Division is our fastest-growing and
most profitable business segment. We expect it to
remain a key driver of our Company’s future success.
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~ Qur Global Assets
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Office DEPOT

To Our Shareholders:

2003 was a year of both significant
accomplishments and continued
challenges for Office Depot.

Our strong North American Delivery
and International businesses combined
to produce segment operating income
growth of $182 million, or 32 percent,
over 2002. This growth more than offset the $106 million
year-on-year decrease in North American Retail segment
operating profit. Collectively, total Company 2003 segment
operating income, before general and administrative
costs, grew by 8 percent to $1.07 billion. Our acquisition
of Guilbert, one of the leading contract stationers in
Europe, virtually doubled our international business and
positions us as the largest reseller of office products
across Europe. The integration process to date has been
virtually flawless, and we are on track to deliver planned

results. In addition, the continued outstanding performance
of our European business ex-Guilbert was noteworthy
throughout the year. We also reported sizable reductions
in Japan’s operating losses as we continued on our path
to profitability in that large and strategically important
country. As a result, our international business has never
been stronger or demonstrated better performance, and
in the fourth quarter of 2003 exceeded 25 percent of our
total Company sales.

In our North American Business Services Group, we
accelerated growth rates in our large corporate account
customer base. We redeployed and repositioned our North
American sales force, which will lead to accelerated
growth rates in 2004. Finally, we achieved our third
consecutive year of North American warehouse efficiency,
productivity, and quality growth.

We faced a difficult year and many challenges in our
North American Retail business. Despite our sales

challenges, we have positioned ourselves for future
growth. We created and successfully executed a chain-
wide rollout of ink Depot. During the fourth quarter of
2003, we implemented significant changes in furniture
and technology assortments in our North American retall
stores. We launched Magellan, the largest business
project in Office Depot’s history, which we believe will lead
to improved sales, margins, comps, and supply-chain
performance. We began the rollout of our Millennium store
remodei format in North America. We remain relentlessly
focused on our plans to accelerate growth in our North
American Retail business: new merchandise assortments
and initiatives, new store formats, an aggressive store
remodeling program, and the accelerated openings of new
and smaller stores in our core markets. These actions
were beginning to show impressive results in the early
part of 2004.

Over the past three years, we have generated more than
$2 billion of operating cash flow, and we have used these
funds to invest and strategically reposition the Company
for growth. We have made investments in warehouse
technology and systems that have driven efficiency,
lowered cost, and increased quality. We have entered new
countries as well as new channels in existing countries.

In five European countries we were recognized as one of
the best places to work.

We have utilized online tools to drive out inefficiency,
lower costs, and increase both the quality and the quantity
of our management information. We have tested and
opened new retail concepts. From Lantana to Millennium,
we have learned, tested, and rolled out new store formats.
We have discovered a way to lower the square footage
requirements in an existing North American store by 20 to
25 percent without negatively impacting store growth. We
have opened stores in Stop-n-Shop, in Albertsons, and on
military bases.
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With the appointment of two seasoned veterans from
within Office Depot, we strengthened our executive
leadership in our North American delivery and North
American supply-chain organizations.

Over the past three years, we have been unwavering in
our focus. Our journey has yielded many achievements,
including worldwide employee retention rates that have
never been higher and customer service metrics that
have never been better. As we begin 2004, our strategic
focus continues to be on our one overriding objective:

To beceme the leading global provider of office product
and service solutions 10 businesses and drive superior
shareholder value by being a highly efficient, flexible,
customer-driven, multi-channel organization.

We have developed seven key strategies that will serve as
a road map to achieving this objective. These strategies are
built on the foundations of our culture: our vision of being
the most Compelling Place to Work, Shop and Invest;
coupled with our values of Respect for the Individual,
Fanatical Customer Service and Excellence in Execution.

1. Reposition North American Real Estate. We will
improve decisions about our stores — where to locate
them, what size they should be, and what they look like.
We will build a more competitive and flexible real estate
model. We will reinvest in older stores and increase the
number of new stores. Initiatives include Millennium
remodels, small store formats and alternative formats,
such as Office Depot sections within grocery stores.

2. Control Costs While Enhancing Quality. We wili create
a performance-driven culture to improve quality, simplify
operations, and decrease costs. Process improvement
will become a core competency of Office Depot and we
will implement common tools to accelerate this effort.
We will leverage our global size and scale.

3. Create a Customer-Centric Experience. We will
understand our customers — who they are, what they
want, and how théy want to buy. We will guide customers
to the best shopping opportunities for their needs,
allowing us to build stronger customer relationships and
resulting in increased customer loyalty, sales, and

profitability. Initiatives include improving communications
with our customers in our advertising, our in-store-
signage, our web site and direct customer interaction.

4. Develop a Differentiated Product Assortment. We will
develop a merchandising approach that differentiates
Office Depot from our competition by providing the right
products at the right place and the right price. We will
make choices and select categories that drive the
greatest sales and profit.

5. Excel in Europe. We will build on our office supply
leadership position in Europe. Initiatives inciude
completion of the Guilbert integration with Viking/Office
Depot processes and systems, implementation of
harmonized customer contact and product strategies,
enhancement of the retail model, and a new warehouse
management system.

6. Establish a High-Performance Organization with
Superior Leadership. We will invest in our people. We
will create a pipeline of internal talent through investment
in training, development, retention and growth of high
performers. We will further increase our efforts to atftract
highly talented peopie to our team.

7. Build or Acquire New Business to Generate
Breakthrough Growth, We will grow new ideas by
identifying global opportunities for investment that
generate breakthrough growth and shareholder value.

Simply stated, we want to make Office Depot the most
Compelling Place to Work, Shop and Invest. We want to
be the fastest-growing, most profitable company in our
industry. We will succeed in doing so by delivering the
highest levels of customer service, with a highly efficient,
flexible, customer-driven, multi-channel organization. We
are confident that all the work we have done and
milestones we have achieved throughout the past three
years have placed us firmly on the path to reach our
goals. The best is yet to come.

Warm regards,

WS WO s

Bruce Nelson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 2004

OFFICE DEPOT 2003 ANNUAL REPORT



o

2003 Office Depot Facts _

RESPECT FOR THE INDIVIDUAL o FANATICAL CUSTOMER SERVICE » EXCELLENCE IN EXECUTION

Company Facts * Aleading global office supply reseller — mare than $12 billion in sales
¢ Wholly-owned and joint venture/license operations in a total of 23 countries
¢ Serve customers of all sizes via our retail, mail order, Internet, and contract sales channels

* Highly diversified sales portfolio: International Division (22%), Business Services Group (32%), and
North American Retail (46%)

* Number two global online retailer with sales of $2.6 billion
¢ 46,000 employees worldwide

International Division o Number one office products reseller in Western Europe
¢ Serve customers in 21 countries — Office Depot, Viking, and Guilbert brand names
» Multi-channel operations: mail order (12 countries), contract (10 countries), and retail (three countries)
* 135 joint venture/license retail stores in an additional eight countries
¢ E-commerce operations via 31 public Internet web sites
¢ 25 warehouses in 10 countries

Business Services Group » Deliver products and services through a dedicated sales force, catalogs and call centers,
and electronically through our internet sites

e Operate under Office Depot, Viking, and 4Sure.com brand names
» 13 regional call centers, 10 public web sites

¢ Develop customized intranet sites in tandem with our customers
¢ QOffer over 14,000 stock-keeping units

e 22 delivery warehouses

North American Retail * 867 Office Depot superstores in 44 states and the District of Columbia

¢ 33 Office Depot stores in Canada

¢ Availability of 8,100 stock-keeping units

¢ Retail destination for ink and toner, core office supplies, furniture, technology, and
copy, print and ship services

¢ Qver 23,000 employees

Division

Office Debot seeks to enhance quality of life in the communities in which we operate and to serve humanity by
supporting and inspiring involvement with causes that make a profound social impact. We are committed to
Caring and Making a Difference, with particular emphasis on “Taking Care of Kids.”

Corporate Social « Office Depot’s community relations mission is Caring and Making a Difference, with particular
o ere emphasis on programs that assist at-risk, underprivileged children
Responsibility » BusinassWaek magazine listed Office Depot among the top corporate philanthropists in the United

States in 2003 on the basis of its in-kind donations

» More than 200,000 at-risk schoolchildren throughout North America received new backpacks filled
with school supplies from Office Depot in 2003

» Office Depot’s philanthropic partners include City of Hope, America's Second Harvest, the Canadian
Association of Food Banks, Toys for Tots, Gifts In Kind International and Dream Foundation

* In support of its commitment to environmental sustainability, Office Depot introduced its
Environmental Paper Procurement Policy in 2003
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The following table sets forth the consolidated historical selected financial data of the Company:
(In thousands, except per share

amounts and statistical data) 2003 2002 2001 (1) 2000 (1) (4) 1999 (1)
Statements of Earnings Data:
Sales (). . ... $12,358,566 $11,356,633 $11,082,112 $11,495,493 $10,197,373
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs. ............. 8,484,420 8,022,663 7,940,067 8,435,928 7,405,870
Grossprofit. . ..... ... . 3,874,146 3,333,970 3,142,045 3,059,565 2,791,503
Store and warehouse operating and
sellingexpenses (2). . .........oo i 2,802,240 2,338,128 2,331,013 2,498,146 2,040,216
General and administrative expenses (2). ............. 578,840 486,279 445,538 447 693 322,172
Other operating expenses . ..............c.onnn.. 22,809 9,855 12,125 6,733 16,524
Operatingprofit. ........................... 470,257 499,708 353,369 106,993 412,591
Interestincome. .. ...... ... .. .. 14,196 18,509 12,980 11,345 30,043
Interestexpense . ... i (54,805) (46,195) (43,339) (32,683) (24,852)
Miscellaneous income (expense), net................ 15,392 7,183 (9,057) 4,632 (3,514)

Earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes and cumulative effect

of accountingchange ......................... 445,040 479,205 313,953 90,287 414,268
Incometaxes .......... ... 143,016 167,722 112,296 41,972 155,875
Earnings from continuing operations before

cumulative effect of accounting change ............ 302,024 311,483 201,657 48,315 258,393
Discontinued operations,net . ..................... 176 (775) (614) 1,017 (755)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net. . ....... .. (25,905) — — — —
Netearnings ............ ..o iiiiiiviernnnn.. $ 276,295 $ 310,708 $ 201,043 $ 49332 $ 257,638

Earnings per share from continuing operations
before cumulative effect of accounting change:

BasiC ... e $ 0.98 $ 1.02 $ 0.68 $ 0.16 $ 0.72
Diluted . ........ ... 0.96 0.98 0.66 0.16 0.69
Cumuiative effect of accounting change:
BasiC ... ... (0.08) — — — —
Diluted . ........ ... (0.08) — — — —
Netearningspershare:..........................
Basic ........... $ 0.89 $ 1.01 $ 0.67 $ 0.16 $ 0.71
Diluted . ...........o 0.88 0.98 0.66 0.16 0.69

Statistical Data:
Facilities open at end of period:
United States and Canada:

Office supply stores. . . ....... ... ... ... . .... 900 867 859 888 825
Customer service centers. .................... 22 24 24 25 30
Callcenters. .. ... 13 13 13 7 7
International (3):
Office supply stores . ....................... 64 50 39 35 32
Customer servicecenters .................... 25 15 14 12 12
Callcenters. . ......covvi e 31 13 11 1 "
Balance Sheet Data:
Workingcapital ... ......... ... ... ... o ., $ 1,299,475 $ 1,217,706 $ 721,867 $ 790,752 $ 687,007
Totalassets ..........co i 6,145,242 4,765,812 4,331,643 4,196,334 4,276,183
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities .......... 829,302 411,970 317,552 598,499 321,099
Common stockholders’ equity .. ................... 2,794,087 2,297,112 1,848,438 1,601,251 1,907,720

(1) As applicable, amounts have been adjusted to refiect the Australian business as discontinued operations.

(2) Certain amounts in prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. Among other items, we have classified facility closure costs
from a separate line into store and warehouse operating and selling expenses.

(3) Company-owned facilities in our International Division.

(4) Includes 53 weeks in accordance with our 52-53 week reporting convention.

QUARTERLY STOCK PRICE RANGE
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices of the Company’s common stock quoted on the
NYSE Composite Tape. These prices do not include retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commissions:

2003 High Low 2002 High ‘ Low

First Quarter $15.390 $10.280 First Quarter $20.400 $15.500
Second Quarter $15.270 $11.150 Second Quarter $21.960 $15.460
Third Quarter $18.500 $14.190 Third Quarter $17.000 $10.600

Fourth Quarter $16.990 $13.600 Fourth Quarter $18.090 $10.700
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMI.SSION
Washington, DC 20549 .

FORM 10-K
(Mark One) '
Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the
‘ Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003

or

] Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-10948

Office pEPOT

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware : 59-2663954

(State or other jurisdiction of » (LR.S. Employer
' incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
2200 Old Germantown Road; Delray Beach, Florida 33445
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(561) 438-4800 ,
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name of each exchange on

Title of each class - which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share New York Stock Exchange

Preferred Share Purchase Rights New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be ﬁled by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No []

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein and
will not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by
reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes No []

The aggregate market value of voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 28, 2003 was approximately
$4,646,725,787. -

As of February 13, 2004, the Registrant had 310,551,941 shares of Common Stock outstanding.

Documents Incorporated by Reference:

Portions of our Proxy Statement, to be mailed to stockholders on or about March 19, 2004 for the Annﬁal Meeting to be held
on May 14, 2004, are incorporated by reference in Part III.
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PART 1

Item 1. Business.

Office Depot, Inc., together with our subsidiaries, (“Office
Depot” or the “Company”), is a global supplier of office prod-
ucts and services. Founded in 1986 with the opening of our
first retail store in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, we now sell to
consumers and businesses of all sizes through our three busi-
ness segments: North American Retail Division, Business
Services Group, and International Division. These segments
include multiple sales channels consisting of office supply
stores, a contract sales force, Internet sites, and catalog and
call centers, all supported by our network of crossdocks,
warehouses and delivery operations.

Additional information regarding our business segments
is presented below and in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis (“MD&A”) of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

North American Retail Division

We have concentrated on expanding our store base and
increasing our sales in markets with high concentrations of
small- and medium-sized businesses across the United States
and in Canada. Our North American Retail Division sells a
wide selection of merchandise, including brand name and
private label office supplies, business machines and compuiters,
computer software, office furniture and other business-related
products and services through our chain of high-volume office
supply stores. Most stores also contain a multipurpose copy and
print center offering printing, reproduction, mailing, shipping,
and other services.

Our retail stores are based on a model designed to achieve
cost efficiency by minimizing. rent and eliminating the need
for a central warehouse. Each store displays most of its inven-
tory on the sales floor using pallets, bins and steel shelving,
permitting the bulk stacking of inventory and quick and effi-
cient restocking. Shelving is positioned to form aisles large
enough to accommodate customer traffic and merchandise
movement. In recent years, we have further enhanced the
shopping experience with the installation of new lighting,
signage, and broadband Internet capabilities across our entire
North American Retail chain. Additionally, through our busi-
ness relationships with recognized carriers, such as United
‘Parcel Services, we offer shipping services in many of our
retail stores. This has enabled us to offer our customers a full
selection of packaging and shipping supplies, as well as a
complete portfolio of U.S. domestic and international ship-
ping services at regular customer counter rates.

At the end of 2003, our North American Retail Division
operated 900 office supply stores in 44 states, the District of
Columbia and Canada. The largest concentration of stores is in
California, Texas and Florida, but we have broad representation
across North America. As of December 27, 2003, the average
size of our North American retail stores was approximately
26,000 square feet, although stores opened more recently are

Office Depot 2003 / Form 10-K

generally smaller than this average. Store opening and closing
activity for the last three years has been as follows:

Open at Open at

Beginning Stores End

of Period Opened Closed ofPeriod Relocated
2001. .. 888 44 73 859 5
2002... 859 21 13 867 g
2003. .. 867 36 3 900 12

In 2003, we continued growing our business by opening a
total of 36 new stores, at an average of 14,000 square feet per
store. The majority of these stores were opened in existing
markets. We continue to modify our expansion approach to
meet the needs of new and changing markets. We have
tailored store size to match anticipated demand and customer
needs. We have also opened satellite operations in high-
density locations and offered Office Depot products within
grocery store and other retail outlets. We expect to continue
this approach to retail store expansion, with an emphasis on
market density in order to leverage advertising dollars and
cross-channel opportunities to create a seamless customer
experience across all channels. Additionally, in mid-June, we
opened our first store utilizing the “Millennium” design. This
design has merchandise placements that we believe correspond
more closely to the ways customers shop. The initial response
to our Millennium format has been favorable, although the
format remains in testing and subject to modification.

In 2004, we plan to add 70 to 80 new retail stores and
remodel approximately 50 to 60. The average size of the new
retail stores we plan to add in the coming year will be approxi-

“mately 16,000 square feet, though additions, remodels and store

size are subject to change in response to market conditions.

Business Services Group (“BSG”)

We have provided office supply products and services to
businesses through our catalog and contract sales operations
for almost ten years. In 1998, we expanded our catalog busi-
ness through our merger with Viking Office Products
(“Viking”), a company that sold from catalogs and used cus-
tomer call centers in the United States and several European
countries. Today, BSG sells branded and private label prod-
ucts and services by means of our dedicated sales force,
through catalogs and call centers, and electronically through
our Internet sites.

Our contract business employs a dedicated sales force
that services the office supply needs of medium- and large-
sized businesses. Depending on the size and type of customer,
our sales force tailors its service offerings to optimally serve
the customer’s needs at the lowest possible cost. Sales repre-
sentatives increase contract revenues, we believe, by building
relationships with customers and providing information,
business tools and problem-solving services to them. In 1995
we introduced electronic ordering for our large business cus-
tomers and have endeavored to convert our larger customers
to this method of ordering.

Our commercial business is tailored to serve small- and
medium-sized businesses. Customers of our commercial



business order products using our Office Depot and Viking
brand catalogs and via the Internet at our Office Depot
public web site (www.officedepot.com) and Viking public
web site (www.vikingop.com). We expanded our offerings
when we acquired 4Sure.com in 2001, adding web sites
(www.computersdsure.com and www.solutions4sure.com)
aimed at more sophisticated technology purchasers. We have
integrated 4Sure.com into other Office Depot offerings and
have added a new web site (www.techdepot.com) for technol-
ogy purchases. We believe our Internet business will provide
significant future growth opportunities for our BSG segment
and our business as a whole based on the growth rates we
have experienced over the last three years.

BSG orders are filled through our Customer Service
Centers (“CSCs”), which provide warehouse and delivery
functions for our catalog, contract and Internet customers. Some
CSCs also house sales offices, call centers and administrative
offices. At the end of 2003, we operated 22 CSCs in
the United States, consisting of 12 Office Depot facilities, two
Viking facilities and eight combined facilities. During 2003, we
closed two Viking facilities and consolidated their operations
into existing Office Depot facilities. Over the past three years,
we have implemented advanced technologies to assist with
reordering, stocking, the pick-and-pack process, and delivery
operations. As a result, warehouse costs have been declining in
recent years. In 2004 we plan to implement additional strategies
that we believe will make our warehouses even more efficient.

International Division

Our International Division sells office products and serv-
ices in 21 countries outside the United States and Canada
through retail stores (in France, Japan and Spain), direct mail
catalogs, Internet sites, contract sales force, and through inter-
national licensing and joint venture agreements. The growth
in our International Division in more recent years has come
from startup operations, primarily in Europe, but also from the
acquisition of Guilbert S.A. (“Guilbert”) in June 2003. The
acquisition of Guilbert has doubled the size of our business in
Europe and established Office Depot as the leading reseller of

- office products in many of the principal countries of Europe.
At the beginning of 2003, we sold our operations in Australia
to focus on locations where we could be a market leader.

Internationally, we have grown our retail business through
the selective opening of company-owned retail stores and
through joint venture and licensing agreements. In 2003, we
expanded this business into Spain with the opening of six
retail stores. At the end of 2003, our International Division
served customers through 64 company-owned office supply
retail stores, and participated in 135 more through licensing
and joint venture agreements. In 2004, we plan to expand our
International Division’s retail presence by opening 5 to 10
company-owned stores in existing retail markets.

The international catalog business was launched in 1990
under the Viking Direct® brand with the start-up of operations
in the United Kingdom. With the expansion into three addi-
tional countries during 2002, we now have catalog offerings
in 12 countries outside of North America.

In March 1999, we introduced our first international
public web site (www.viking-direct.co.uk) for consumers and
businesses in the United Kingdom. Today we operate 31 sep-

. arate international web sites. Our international e-commerce

business increased 204% during 2003 and additional growth
is expected in future years.

We launched our Office Depot contract business in the
United Kingdom in 2000 and have since expanded into Ireland,
the Netherlands, France, Japan and Italy. In early 2003 we
began contract operations in Germany. This channel targets
medium- to large-sized businesses and offers personalized serv-
ice through a dedicated sales force, individualized pricing and
overnight fulfillment, using our existing logistics infrastructure.

In June 2003, we further expanded our contract business
with the acquisition of Guilbert, a leading contract stationer in
Europe. Guilbert sells to small, medium and large companies
in France, the UK, Germany, [taly, Ireland, the Netherlands,
Spain, Belgium and Portugal through a direct sales force and
through e-commerce and other Internet solutions, under the
Guilbert® and NiceDay™ brand names. Our acquisition of |
Guilbert has accelerated our growth in the large-sized busi-
ness customer channel in Europe, contributing sales of $808.8
million since acquisition. The acquisition of Guilbert has also
added management depth, market experience, purchasing
power and scale to the International Division. We are in the
process of integrating Guilbert into our existing country sys-
tems and processes, and expect to generate significant cost
reductions as a result. ‘

International Division company-owned store and CSC
operations for the last three years are detailed below.

Office Supply Stores
Open at Beginning Open at End
of Period Opened  Closed of Period
2001 ... 35 6 2 39
2002 ... 39 13 2 50
2003 . .. 50 16 2 64
Customer Service Centers (1)
Open at Open at
Beginning End
of Period Opened Closed Guilbert (2) of Period
2001 ... 12 3 1 — 14
2002 ... 14 3 2 — 15
2003 ... 15 — — 10 25

(1) The number of Customer Service Centers has been reduced to

“reflect Australia as a discontinued operation.

(2) Post-integration warehouses obtained as a result of June 2003
acquisition of Guilbert.

Additionally, as of December 27, 2003, we participated in
operations of 135 office supply stores and 5 CSCs under our
licensing and joint venture agreements. In 2002 and 2001, we
participated in operations of 121 office supply stores and 5
CSCs and 104 office supply stores and 6 CSCs, respectively.
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Merchandising and Product Life Cycle

Our merchandising strategy is to offer a broad selection
of office products, under our various private label Office Depot,
Viking Office Products, and Guilbert brands, including the
NiceDay™ brand, and to provide our ¢ustomers with business
services and customized business solutions that differentiate
us from our competition and increase customer loyalty. Our
office products assortment includes general office supplies,
computers, software, computer supplies, business machines
and related supplies, and office furniture. Our domestic office
supply superstores and customer service centers stock approx-
imately 8,100 and 10,500 stock keeping units, or SKUs,
respectively, including variations in color and size. Our
customer service centers provide warehouse and delivery
functions for our catalog, contract and Internet customers, and
support retail store inventory replenishment as needed.

We buy substantially all of our merchandise directly from
manufacturers and other primary suppliers. We also obtain
certain merchandise (principally private label merchandise)
from offshore locations, including our private label brands
that are exclusive to Office Depot, Viking, Guilbert and 4Sure.
Our private label brand items include over 600 SKUs, consist-
ing at the current time of primarily office supplies, paper, and
furniture. In most cases, our suppliers deliver the merchandise
directly to our CSCs or our crossdocks, which are centralized
distribution centers. Once received at our crossdocks, most
merchandise is then delivered to our retail stores. Crossdocks
use a customized systern to manage the inbound flow of mer-
chandise with the goal of minimizing our landed cost. This
system enables us to maintain optimal in-stock positions
by permitting a shorter lead-time for reordering, while still
meeting the minimum ordering requirements of our vendors.
The use of crossdocks also reduces our freight costs by
centralizing the receiving function.

Office Depot’s centralized merchandising department is
responsible for selecting, purchasing and pricing merchandise
as well as managing the full product life cycle. Our contract
sales force in BSG offers customized pricing to our contract
customers, based on product selection and volume. Replen-
ishment personnel monitor inventory levels and initiate product
reorders with the assistance of our customized replenishment
system. This system allows merchants to devote more time to
selecting products, developing new product lines, analyzing
competitive developments and negotiating with vendors to
obtain more favorable prices and product availability. We
transmit purchase orders electronically to a significant number
of our vendors, and we electronically receive advance ship-
ment notices and invoices back from them. This method of
electronic ordering expedites orders and promotes accuracy
and efficiency.

Office Depot 2003 / Form 10-K

10

Total sales by product group were as follows:

2003 2002% 2001*
Office products and machine
supplies. .. ............ 56.0% 526%  51.5%
Technology and related :
products .............. 21.7% 23.8%  24.1%
Office furniture and other ... 22.3% 23.6%  244%
100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

*Conformed to current year product classification. The primary
change has been to reclassify machine supplies, including ink
and toner, from technology and related products to office prod-
ucts and machine supplies. Additionally, copy center has been
reclassified out of general office into office furniture and other.

We classify our products into three categories: office
products and machine supplies, technology and related prod-
ucts and office furniture and other. The office products and
machine supplies category includes paper, filing, binders,
writing instruments, adhesives, art supplies, and machine sup-
plies, including ink and toner. The technology and related
products and services category includes desktop and laptop
computers, printers, copiers, software, digital cameras, and
wireless communications products. Office furniture and other
includes desks, chairs, luggage, calculators, telephones, fax
machines, products and services sold at our copy centers and
other miscellaneous items. The table above is based on total
company sales. Management also views the business on a
comparable (or comp) sales basis. This measures the sales for
stores that have been open for one year or more and all BSG
and Internet sales. Comparable sales are used in MD&A to
address important factors affecting our business.

Sales and Marketing

We are able to maintain our competitive pricing policy pri-
marily as a result of the significant cost efficiencies we achieve
through our operating format and purchasing power. Our
marketing programs are designed to attract new customers and
to persuade existing customers to make additional purchases.
We regularly advertise in the major newspapers in most of our
local markets using both color inserts and also so-called run of
press (ROP) advertisements: These advertisements are supple-
mented with local and national radio and network and cable
television advertising campaigns, direct marketing efforts,
signage in various sports venues and a naming rights agree-
ment for a sports and entertainment arena in south Florida.

We have a low price guarantee policy for merchandise
sold in our stores, through catalogs and over the Internet
(see www.officedepot.com for more information). Additionally,
we perform monthly competitive pricing analyses to monitor
each market, and prices are adjusted as necessary to adhere to
this pricing philosophy and ensure competitive positioning.

We continuously acquire new customers by selectively
mailing specially designed catalogs to prospective customers.
Sometimes we obtain the names of prospective customers in
new and existing markets through the use of selected mailing
lists from outside marketing information services and other



sources. We use a proprietary mailing list system for our
Viking Office Products brand catalogs and other promotional
mailings. We plan to use this same technology to increase the
effectiveness of our Office Depot brand catalogs in the future.

Our customers can place orders over the Internet, by tele-
- phone or by fax using toll-free telephone numbers that route
the calls to our call centers. In North America, our call centers
are located in Florida, Georgia, Texas, Ohio, Connecticut,
Kansas, New Jersey, and California. Orders are electronically
transmitted from our call centers to the store or CSC closest to
our customer for pickup or delivery at a nominal delivery fee
(free with a minimum order size). For our wholly owned oper-
ations outside of North America, orders are mostly processed
and fulfilled by call centers and customer service centers
located in each of the respective countries. Orders are pack-
aged, invoiced and shipped for next-day delivery or same-day
delivery in the case of Viking orders in selected markets.

Through BSG, we provide our contract customers with
specialized services designed to aid them in achieving effi-
ciencies and eliminating waste in their overall office products
and office furniture costs. These services include electronic
ordering, stockless office procurement, desktop delivery, busi-
ness forms, management services and comprehensive product
usage reports. Desktop delivery entails delivering the merchan-
dise to individual departments within our customers’ facilities,
rather than delivering the packages to one central receiving
point. We also develop customized Intranet sites in tandem
with our customers, allowing them to set rules and limitations
on their employees’ electronic ordering abilities.

In addition to the normal payment options available to all
of our customers, we offer our contract and certain qualified
commercial customers the option of purchasing on credit
‘through open accounts. We also offer revolving credit terms to
certain customers through the use of private label credit cards.
These credit cards are issued without charge to credit-qualified
customers. Sales transactions using the private label credit
cards are transmitted electronically to a financial services
company, which credits our bank account with the net pro-
ceeds within two days. We offer our contract customers a store
purchasing card that allows them to purchase office supplies
at one of our retail stores, while still taking advantage of their

contract pricing. No single customer in any of our segments

accounts for more than 1% of our total sales. All of our credit
card operations are managed by third parties.

Catalog Production and Circulation

We use our catalogs to market directly to both existing
and prospective customers throughout the world. Separate
catalog assortments promote our dual brand (Office Depot and
Viking Office Products) mail order strategy. We currently cir-
culate both Office Depot and Viking Office Products brand
catalogs through our Business Services Group domestically
and our International Division outside the United States.
Following the acquisition of Guilbert in June 2003, we also
publish separate catalogs bearing the Guilbert name in Europe.
Each catalog is printed in color with pictures and narrative
descriptions that emphasize key product benefits and features.
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We have developed a distinctive style for our catalogs, most of
which are produced in-house by our designers, writers and
production artists. Recently, we introduced a Green Book
catalog, which features products that are recyclable, energy
efficient, or otherwise deemed desirable from the standpoint
of impact on the environment.

Our Viking Office Products brand catalog mailings
include monthly sale catalogs, which are mailed to all active
Viking customers and present our most popular items. A com-
plete buyers guide, containing all of our products at the regular
discount prices, is delivered to our Office Depot and Viking
Office Products brand catalog customers every six months.
This buyers guide, which is mailed to all of our active cus-
tomers, varies in size among countries. Prospecting catalogs
with special offers designed to attract new customers are
mailed frequently. In addition, Office Depot and Viking Office
Products specialty catalogs are delivered each month to
selected customers.

During 2003, we mailed approximately 264 million copies
of Office Depot and Viking brand catalogs to existing and
prospective customers. During 2002 and 2001, we mailed
approximately 297 million and 307 million copies, respectively.

Industry and Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environment. Histori-
cally, our markets have been served by traditional office
products dealers and contract stationers. We believe that we
compete favorably against such dealers on the basis of price
and selection. We compete with other full service contract sta-
tioners on the basis of service and value-added technology.
We also compete with other office supply superstores, whole-
sale clubs selling general merchandise, discount stores,
mass merchandisers, conventional retail stores, computer and
electronics superstores, Internet-based companies and direct
mail companies. These companies, in varying degrees, com-
pete with us on both price and selection in substantially all of
our current markets.

Other office supply superstore companies are similar to us
in terms of store format, pricing strategy and product selection
and availability in the markets where we operate, primarily
those in the United States and Canada. We anticipate that in
the future we will face increased competition from these
chains as each of us expands our operations both in North
America and abroad. We differentiate ourselves from these
other superstore chains by pursuing our mission to know our
business customers and to supply not only the products, but
also the business solutions they need. This focus is summed
up in our brand positicning statement “What you need. What
you need to know.” This statement emphasizes how we pro-
vide tailored business services and solutions across our sales
channels to optimally serve our diverse customers’ needs.

Employees

As of January 24, 2004, we had approximately 46,000
employees worldwide, the majority of which were full time.
Our labor relations generally are good, and the overwhelming
majority of our facilities are not organized by any labor union.
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Available Information

We make our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K
and amendments to those reports available, free of charge,
under the “Investor Relations” section of our web site,
www.officedepot.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after
we electronically file or furnish such materials to the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Additionally, our corporate governance materials,
including governance guidelines; the charters of the audit,
compensation, finance, and governance and nominating com-
mittees; and the code of ethical behavior may also be found
under the “Investor Relations” section of our web site at
www.officedepot.com. Office Depot makes no provisions for
waivers of the code of ethical behavior. A copy of the fore-
going corporate governance materials are available upon
written request.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
~ Bruce Nelson—Age: 59

Mr. Nelson has served as Chief Executive Officer of
Office Depot, Inc. since July 17, 2000 and Chairman of our
Board of Directors since December 29, 2001. Previously, he
served both as President of Office Depot International and as
President and Chief Operating Officer of our subsidiary,
Viking Office Products, Inc. He has been one of our directors
since he joined our Company in August 1998. From January
1996 until August 1998, he served as President and as a direc-
tor of Viking. From July 1995 until January 1996, Mr. Nelson
was Chief Operating Officer of Viking, and from January
1995 until July 1995, he was Executive Vice President of
Viking. From 1990 until July 1994, Mr. Nelson was President
and Chief Executive Officer of BT Office Products USA. He
had previously worked for over 22 years at Boise Cascade
Office Products in a number of executive positions.

Jerry Colley—Age: 51

Mr. Colley joined Office Depot in February 2001 as our
President, North American Retail Stores. Prior to joining
Office Depot, he was Senior Vice President, Stores and
Customer Satisfaction for AutoZone, Inc., from 1997 to 2001.
Prior to his tenure at AutoZone, Mr. Colley was Executive
Vice President of Tire Kingdom from January 1996 to July
1996, and President of Rose Auto Parts, a regional retail
chain, from February 1995 to December 1995, and Vice
President, Stores/Regional Manager for AutoZone/AutoShack
from 1987 to 1995.

Rolf van Kaldekerken—Age: 53

Mr. van Kaldekerken has been President, European
Operations since August 2000. Prior to that appointment, he
served as Executive Vice President, European Operations
from January 2000 to August 2000. Previously, he was Vice
President & Country Manager for Germany from 1998 to
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January 2000 for Office Depot International. He also served
as Managing Director and Vice President, Germany, Benelux
and Austria for Viking Office Products from November 1994
until August 1998, when Viking was merged into our Company.
Prior to joining Viking, Mr. van Kaldekerken was European
Operations and Purchasing Manager for INMAC Corporation.

Charles E. Brown—Age: 50

Mr. Brown has been our Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer since October 2001. Prior to assuming
that position, Mr. Brown was Senior Vice President, Finance
and Controller since he joined our Company in May 1998.
Before joining Office Depot, he was Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Denny’s, Inc. from January
1996 until May 1998; from August 1994 until December
19935, he was Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
ARAMARK International; and from September 1989 until
July 1994, he was Vice President and Controller of Pizza Hut
International, a Division of PepsiCo, Inc.

Cynthia Campbell—Age: 52

Ms. Campbell has been our Executive Vice President,
North American Delivery Sales since September 2003. Prior
to being promoted to that position, she was Senior Vice
President, Contract Sales for the Eastern half of the country, a
position which she assumed in June 2000. She began her
Office Depot career in March 1995 as Zone Vice President—
Southeast Region, with responsibility -for contract sales and
operations. Prior to joining our company, Ms. Campbell spent
19 years with GTE Corporation in a variety of positions, the
latest being Vice President and General Manager of Retail
Information Services.

Jocelyn Carter-Miller—Age: 46

Ms. Carter-Miller joined our Company in February 2002
as Executive Vice President, Marketing, and Chief Marketing
Officer. From 1992 to 2002, she was employed by Motorola,
Inc. in various positions, including Corporate Vice President/
Chief Marketing Officer and in various divisional capacities.
From 1983 to 1991, Ms. Carter-Miller was employed by
Mattel, Inc. in various marketing positions, including Vice
President, Marketing and Product Development from 1987 to
1991. Ms. Carter-Miller is also a director of Principal Financial
Group, Inc., a publicly traded company.

Jay Crosson—Age: 53

Mr. Crosson has been our Executive Vice President,
Human Resources since June 2001. From November 2000
until June 2001, he served as Senior Vice President, Human
Resources and from July 2000 until November 2000, he was
our Senior Vice President, HR Operations. He joined our
Company in November 1997 as Vice President of Human
Resources (Stores Division). Prior to joining our Company,
Mr. Crosson served in various officer level human resources
positions with Sherwin-Williams Company, Cleveland, Ohio.



David C. Fannin—Age: 58

Mr. Fannin has been our Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary since August 2000. Previously,
he was Senior Vice President and General Counsel since he
joined our Company in November 1998, and our Corporate
Secretary since January 1999. Mr. Fannin was Executive Vice
President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of
Sunbeam Corporation, a manufacturer and wholesaler of
durable household and outdoor consumer products, from
January 1994 until August 1998. In connection with his tenure
at Sunbeam Corporation, Mr. Fannin was the subject of
administrative proceedings brought by the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission with respect to Section 17(a)(3) of
the Securities Act of 1933. These proceedings culminated
in Mr. Fannin’s consent in May 2001 (without admitting
or denying any liability) to the entry of a Commission cease-
and-desist order.

Mark Holifield—Age: 47

Mr. Holifield was named our Executive Vice President of
Supply Chain in September 2003. Mr. Holifield joined Office
Depot in May 1994 as Director of Transportation. He was
named Vice President of Transportation and Logistics in July.
1996, and was promoted to Senior Vice President, Supply
Chain in 1997. Prior to joining Office Depot, Mr. Holifield
" worked for Dallas Systems Corporation, a supply chain sys-
tems provider, in various logistics consulting positions from
June 1988 to May 1994. Prior to Dallas Systems, from June
1986 to May 1988, Mr. Holifield worked in logistics for
Frito-Lay, a division of PepsiCo. He began his retail career
with H-E-B Grocery Company, where he worked in various
logistics capacities from May 1977 through May 1986.

Rick Lepley—Age: 54

Mr. Lepley has been President of Office Depot Japan
since May 1, 2001. Prior to that, he served as founder and
President of Retail Investment Concepts, Inc. (RIC), an inde-
pendent retailer and Office Depot licensee for Eastern Europe.
In that capacity, he opened the first Office Depot branded
retail store in Warsaw, Poland and also the first Office Depot
store in Hungary. He also built a delivery business for the
Office Depot brand in both countries. Prior to the founding of
RIC, Mr. Lepley was Sr. Vice President of Sales and Marketing
for Mitsubishi Motor Sales of America, where he worked
for 11 years.
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Monica Luechtefeld—Age: 55

Ms. Luechtefeld has been our Executive Vice President,
E-Commerce since August 2000. Previously, she was Sr. Vice
President of E-Commerce from February 2000 until August
2000. From September 1997 until February 2000, she was Vice
President, Marketing and Sales Administration; and from
February 1996 to September 1997 she was Vice President of
Contract Marketing & Business Development. Ms. Luechtefeld
joined Office Depot in 1993, serving as General Manager of the
Southern California Region of Office Depot until 1996.

Patricia Morrison—Age: 44

Ms. Morrison joined our Company in January 2002 as
Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer. From
June 2000 to December 2001, she was Vice President—
Information Systems & Chief Information Officer of Quaker
Oats Company. From April 1997 to June 2000, she was
employed by the General Electric Company as Chief
Information Officer of GE Industrial Systems (1998 to 2000)
and Chief Information Officer, GE Electrical Distribution &
Control (1997 to 1998). Prior to her employment at GE,
Ms. Morrison was employed by Procter & Gamble Company
from 1981 to 1997, in various positions, including Manager—
Management Systems for the Cosmetics & Fragrance Division
(1995 to 1997); Associate Director—Center for Excellence
(1993 to 1995) and Associate Director, U.S. Finance &
Accounting Systems (1992 to 1993).

James A. Walker—Age: 47

Mr. Walker has been Senior Vice President, Finance and
Controller since October 2001. Mr. Walker joined Office
Depot in Feébruary 1999 as Vice President-Finance, Retail
Stores Division until October 2001. From May 1996 until
February 1999, when he joined Office Depot, Mr. Walker
served as Vice President, Financial Planning for Advantica
Restaurants, Inc. (operator of Denny’s® Restaurants); from
May 1991 until May 1996, Mr. Walker was employed by
PepsiCo, Inc. in various capacities in the finance and strategic
planning areas.

Information with respect to our directors is incorporated
herein by reference to the information under the caption
“Election of Directors/Biographical Information of the
Candidates” in the Proxy Statement for our 2004 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
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Item 2. Properties.

As of January 24, 2004, we operate 867 office supply stores in 44 states and the District of Columbia, 33 office supply stores
‘in five Canadian provinces and 64 office supply stores (excluding our participation under licensing and joint venture agreements)
in three countries outside of the United States and Canada. We also operate 22 CSCs in 18 U.S. states and 25 CSCs in 10 countries
outside of the United States. The following table sets forth the locations of these facilities. ‘

STORES

State/Country # State/Country # State/Country #
UNITED STATES: Michigan ................. 22 Utah, ............. ... ... 4
Alabama ................. 15 Minnesota . ............... 10 Virginia . .. .......... e 21
Alaska........ ... .. ... 2 Mississippi. ..o oo 13 Washington . .............. 30
Arizona .................. 3 Missouri.................. - 20 West Virginia. . ............ 3
Arkansas ................. 10 Montana. . ................ 2 Wisconsin . ............... 11
California. . ............... 135 Nebraska ................. 5 Wyoming. ................ 1
C(:)lOl'adO ................. 30 Nevada. .................. 13 TOTAL UNITED STATES ... 867

District of Columbia ........ 2 NewlJersey................ 5

Delaware . ................ 1 New Mexico .............. 5 CANADA

Florida................... 92 NewYork................. 13 Alberta . . ..o 8
Georgia ............ ... 40 North Carolina............. 26 British Columbia . . . . .. .. ... 9
Hawaii................... 3 North Dakota.............. 1 Manitoba . . . .. 3
Idaho.................... 5 Ohio..................... 11 Ontario . . ... ... .. 11
Minois . .................. 36 Oklahoma ................ 14 Saskatchewan. . .. . .. ... ... )

Indiana. .................. 17 Oregon. .................. 15
Iowa.............. . ... 3 Pennsylvania . ............. 9 TOTAL CANADA. ... 33

Kansas................... 8 South Carolina. ............ 17
Kentucky ......... e 14 South Dakota.............. 1 FRANCE................. 40
Louisiana. ................ 28 Tennessee. . ......covovvvn... 23 JAPAN ..o 18
Maryland . ... ............. 14 TeXaS. .oovvneeea. 114 SPAIN................ 6
' ‘ TOTAL OUTSIDE ......... 64
State/Country : # State/Country # State/Country #
UNITED STATES: Maryland .................. 1 BELGIUM ................. 1
Arizona.................... 1 Massachusetts. . ............. 1 FRANCE .................. 4
California. . ................ 3 Michigan .................. 1 GERMANY ................ 4
Colorado................... 1 Minnesota. . ................ 1 THE NETHERLANDS. ....... 2
Connecticut. . ............... 1 Newlersey . ................ 1 IRELAND ................. 2
Florida .................... 2 North Carolina . . ............ 1 ITALY ........ .. ..o, 3
Georgia. ................... 1 Ohio...................... 1 JAPAN . ............ ... ... 1
Iinois . ................... 1 Texas ...........coi... 2 SPAIN .................... 2
Louisiana .. ................ 1 Utah .. ... ... L 1 SWITZERLAND ............ 1
Washington. . .......~....... 1 UNITED KINGDOM . . ... .... 5

TOTAL UNITED STATES . . ... 22 TOTAL OUTSIDE

THE UNITED STATES ..... 25

Most of our facilities are leased or subleased, with lease
terms (excluding renewal options) expiring in various years
through 2029, except for 74 facilities, including certain corpo-
rate office buildings and our systems data center, which we
own. Our owned facilities are located in 15 states, primarily in
Florida, Texas and California; three Canadian provinces; the
United Kingdom; the Netherlands; and France.
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Our corporate offices in Delray Beach, Florida consist
of approximately 575,000 square feet in three adjacent
buildings—two of which are owned and one is leased. We also
own a corporate office building in Torrance, California, which
is approximately 180,000 square feet in size, and a systems
data center in Charlotte, North Carolina which. is approxi-
mately 53,000 square feet in size.



Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved in litigation arising in the normal course
of our business. While from time to time claims are asserted
that make demands for large sums of money, including ones

asserted in the form of class action suits, we do not believe

that any of these matters, either individually or in the aggre-
gate, will materially affect our financial position or the results
of our operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of
Security Holders.

None.
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PART 11

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Stock and
Related Security Holder Matters.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “ODP” As of
February 13, 2004, there were 3,723 holders of record of our

" common stock. The last reported sale price of the common

stock on the NYSE on February 13, 2004 was $17.30.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated,
the high and low sale prices of our common stock, as quoted
on the NYSE Composite Tape.. These prices do not include
retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commission.

High Low

2003

First Quarter . . . .............. $15.390 $10.280
Second Quarter . . ............. 15.270 11.150
Third Quarter .. .............. 18.500 14.190
Fourth Quarter. .. ............. 16.990 13.600
2002

FirstQuarter . . ............... $20.400 $15.500
Second Quarter .. .. ........... 21.960 15.460
Third Quarter ................ 17.000 10.600
Fourth Quarter. . .. ............ 18.090 10.700

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our
common stock. While we regularly assess our dividend policy,
we have no current plans to declare a dividend. Earnings and
other cash resources will continue to be used in the expansion
of our business.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth the consolidated historical selected financial data of the Company:

(In thousands, except per share

amounts and statistical data) 2003 . 2002 2001 (1) 2000 (1) @) 1999 (1)
Statements of Earnings Data:
Sales (2) ... . i $12,358,566  $11,356,633  $11,082,112  $11,495,493 - $10,197,373
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs. ... ... 8,484,420 8,022,663 7,940,067 8,435,928 7,405,870
Grossprofit .. .......... ..o, 3,874,146 3,333,970 3,142,045 3,059,565 2,791,503
Store and warehouse operating and
selling expenses (2) . ................... 2,802,240 2,338,128 2,331,013 2,498,146 2,040,216
General and administrative expenses (2) ... ... 578,840 486,279 . 445,538 447,693 322,172
Other operating expenses. ... .............. 22,809 9,855 12,125 6,733 16,524
Operating profit .. ................... 470,257 499,708 353,369 106,993 412,591
Interest inCOME . .. o oo vv i i i ettt 14,196 18,509 12,980 11,345 30,043
INterest XPense . . oo v vv e (54,805) (46,195) (43,339) (32,683) (24,852)
Miscellaneous income (expense), net. ........ 15,392 7,183 (9,057) 4,632 (3,514

Earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes and cumulative effect

of accounting change . .. ................ 445,040 479,205 313,953 90,287 414,268
Incometaxes .. ... 143,016 167,722 112,296 41,972 135,875
Earnings from continuing operations before :

cumulative effect of accounting change . . . .. 302,024 311,483 201,657 48,315 258,393
Discontinued operations, net . .............. 176 (775) (614) 1,017 (755)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net . . . (25,905) — — — —

‘Netearnings ............ .. ... .......... $ 276,295 $ 310,708 $ 201,043 $ 49332 § 257,638

Earnings per share from continuing operations
before cumulative effect of accounting change:

Basic............ o il $ 098 $ 102§ 068 § 016 3 0.72
Diluted. . ........ .. ... oL, 0.96 0.98 0.66 0.16 0.69
Cumulative effect of accounting change:
Basic......... . (0.08) — — — —
Diluted. .. .......... ... ... . ... ... (0.08) — — — —
Net earnings pershare: ...................
Basic.........o i $ 089 § 101§ 067 % 016 § 0.71
Diluted. . ... 0.88 0.98 0.66 0.16 0.69

Statistical Data:
Facilities open at end of period:
United States and Canada:

Office supply stores . .. ............... 900 867 859. 888 825
Customer service centers . .. ........... 22 24 24 25 30
Callcenters .............. v, 13 13 13 7 7
International (3):
Office supply stores . . ................ 64 50 39 35 32
Customer servicecenters . . ............ 25 15 14 12 12
Callcenters . ....................... - 31 13 11 11 11
Balance Sheet Data: '
Working capital .. ....................... $ 1,299475 $ 1,217,706 $ 721,867 $ 790,752 $ 687,007
Totalassets . ....... ... o, 6,145,242 4,765,812 4,331,643 4,196,334 4,276,183
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities. . . 829,302 411,970 317,552 598,499 321,099
Common stockholders” equity . ............. 2,794,087 2.297.112 1,848,438 1,601,251 1,907,720

(1) As applicable, amounts have been adjusted to reflect the Australian business as discontinued operations.

(2) Certain amounts in prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. Among other
items, we have classified facility closure costs from a separate line into store and warehouse operating and selling expenses.

(3) Company-owned facilities in our International Division.

(4) Includes 53 weeks in accordance with our 52-53 week reporting convention.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Results of Operations
General

Office Depot, Inc., together with our subsidiaries, (“Office
Depot” or the “Company”) is a global supplier of office prod-
ucts and services. We sell to consumers and businesses of all
sizes through our three business segments: North American
Retail Division, Business Services Group, and International
Division. Our management views our overall business in
the context of the performances of these three principal busi-
ness segments,

These segments include multiple sales channels consisting
of office supply stores, a contract sales force, Internet sites,
and catalog and call centers, all supported by our crossdock,
warehouse and delivery operations. Each of these segments is
described in more detail in Item 1, Business Section, of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We operate on a 52- or
53-week fiscal year ending on the last Saturday in December.
All years in the discussion below contained 52 weeks.

In June 2003, we expanded our contract business in
Europe with our acquisition of Guilbert, a leading contract
stationer. Guilbert sells to small, medium and large companies
in France, the UK, Germany, Italy, Ireland, the Netherlands,
Spain, Belgium and Portugal through a direct sales force and

‘through e-commerce and other Internet solutions, under the

Guilbert® and NiceDay™ brand names. The results of Guilbert
are included in our International Division since the date of
acquisition.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A™) is intended
to provide information to assist you in better understanding
our business. We recommend that you read this MD&A in
conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and
the Notes to those statements. This MD&A contains signifi-
cant amounts of forward-looking information, and is qualified
by our Cautionary Statements regarding forward-looking
information. You will find Cautionary Statements throughout
this MD&A; however, most of them can be found in a separate
section immediately following this MD&A. Without limitation,
wherever in this Annual Report we use the words “believe,”
“estimate,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “continue,”
“project,” “should,” and similar expressions, we are identifying
forward-looking statements, and our Cautionary Statements
apply to these terms and expressions and the text in which
such terms and expressions are used. The purposes of this
MD&A include providing te the reader the perspectives of
management as we view the business, and providing to you
insights that are not necessarily obvious or clear from reading
our financial statements (including footnotes) alone.

EET

Overall
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Sales........ ... .. i $12,358.6  100.0% $11,356.6 100.0% $11,082.1 100.0%
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs . . 8,484.5 68.7% 8,022.7 70.6% 7,940.1 71.6%
Grossprofit . ................... 3,874.1 31.3% 3,333.9 29.4% 3,142.0 28.4%

Store and warehouse operating and

selling expenses. . ................. 2,802.2 22.7% 2,338.1 20.6% 2,331.0 21.1%
Segment operating profit.............. 1,071.9 8.6% 995.8 8.8% 811.0 7.3%
General and administrative expenses . ... . . 578.8 4.7% 486.3 4.3% 4455 4.0%
Other operating expenses. . .. .......... 22.8 0.1% 9.8 0.1% 12.1 0.1%
Operating profit. . ................... $ 4703 3.8% $ 4997 4.4% $ 3534 3.2%

Our overall sales increased 9% in 2003 after an increase
of 2% in 2002. The increase in sales in both periods is attribut-
able to increased sales from our International Division and our
Business Services Group, partially offset by declining sales in
our North American Retail Division. Positively impacting
sales in our International Division during 2003 was our acqui-
sition of Guilbert in June, which contributed additional sales of
$808.8 million, the impact of changes to foreign currency
rates, and the growth in our existing contract business. Our
management believes that the acquisition of Guilbert has
added significantly to our capability and future business
prospects in Europe. Our BSG segment experienced increased
sales as a result of expanding our contract business, partially
offset by weaker catalog sales. Worldwide e-commerce sales
have improved in all periods, increasing to $2.6 billion in
2003 from $2.1 billion in 2002.
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Comparable sales measure the sales from operations or
stores that have been in existence or open for one year or more
and is used throughout the MD&A to understand the relative
trends in our business. From time to time we regroup product
categories to conform more closely to the way that we manage
the business. Accordingly, certain comparable sales product
amounts reported in prior periods have been adjusted to con-
form to current year classification. From a comparable sales
perspective, total Company sales declined 2% in 2003 and
were flat in 2002, primarily as a result of negative comparable
sales in our North American Retail Division of -4% and -2%,
respectively. The decline in comparable sales in the North
American Retail Division primarily reflects a decrease in
sales of our technology and furniture products.
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At the start of fiscal year 2003, we adopted new account-
ing guidance, Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITE”) Issue
No. 02-16, Accounting by a Reseller for Cash Consideration
Received from a Vendor. We now classify amounts earned
under cooperative advertising arrangements as a credit to cost
of goods sold. Previously, these amounts were classified as a
reduction of advertising expense. Additionally, a portion of
these amounts is deferred in inventory and reduces the cost of
products as they are sold, similar to our current practice for
vendor rebate arrangements.

To record the initial amount of cooperative advertising
deferred in inventory at the beginning of the year, we recorded
an after-tax cumulative effect adjustment of $25.9 million, or
$0.08 per share. The impact on continuing operations of
applying this method in 2003 decreased cost of goods sold by
$240.4 million and increased advertising expense by $234.2
million. Operating profit increased by $6.2 million, net earn-
ings by $4.3 million and diluted earnings per share by $0.01.
Prior periods have not been restated. However, the estimated
impact of applying this method in 2002 would have been to
decrease the cost of goods sold by $241.3 million and increase
advertising expense by $242.7 million. Pro forma operating
profit would have decreased by $1.4 million, net earnings by
$1.0 million and would have had no impact on diluted earnings
per share.

Store and warehouse operating and selling expenses con-
sist of personnel costs, maintenance and other facility costs,
advertising expenses, delivery and transportation costs, credit
card and bank charges and certain other operating and selling
costs. Freight costs incurred to bring merchandise to stores
and warehouses are included as a component of inventory and
cost of goods sold. Warehouse costs and freight costs incurred
to ship merchandise primarily relate to our delivery customers,
are included in store and warehouse expenses. Because of our
multi-channel operations, and because some retail companies
include shipping, handling and other distribution costs as a
component of cost of goods sold, their measure of gross profit
may not be comparable to ours. However, this is how our
management has elected to view our business.

Reflecting the impact of EITF 02-16 on all periods, total
Company store and warehouse operating and selling expenses
as a percentage of sales remained constant in 2003 compared
to 2002 and decreased slightly in 2002 compared to 2001. The
increase in 2003 for North American Retail reflects higher
lease termination and facility costs, as well as a lower sales
base. The decrease in BSG primarily reflects operating effi-
ciencies. Operating and selling expenses as a percentage of
sales for the International Division decreased in 2003 reflecting
the purchase of Guilbert’s customer base with its higher mix
of large customers, which requires less marketing and related
costs, as well as the continued leveraging of certain fixed
operating expenses. These factors are addressed in greater
detail in the segment discussions below.
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Additionally, store and warehouse operating and selling
expenses in 2002 include costs associated with the Company’s
decision to settle potential class action litigation in the state of
California involving wage and hour claims by some of our
store managers and assistant managers, and in 2001, a legal
settlement, partially offset by a gain on the sale of a warehouse
in the United Kingdom.

1n 2003 we incurred $17.7 million of non-capitalizable
integration costs in connection with our acquisition of Guilbert.
These costs primarily relate to professional consultants used to
assist with integration management, communications and
human resource aspects of the acquisition and are included in
total company operating expenses, but are not included in
determining segment profitability.

Under accounting rules that became effective at the start
of 2002, companies no longer amortize goodwill, but instead
test recorded amounts annually for impairment. Our testing
indicated no goodwill impairment. Amortization of goodwill
totaled $5.2 million in 2001.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) is
considering a rule change that would require companies to
expense the fair value of stock options issued. The Company
currently provides stock options to a large number of its
employees. Should the FASB’s proposal be adopted, and the
Company continues with its current stock option plan, operat-
ing expenses could increase significantly. See Note A in Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discus-
sion of stock-based compensation.

In the Overall table above, we have provided a subtotal
for segment operating profit. We currently use this measure of
performance to assess the operations of each business unit,
and we believe it is useful to investors, because it reflects the
sales and operating expenses directly related to the segment’s
activities. Our general and administrative expenses primarily
consist of personnel and related costs associated with support
functions. Because these functions typically support all seg-
ments of our business, we have historically not considered
these costs in determining our segment profitability. However,
with the growth in our e-commerce and the acquisition of
Guilbert, our general and administrative costs have increased
substantially in recent years. Therefore, beginning in 2004, we
plan to reclassify certain amounts previously classified as gen-
eral and administrative expenses into operating and selling
expenses. We also plan to begin allocating costs where appro-
priate to determine segment profitability. Other companies
may charge more or less general and administrative costs to
their segments and our presentation therefore may not be
comparable to similarly titled measurements used by other
entities. Our measure of segment operating profit should not
be considered as an alternative to operating income or net earn-
ings determined in accordance with accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).
The table above reconciles segment operating profit to consol-
idated operating profit determined in accordance with GAAP.



North American Retail Division

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Sales .. ... $5,650.1 * 100.0% $5,804.4 100.0% $5,842.6  100.0%
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs ...  4,162.3 73.7% 4,351.2 75.0% 4,479.1 76.7%
Gross profit ........... ... ...... 1,487.8 26.3% 1,453.2 25.0% 1,363.5 23.3%
Store and warehouse operating and ’
selling expenses . .. ................. 1,173.8 20.8% 1,033.5 17.8% 1,055.2 18.0%
Segment operating profit . .............. $ 314.0 5.5% § 4197 72% $ 3083 5.3%

Sales in our North American Retail Division decreased
3% in 2003 and 1% in 2002. Comparable sales in 2003 from
the 870 stores that were open for more than one year were
down 4%. In 2002, comparable sales in the 848 stores that
were open for at least one year were down 2%. The decrease
in both years reflects both lower average transaction size and
fewer comparable transactions. Additionally, our 2003 holiday
sales were below expectations. We believe our sales in 2002
and part of 2003 were negatively impacted by the overall soft
U.S. economy at that time. In 2004, we expect to drive traffic
and sales in our retail channel as we remodel our existing
stores, identify and expand alternative store formats, and
introduce new merchandising initiatives. As a result of these
activities, comparable sales in the opening weeks of 2004

have turned positive.

The trends in product mix experienced in 2001 continued
throughout 2002 and 2003, as overall sales shifted away from
lower margin technology products in both periods. Comparable
sales of lower margin technology products declined 11%
in 2003 and 7% in 2002; and comparable sales of business
furniture declined 4% in 2003 and 6% in 2002. Sales of core
supplies and paper were relatively flat in both periods. Sales
of machine supplies, which include ink and toner, were up 4%
in 2003, aided in part by our ink and toner initiatives in the
second half of the year. However, with the more open presen-
tation of ink and toner in our stores, we experienced increased
shrink levels in 2003. Gross margins in 2003 were also nega-
tively impacted by increased clearance activity as we launched
several new retail initiatives.

Adopting EITF 02-16 reduced the cost of goods sold for
2003 by $135.3 million and increased advertising expense by
$132.5 million. Had this change been effective for 2002, the
pro forma impact would have decreased cost of goods sold by
$150.9 million and increased advertising expense by $151.5
million. Cooperative advertising credits for 2001 totaled
$167.1 million.

Reflecting the impact of EITF 02-16 on all periods, total
operating and selling expenses in our North American Retail
Division increased in 2003 after a decrease in 2002. Overall
personnel-related costs, which represent the largest compo-
nent of costs in this caption, decreased in both 2003 and 2002.
Increases in wage rates and in certain employee benefit costs
were more than offset by streamlining certain operational
processes which reduced the amount of labor required to
operate the stores and by reduced incentive costs in 2003
because the segment did not meet overall performance expec-
tations. Lower sales in both periods contributed to lower
credit card fees. Facility and facility maintenance expense
increased in 2003 as we added stores and made changes to our
store layout to handle various initiatives. Operating and selling
expenses in 2002 also include $14.4 million to settle potential
class action litigation in the state of California relating to cer-
tain employee classifications as exempt from overtime.

During 2001, we closed 73 stores, 70 of which were iden-
tified as part of our comprehensive business review completed
in late 2000. We also identified ten additional under-performing
stores that were closed in 2002. Because of continued uncer-
tainty relating to sublease assumptions for properties previously
closed, the Company conducted a comprehensive review of its
closed store commitments during the fourth quarter of 2003
and recorded a $23.9 million charge to terminate some exist-
ing commitments and adjust the remaining commitments to
current market values. We recorded similar charges in 2002
and 2001 for $6.7 million and $8.5 million, respectively.
Additionally, charges for asset impairments for under-
performing stores were $2.7 million, $5.4 million, and $35.2
million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. We regularly
review actual and projected store performance and record any
asset impairment charges as a component of store and ware-
house operating expenses.

BSG
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Sales ... $3,965.3  100.0% $3,913.9 100.0% $3,763.0  100.0%
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs ...  2,671.2 67.4% 2,684.7 68.6% 2,574.0 68.4%
Grossprofit . ........... .. ... ... 1,294.1 32.6% 1,229.2 31.4% 1,189.0 31.6%
Operating and selling expenses .......... 906.2 22.9% 864.6 22.1% 897.8 23.9%
Segment operatirig profit . .............. $ 387.9 9.7 % $ 3646 9.3% $ 2912 7.7%
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Sales in our BSG segment increased 1% in 2003 and 4%
in 2002. Sales in our contract channel increased in both 2003
and 2002. The increase in 2003 reflects growth in most
markets, with the large customer segment growing at faster
rates than the other customer segments. Contract sales in the
eastern U.S. have displayed a positive trend throughout
2003 and 2002 and in the western U.S. since mid-2002. The
catalog channel decreased in both 2003 and 2002. Domestic
e-commerce sales grew by 15% during the 2003 and 33% in
2002. We expect continued growth in our e-commerce sales
during 2004 as we allocate additional resources to that chan-
nel. Comparable sales of office supplies and machine supplies,
the largest category in BSG’s sales mix, increased 3% in both
2003 and 2002. Office furniture sales declined 3% in 2003
and 8% in 2002, while technology sales decreased 1% in 2003
following an increase of 5% in 2002.

Adopting EITF 02-16 reduced the cost of goods sold for
2003 by $63.7 million and increased advertising expense by
$60.0 million. Had this change been effective for 2002, the
pro forma impact would have decreased cost of goods sold by
$66.1 million and increased advertising expense by $66.6 mil-
lion.. Cooperative advertising credits during 2001 totaled
$83.9 million.

Reflecting the impact of EITF 02-16 on all periods, gross
profit decreased in 2003 and 2002, reflecting the impact of
increased sales to larger accounts that tend to have lower
margin rates and the increasing proportion of 4Sure.com
sales, which operates primarily in the lower margin technology
business. During 2001, gross margin was higher following the
introduction of volume-dependent pricing arrangements. We
earn higher gross profit percentages in our BSG than in our retail
operations principally because of lower occupancy costs and a
sales mix that includes relatively fewer technology products.

Personnel, facility and delivery expenses are the largest
components of our BSG operating expenses. Reflecting the
impact of EITF 02-16 on all periods, operating and selling
expenses as a percentage of sales decreased in both 2003 and
2002 because of continued efforts to reduce costs and increase
productivity and efficiency. In 2003, we modified our delivery
model in certain markets, resulting in lower personnel costs
partially offset by increased third-party delivery costs follow-
ing our decision to outsource certain delivery functions in
some of our markets. In 2002, call center consolidation con-
tributed to lower personnel-related costs, and the introduction
of new technologies streamlined operations and reduced
delivery costs by 13%.

International Division

(Dollars in millions) - 2003 2002 2001

Sales ... $2,746.5 100.0% $1.641.4 100.0% $1,480.1 100.0%

Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs . .. 1,652.7 60.2 % 988.1 60.2% 888.4 60.0%
Grossprofit ........ .. ... ... ... ... 1,093.8 39.8% 653.3 39.8% 591.7 40.0%

Operating and selling expenses .......... 723.1 26.3% 441.2 26.9% 3795 - 257%

Segment operating profit . .............. $ 3707 13.5% $ 2121 12.9% $ 2122 14.3%

Sales in our International Division grew 67% in 2003 and
11% in 2002. In local currencies, sales grew 52% in 2003 and
6% in 2002. Our purchase of Guilbert in June 2003 con-
tributed sales of $808.8 million. Excluding the impact of
exchange rates and the Guilbert acquisition, sales in both
2003 and 2002 reflect growth in most of our international
operations with the principal exceptions of Germany and
Japan, where local economic conditions were weak during
2002 and most of 2003.

In addition to our acquisition of Guilbert, during 2003 we
further expanded our existing European operations by starting
contract operations in Germany and launching our retail busi-
* ness into Spain, where we opened six retail stores. In 2003,
we also opened three stores in France and a net of five stores
in Japan. In 2002, we added catalog operations in three coun-
tries; increased the size of our contract sales force in four
countries; initiated contract sales in Italy; added a net of seven
new stores in France; made several changes to our Japanese
operation and launched nine new web sites. We expect to con-
tinue to grow. all sales channels in our European operations.

Adopting EITF 02-16 reduced the cost of goods sold for
2003 by $41.4 million and increased advertising expense by
$41.7 million. Had this change been effective for 2002, the
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pro forma impact would have decreased cost of goods sold by
$24.3 million and increased advertising expense by $24.6 mil-
lion. Cooperative advertising credits during 2001 totaled
$20.9 million,

Reflecting the impact of EITF 02-16 on all periods, gross

profit as a percentage of sales decreased in both 2003 and

2002, reflecting a higher mix of lower margin contract sales,
growth in our existing contract business, and to a lesser
extent, the increased distribution of prospecting catalogs
(which feature lower priced products) in Europe to support
growth into new markets. In 2003, the decrease was partially
offset by better buying and increased purchasing discounts
following the Company’s recent Guilbert acquisition.

Operating and selling expenses as a percentage of sales
are higher in our International Division than in our other
segments primarily because we use an extensive marketing
program to drive sales in existing markets, particularly in our
catalog business where we use so-called prospecting catalogs
with lower-priced products intended to induce customers to
place first-time orders. We also had start-up activities in sev-
eral new markets. Similar to BSG, personnel and delivery
expenses are significant components of the International
Division’s operating and selling expenses. During 2003 and



2002, personnel, facility-related, advertising, and delivery
expenses increased in total dollars because of the expansion of
our business in Europe. However, in 2003 operating and sell-
ing expenses as a percentage of sales decreased, primarily as a
result of the purchase of Guilbert’s large account customer
base, which requires less marketing and related costs. Also
“favorably impacting operating and selling expenses was the
continued leverage of certain fixed operating expenses. As our
operations grow in a particular market, fixed operating
expenses decline relative to sales. For example, advertising
costs in the form of prospecting and delivery costs, which are
affected by the density of the delivery areas, decline as a per-
centage of sales as the market grows. Fiscal 2001 includes a
- gain of $10.2 million from the sale of a warehouse in London.

As noted above, sales in local currencies have substantially
increased in recent years. For U.S. reporting, these sales are
_translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange rates experi-
enced during the year. International Division sales were posi-
tively impacted by foreign exchange rates in 2003 by $253.2
million and $67.0 million in 2002. International Division seg-
ment operating profit also benefited from foreign exchange
rates by $32.7 million during 2003 and $9.0 million in 2002.
Future volatility in exchange rates could affect translated sales
and operating profit of our International operations.

In January 2003, we sold our operations in Australia with
no significant impact on earnings. The Australian operations
have been accounted for as discontinued operations and all
periods presented have been restated. In addition to Europe,
we continue to operate in Japan. We have focused our
Japanese business on a single brand offering and streamlined
operations; however, sales trends in Japan have been negative
for each of the periods presented.

Corporate and Other
Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses primarily reflect pre-opening
expenses and, in 2003, costs related to the integration of
Guilbert.

Pre-opening expenses consist of personnel, property and
advertising expenses incurred in opening or relocating stores
and CSCs. We typically incur pre-opening expenses during a
six-week period prior to a store opening. Because we expense
these items as they are incurred, the amount of pre-opening
expenses each year is generally proportional to the number of
new stores and CSCs opened during the period. Total
Company store openings and relocations were 64 in 2003, 42
in 2002 and 55 in 2001. We opened 3 CSCs in 2002 and 4 in
2001. For 2003, our pre-opening expenses were approximately
$150,000 per domestic office supply store and $75,000 per
international office supply store. Our cost to open a new CSC
varies significantly with the size and location of the facility.
Although no CSCs were opened in 2003, we estimate costs to
open a domestic or international CSC to be approximately
$1.0 million per facility.
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In 2003, we incurred approximately $17.7 million of non-
capitalizable integration costs in connection with our acquisi-
tion of Guilbert in June 2003. These costs primarily relate to
professional consulting fees for assistance with integration,
management, internal communications plans, and human
resource aspects of the acquisition. '

General and Administrative Expenses

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
General and

administrative

expenses. ... ...... $578,840 $486,279  $445,538
Percentage of sales. . . . 4.7% 4.3% 4.0%

Our general and administrative expenses consist prima-
rily of personnel-related costs associated with support func-
tions. Because these functions typically support all segments
of our business, we have historically not considered these
costs in determining our segment profitability. However, with
the growth in our e-commerce and the acquisition of Guilbert,
our general and administrative costs have increased substan-
tially in recent years. Therefore, beginning in 2004, we plan to
reclassify certain amounts previously classified as general and
administrative expenses into operating and selling expenses.
We also plan to begin allocating costs where appropriate to
determine segment profitability.

The increase in 2003 reflects the inclusion of Guilbert
since its acquisition in June, the impact of exchange rates
on other international expenses, and costs relating to-
finance, human resources and merchandising software appli-
cations. Employee-related costs declined in 2003 from lower
performance-based compensation, partially offset by higher
costs for healthcare and other employee benefits. The increase
in 2002 was attributable to additional professional fees to sup-
port operational process improvements, additional benefits
costs, and costs incurred to support expansion activities that
were not chargeable to segment operations.

The comments above and in the Overall section of MD&A
describe how our management has historically determined our
general and administrative expenses. Other companies may
charge more or less of their general and administrative costs to
their segments, and their results may not be comparable to ours.

Other Income and Expense

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Interest income. . . . . .. $14,196 $18,509 $ 12,980
Interest expense . ... .. (54,805) (46,195)  (43,339)
Miscellaneous income

(expense), net ..... 15,392 7,183 (9,057)

Average cash balances decreased slightly during 2003 after
a substantial increase in 2002; however, interest rates earned on
cash investments declined during the same time periods.

In August 2003 we issued $400 million of senior notes
that mature in 2013. The increase in interest expense in 2003
reflects the impact of a partial year of interest relating to this
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additional borrowing. Similarly, 2002 reflects the impact of a
full year of interest on the $250 million of senior subordinated.
notes issued in July 2001 and which mature in 2008. The
effective interest rate on the $400 million notes has been
reduced by the amortization of proceeds from an interest rate
lock of $16.6 million. Additionally, the effective interest rate
on the $250 million notes has been reduced by the amortiza-
tion of $18.8 million from the September 2002 termination of
an interest rate swap agreement. The proceeds received from
both the interest rate lock and the interest rate swaps are being
amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the
respective notes. .

When a facility is closed before the end of an operating
lease commitment, we record a liability at the present value of
the lease obligation, offset by anticipated sublease income.
For facilities closed prior to 2003, the imputed interest cost on
the discounted obligations is recognized as interest expense
each period. The recorded obligations primarily relate to the
store closures following the 2000 business review and total
$57.6 million at December 27, 2003 and $60.4 million at
December 28, 2002.

Our net miscellaneous income (expense) consists of equity
in the earnings of our joint venture investments, royalty and
franchise income that we generate from licensing and fran-
chise agreements, and realized gains and impairments of other
investments. All of our equity investments involve operations
outside of the United States and Canada. In 2003, we sold or
abandoned a majority of our interest in certain Internet com-
panies, resulting in a fourth quarter charge of $8.4 million. In
2002 and 2001, we rechded charges of $3.0 million and
$14.7 million, respectively, related to the impairment of these
investments. In 2003, this category also includes recognition
of approximately $11.8 million of net foreign currency gains,
primarily resulting from holding euro investments in anticipa-
tion of purchasing Guilbert in June 2003.

Income Taxes

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Income Taxes. ....... $143,016 $167,722 $112,296
Effective income

tax rate®* .. ... ..... 32% 35% 36%

*Income Taxes as a percentage of earnings from continuing

operations before income taxes. .

The effective income tax rate has decreased over the three
years presented, reflecting an increased proportion of interna-
tional activity, which may be taxed at lower rates and, in 2003,
realization of certain state tax credits. The effective tax rate in
future periods can be affected by variability in our mix of
income and tax rates in the various jurisdictions and therefore
may be higher or lower than it has been over the past three
years. The effective tax rate is expected to be somewhat lower
at the beginning of 2004 and will be monitored and adjusted
throughout the year for the actual mix of income.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash provided by (used in) our operating, investing and
financing activities is summarized as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Operating activities. .. $ 651,740 $701,897 $ 745,941
Investing activities ...  (1,179,837)  (199,466) (233,071)
Financing activities. . . 388,851 (212,625) (85,403)

Operating and Investing Activities

We have consistently satisfied operating liquidity needs
and planned capital expenditure programs through our normal
conversion of sales to cash. Over the three years ended in
2003, we generated over $2 billion of cash flows from operat-
ing activities. From time to time, we use our revolving credit
facility for normal operating needs, primarily near the time of a
significant non-operating cash outlay. We have also accessed
the capital markets to supplement our cash position following
acquisitions and for refinancings.

Our major sources of cash from operations include: store
sales, a majority of which are generated on a cash and carry
basis, our private label credit card program, which is adminis-
tered by a third party financial services company and converted
to cash daily, and collection of our receivables. We generate
receivables from our contract and certain direct mail customers,
and as we expand this business here and abroad, we anticipate
our accounts receivable portfolio will grow. Additionally,
amounts due us under rebate and cooperative advertising
programs with our vendors comprised over 25% of total
receivables at the end of 2003 and 35% at the end of 2002.
These receivables tend to fluctuate seasonally (growing during
the second half of the year and declining during the first half),
because certain collections do not occur until specified mile-
stones are reached or the program year is complete. These
receivables, however, are typically high quality and are col-
lected quickly after reaching specified milestones. Our primary
outflow of cash from operations is the purchase of inventory,
net of customary credit arrangements with vendors, operational
costs, and the payment of current taxes.

Cash flows provided by operating activities in 2003 reflect
lower net income as compared to 2002 and changes in working
capital, more than offset by increases in non-cash charges and
depreciation. Changes in working capital reflect an increase in
inventories coupled with a decrease in accrued liabilities. The
decrease in current liabilities reflects payments on closed store
liabilities, accrued employee compensation, and settlement of
accrued expenses, as well as the timing of year-end purchases
and vendor payments. The increase in inventories reflects
lower than expected sales in our North American Retail
Division during the fourth quarter, and an intentional build up
of certain products to support the holiday season and, our new
retail merchandising initiatives. We do not believe that the
additional inventories add to our product life cycle or obsoles-
cence risk. The non-cash operating items primarily include an



increase in our deferred income tax expense, an increase in our
closed store reserve, and various asset impairments. The addi-
tional depreciation includes the impact of Guilbert assets. Cash
flows provided by operating activities in 2002 reflect higher
net income, partially offset by an increase in overall inventory
at the end of the year.

Investing activities for 2003 include approximately $919
million for payments made in connection with our acquisition
of Guilbert, net of cash acquired. The purchase price of
Guilbert is subject to an upward adjustment of euro 40 million,
payable in Office Depot common stock or cash, if Office Depot
stock closes above $20 per share for five consecutive days over
an 18-month period following the closing date of the acquisi-
tion. See Note D to our Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional discussion of the purchase transaction. Investing
activities in 2003 also include $100 million we invested in a
mutual fund that primarily invests in U.S. Government agency
obligations and cash proceeds from selling our Australian
business in January 2003.

Excluding the acquisition of Guilbert, our primary invest-
ing activity is the acquisition of capital assets. The majority of
our capital asset acquisitions relate to opening or remodeling
retail stores and warehouses, as well as internal infrastructure

upgrades. During 2003, we added or relocated a total of 48

stores and consolidated two CSCs in North America.
Internationally, we opened 16 retail stores. We currently plan
to open approximately 70 to 80 stores in our North American
Retail Division and approximately 5 to 10 stores in our
International Division during 2004. We estimate that our cash
investing requirements will be approximately $1.0 million for
each new domestic office supply store. The $1.0 million
includes approximately $0.4 million for leasehold improve-
ments, fixtures, point-of-sale terminals and other equipment,
and approximately $0.6 million for the portion of our invento-
ries that will not be financed by our vendors. In addition, our
average new office supply store requires pre-opening expenses
of approximately $0.2 million. '

In late 2003, we announced our decision to build a new
corporate support center in Boca Raton, Florida. We estimate
that the center will be completed in the early part of 2006 at a
cost in excess of $100 million, of which approximately $30
million will be paid in 2004.

Financing Activities

Our existing credit facility provides us with a maximum
of $600 million in funds, including up to $150 million for
issuance of standby and trade letters of credit. This facility is
a three-year, unsecured revolving credit agreement maturing
on April 24, 2005, though the Company may enter into a new
arrangement before this agreement expires. The agreement
provides for the availability of borrowings up to the equivalent
of $100 million in U.S. dollars, euro, British pounds or yen.
The remaining $500 million is available in U.S. dollars.
Borrowings will bear interest at a benchmark variable rate
plus a spread determined at the time of usage. For U.S. dollar
borrowings, interest can be based on the then-current London

Interbank Offering Rate (LIBOR) or U.S. prime rate, at the"
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Company’s election. For international borrowings, interest
will be based on the then-current Eurocurrency rate. We can
specify interest periods to be one, two, three or six months.
Based on our current credit ratings, borrowings would include
a spread of 0.925%. As of December 27, 2003, we had out-
standing yen borrowings equivalent to $100.1 million, which
had an effective interest rate of 0.9875%, and $72.8 million of
the Company’s total $81.5 million outstanding letters of credit
were under this agreement. The agreement contains restrictive
covenants relating to various financial statement ratios. We are
in compliance with all such covenants.

In August 2003, the Company completed an offering of
$400 million senior notes due August 2013. The notes are not
callable and bear interest at the rate of 6.25% per year, to be
paid on February 15 and August 15 of each year. The Notes
contain provisions that, in certain circumstances, place financial
restrictions or limitations on the Company. Simultaneous with
completing the offering, the Company liquidated a treasury
rate lock. The proceeds on the treasury rate lock will be amor-
tized over the term of the notes, reducing the effective interest
rate to the Company for the Notes to 5.87%. Also, in January
2004, we entered into a fixed-for-variable interest rate swap
with a notional amount of $100 million.

In July 2001, we issued $250 million of seven year, non-
callable, senior subordinated notes due on July 15, 2008. The
notes contain provisions that, in certain circumstances, place
financial restrictions or limitations on our Company. The notes
have a coupon interest rate of 10.00%, payable semi-annually
on January 15 and July 15. In August 2001, we entered into
LIBOR-based variable rate swap agreements with notional
amounts aggregating $250 million. In September 2002, we ter-
minated the swap agreements and received a payment of $18.8
million plus accrued interest receivable. The proceeds from
settlement are being amortized as a partial offset to interest
expense over the remaining life of the notes, lowering the
effective interest rate on these borrowings to 8.7%.

In October 2003, our Board of Directors authorized the
Company to repurchase up to $50 million of its common
stock. The repurchased shares are to be added to the Company’s
treasury shares and will effectively offset a portion of the

" Company’s near-term requirements for its stock option and

other benefit plans. Under this program, we purchased approx-
imately 3.2 million shares of our stock during 2003 at a total
cost of $50.1 million. A similar program was authorized in
late 2001, and'dun'ng 2002, we purchased 2.9 million shares
of our stock at a total cost of $45.9 million and 252,000 shares
during 2001 at a cost of $4.2 million.

During 2002, we exercised our option and redeemed all of
the outstanding shares of convertible subordinated notes, origi-
nally issued in 1992 and 1993. The shares were redeemed at
original issue price plus accrued interest, totaling $243 million.

Our 2001 net cash used in financing activities consisted
mainly of long- and short-term debt payments of $400.5 mil-
lion to pay off borrowings under our domestic credit facility
that accumulated during the fourth quarter of 2000, mainly to
support the repurchase of convertible subordinated notes
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in the prior year. These payments were partially offset by
proceeds received in 2001 from the issuance of $250 million
in senior subordinated notes as discussed above. We continually
review our financing options. Although we currently anticipate
that we will finance our 2004 operations, expansion and other

activities through cash on hand, funds generated from opera-
tions, equipment leases and funds available under our credit
facilities, we will continue to consider alternative financing as
appropriate for market conditions.

The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual cash obligations at December 27, 2003, and the effect such

obligations are expected to have on liquidity and cash flow in future periods:

Contractual Obligations

Payments due by Period

(Dollars in thousands) Total Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 Years
Long-term debt obligations (1) $1,126,449 $ 50,989 $200,460 $350,000 $ 525,000
Capital lease obligations (2) 120,495 16,766 23,760 15.856 64,113
Operating leases (3) 2,216,443 371,303 584,639 433,019 827,482
Purchase obligations (4) 90,283 45,386 37,647 4,350 2,900
Other long-term liabilities (5) —_ — — —_ —
Total contractual cash obligations $3,553,670 $484.444 $846,506 $803,225 $1,419,495

M
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Long-term debt obligations include our $400 million Senior Notes, our $250 million Senior Subordinated Notes and borrow-
ings under our revolving credit facility, excluding any related discount. Amounts include contractual interest payments (using
the interest rate as of December 27, 2003 for the revolving credit facility). Approximately yen 10,760,000, or $100.1 million
at December 27, 2003, due under our revolving credit facility has been classified according to its scheduled maturity on April
24, 2005; however, we may refinance this borrowing under a future credit facility.

The present values of these obligations, are included on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Ncte G of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about our capital lease obligations.

Our operating lease obligations are described in Note I of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Purchase obligations include agreements for goods and services that are enforceable and legally binding on the Company and
that specify all significant terms. As of December 27, 2003, such obligations include television advertising, a sports facility
naming right and other sports sponsorship commitments, telephone services, and software licenses and maintenance contracts
for information technology.

Our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 27, 2003 includes $244.6 million classified as “Deferred income taxes and
other long-term liabilities.” This caption consists primarily of our net long-term deferred income taxes, the unfunded portion
of the Guilbert pension plans, and liabilities under our deferred compensation plans. These liabilities have been excluded from
the above table as the timing and/or the amount of any cash payment is uncertain. See Note H of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information regarding our deferred tax positions and Note J for a discussion of our employee

benefit plans, including the Guilbert pension plans and the deferred compensation plan.

In addition to the above, we have letters of credit totaling
$81.5 million outstanding at the end of the year, and we have
recourse for private label credit card receivables transferred to
a third party. We record a fair value estimate for losses on
these receivables in our financial statements. The total out-
standing amount transferred to a third party at the end of the
year was approximately $263.4 million.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Preparation of these statements
requires management to make judgments and estimates. Some
accounting policies have a significant impact on amounts
reported in these financial statements. A summary of signifi-
cant accounting policies can be found in Note A in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. We have also identified
certain accounting policies that we consider critical to under-
standing our business and our results of operations and we
have provided below additional information on those policies.
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Vendor arrangements—At the beginning of each year, the
Company enters into purchase arrangements with its vendors.
Generally, our product costs per unit decline as higher volumes,
of purchases are reached. Often, our vendor agreements
require the Company to pay higher per unit costs prior to
reaching a predetermined milestone, at which time the vendor
rebates the per unit differential.

We value inventories and cost of goods sold at the cost
paid to the vendor, net of any anticipated rebates. If the antic-
ipated volume of purchases is not reached, or we believe it is
not likely to be reached, cost of goods sold and the remaining
inventory balances are adjusted. The Company reviews sales
projections and related purchases against vendor program
income estimates on a regular basis and adjusts these balances
accordingly. Additionally, we receive payments from vendors
for activities that lower the cost of product shipment. Such
receipts are recognized as a reduction of our cost of goods
sold. While income is recognized throughout the year based
on judgment and estimates, the final amounts due from vendors
are generally known soon after year-end. Substantially all
vendor program receivables outstanding at the end of the year



are collected within the three months immediately following
year-end.

We also have arrangements with our vendors where we are
reimbursed for a portion of the costs of advertising a vendor’s
product. Prior to 2003, these arrangements reduced advertis-
ing expense for the period. Effective at the beginning of 2003,
such cooperative arrangements are treated in the same manner

as vendor rebates and reduce the costs of our inventory.

Advertising is a component of store and warehouse operating
and selling expenses. See Note C of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for information regarding the impact of
adopting EITF 02-16.

While agreements reached with vendors generally cover
at least one year, vendor program and cooperative advertising
arrangements can change between years. These arrangements
can be influenced by increases or reductions in inventory pur-
chases compared to company plans and programs offered by
the vendors. While there are long-standing volume and pric-
ing conventions in the office products business, such program
arrangements are regularly renegotiated, and as such, are
subject to change. If these vendor program arrangements were
materially less beneficial, we could either increase the selling
price of the vendor’s product, which may impact sales
volume, or experience a decline in profitability.”

Inventory valuation—Our selling model is predicated on
the breadth and availability of our product assortment, and our
profitability is dependent on high inventory turnover rates.
Our merchants monitor inventory on hand by location, partic-
ularly as it relates to trailing and projected sales trends. Once
a product has been flagged for discontinuance, we record a
charge to reduce the product cost to our assessment of the
lower of cost or market. This assessment is based on the quality
of the merchandise, the rate of sale, and our assessment of the
market conditions. Additional cost adjustments and sales
markdowns will be taken as considered appropriate until the
product is sold or otherwise disposed. Estimates and judg-
ments are required in determining what items to stock and at
what level, and what items to discontinue and how to value
them prior to sale.

Goodwill testing—Under accounting rules that became
effective at the beginning of fiscal 2002, goodwill is no longer
amortized but is tested at least annually for impairment.

Our testing consists of comparing the estimated fair values
of each of our reporting units to their carrying amounts,
including recorded goodwill. We estimate the fair values of
each of our reporting units by discounting their projected cash
flows. Our projections are based on the budget for the succeed-
ing year and multi-year forecasts. Developing these future cash
flow projections requires us to make significant assumptions
and estimates regarding sales, gross margin and operating
expenses of our reporting units, as well as assumed economic
conditions. Since adoption of these accounting rules, our fair
value determination has exceeded reporting unit carrying val-
ues in all cases. Should future results or economic events
cause a change in our projected cash flows, or should our
operating plans or business model change, future determinations
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of fair value may not support the carrying amount of one or
more of our reporting units, and the related goodwill would
need to be written down to an amount considered recoverable.
Any such write down would be included in operating expenses
of the business unit.

Closed store reserves and asset impairments—The
Company assesses the performance of each retail store against
historic patterns and projects future profitability on a regular
basis. These assessments are based on management’s estimates
for sales growth, gross margin attainments, and cash flow
generation. If as a result of these evaluations management
determines that a store will not achieve certain targets, the
decision may be made to close the store. At the end of
2000, for example, the Company decided to close 70 under-
performing stores following a comprehensive business review
and has closed additional stores in the following years. When
the decision is made to close a store, and the store is no longer
used for operating purposes, we recognize a liability for
remaining costs related to the property, reduced by an estimate
of any sublease income. The calculation of this liability requires
us to make assumptions and to apply judgment regarding the
remaining term on the lease (including vacancy period), antic-
ipated sublease income, and costs associated with vacating the
premises. With assistance from independent third parties, we
review these judgments and estimates and adjust the liability
accordingly. In 2003, as a result of a detailed portfolio review

“and changes in commercial real estate markets where we have

lease commitments, we increased our liability for closed stores
by $23.9 million. A similar adjustment of $6.7 million was
made in 2002. Future fluctuations in the economy and the
market place demand for commercial properties can result in
material changes in the liability, which can result in a material
charge. Costs associated with facility closures are included in
store and warehouse operating expenses.

In addition to the decision whether or not to close a store,
store assets are regularly reviewed for recoverability of their

~ carrying amounts. The recoverability assessment requires

judgment and estimates of future store generated cash flows.
New stores may require two or more years to develop a cus-
tomer base necessary to achieve expected cash flows. If the
anticipated cash flows of a store cannot support the carrying
amount of the store’s assets, an impairment charge is recorded
to operations as a component of operating and selling
expenses. To the extent that management’s estimates of future
performance are not realized, future assessments could result
in material impairment charges.

Income taxes—Income tax accounting requires manage-
ment to make estimates and apply judgments to events that
will be recognized in one period under rules that apply to
financial reporting and in a different period in the Company’s
tax returns. In particular, judgment is required when estimating
the value of future tax deductions, tax credits, and net operating
loss carryforwards (NOLs), as represented by deferred tax
assets. Some tax credits and NOLs may expire before they can
be utilized and certain deductions by jurisdiction may not
meet the recognition standard. Accordingly, to the extent that
we believe the recovery of all or a portion of a deferred tax asset

Office Depot 2003 / Form 10-K




is not likely, we establish a valuation allowance. Generally,
changes in judgments that increase or decrease these valuation
allowances impact the effective tax rate, and therefore current
earnings. With the acquisition of Guilbert, our deferred tax
assets increased, primarily from their NOLs, though virtually
all have been offset by valuation allowances because of the
uncertainty of their realization. Should we be able to realize a
tax benefit from these deferred tax assets, the benefit would
reduce goodwill, rather than affect current earnings.

In addition to judgments associated with valuation
accounts, our current effective tax provision is based on
estimates of our mix of income between domestic and interna-
tional sources that may be taxed at different rates. Changes in
valuation reserves discussed above can impact the effective
tax rate, as well as resolution of tax matters at amounts other
than what we estimated. We regularly monitor our current and
deferred tax positions and reflect our best estimates of events
that have an uncertain outcome.

Significant Trends, Developments and Uncertainties

Over the years, we have seen continued development and
growth of competitors in all segments of our business. In par-
ticular, mass merchandisers and warehouse clubs have
increased their assortment of home office merchandise,
attracting additional back-to-school customers and year-round
casual shoppers. We also face competition from other office
supply superstores that compete directly with us in numerous
markets. This competition is likely to result in increased com-
petitive pressures on pricing, product selection and services
provided. Many of these retail competitors, including dis-
counters, warehouse clubs, and even drug stores and grocery
chains, carry at least limited numbers of basic office supply
products, including ink jet and toner cartridges, printer paper

and other basic supplies. Some of them have also begun to -

feature technology products. Many of them price these offer-
ings lower than we do, but they have not shown an indication
of greatly expanding their somewhat limited product offerings
at this time. This trend towards a proliferation of retailers
offering a limited assortment of office products is a potentially

serious trend in our industry, and one that our management is
watching closely. ‘

We have also seen growth in new and innovative competi-
tors that offer office products over the Internet, featuring special
purchase incentives and one-time deals (such as close-outs).
Through our own successful Internet and business-to-business
web sites, we believe that we have positioned ourselves com-
petitively in the e-commerce arena.

Another trend in our industry has been consolidation, as
two major competitors in the superstores channel and the
copy/print channel have been (or are in the process of being)
acquired and consolidated into larger, well-capitalized corpo-
rate conglomerates. This trend towards consolidation, coupled
with acquisitions by financially strong organizations, is poten-
tially a significant trend in our industry.

Market Sensitive Risks and Positions

We have market risk exposure related to interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates. Market risk is measured as the
potential negative impact on earnings, cash flows or fair values
resulting from a hypothetical change in interest rates or foreign
currency exchange rates over the next year. We manage the
exposure to market risks at the corporate level. The portfolio of
interest-sensitive assets and liabilities is monitored and adjusted
to provide liquidity necessary to satisfy anticipated short-term
needs. The percentage of fixed and variable rate debt is man-
aged to fall within a desired range. Our risk management poli-
cies allow the use of specified financial instruments for hedging
purposes only; speculation on interest rates or foreign currency
rates is not permitted.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes on
cash equivalents and debt obligations. The impact on cash and
short-term investments held at the end of 2003 from a hypo-
thetical 10% decrease in interest rates would be a decrease in
interest income of approximately $1.4 million in 2003.

Market risk associated with our debt portfolio is summarized below:

2003 2002
Carrying Fair Risk Carrying Fair Risk
(Dollars in thousands) Value _ Value Sensitivity Value Value Sensitivity
$250 million Senior Subordinated Notes ... $259,440 $300,000 $ 5,760 $262,213 $279,625 $6,174
$400 million Senior Notes . . . ........... $398,923  $420,320 $16,016 —_ — —_
Revolving Credit Facility (1) ............ $100,102  $100,102 $ 501 $ 81415 $ 81,415 $ 407

(1) Including current maturities.

The risk sensitivity of fixed rate debt reflects the estimated
increase in fair value from a 50 basis point decrease in interest
rates, calculated on a discounted cash flow basis. The sensitiv-
ity of variable rate debt reflects the possible increase in interest
expense during the next period from a 50 basis point change
in interest rates prevailing at year-end.
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In January 2004, we entered into an interest rate swap
agreement to receive fixed and pay floating rates, converting
the equivalent of $100 million of this portfolio to variable
rate debt through 2013.



Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

We conduct business in various countries outside the United
States where the functional currency of the country is not the
U.S. dollar. Our expansion in Europe and our acquisition of
Guilbert in June 2003 has increased the proportion of our oper-
ations in countries with euro and British pound functional cur-
rencies. Accordingly, we now face a greater risk that changes in
foreign currency exchange rates will significantly affect our
consolidated financial statements. The recent weakening of the
U.S. dollar compared to other currencies, primarily the euro
and British pound, has positively impacted our results by
increasing reported sales and operating profit; however, a
strengthening of the U.S. dollar will reduce our results. While
we look for opportunities to reduce our exposure to foreign
currency fluctuation against the U.S. dollar, at this point we
have determined not to pursue hedging opportunities generally.
As of December 27, 2003, a 10% change in the applicable
foreign exchange rates would result in an increase or decrease
in our operating profit of approximately $17 million.

Although operations generally are conducted in the rele-
vant local currency, we are also subject to foreign exchange
transaction exposure when our subsidiaries transact business
in a currency other than their own functional currency. This
exposure arises primarily from a limited amount of inventory
purchases in a foreign currency. The introduction of the euro
and our decision to consolidate our European purchases has
greatly reduced these exposures. At any time during 2003, for-
eign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain inventory
exposures totaled less than $51 million.

Inflation and Seasonality

Although we cannot determine the precise effects of
inflation on our business, we do not believe inflation has a
material impact on our sales or the results of our operations.
We consider our business to be only somewhat seasonal, with
sales in our North American Retail Division and Business
Services Group slightly higher during the first and third quar-
ters of each year, and sales in our International Division
slightly higher in the first and fourth quarters.

New Accounting Standards

In November 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force
(“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF 03-10, Application of
Issue No. 02-16 by Resellers to Sales Incentives Offered to
Consumers by Manufacturers. Generally under this guidance,
vendor funded coupons that can be redeemed broadly across
companies should be considered revenue, but vendor funded
coupons that are unique to a specific retailer should be consid-
ered a reduction of the product cost sold. Most retailers,
including Office Depot, have historically recognized both
types of arrangements as revenue. Our sales for fiscal years
2003, 2002, and 2001 include approximately $12.3 million,
$4.5 million, and $7.6 million relating to Company-specific
vendor funded coupon arrangements. Beginning in 2004,
future vendor funded arrangements will be classified as a
reduction of cost of goods sold.
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In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No.
46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. FIN 46(R)
replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation by business
enterprises of variable interest entities. The provisions of FIN
46(R) are effective for the first reporting period that ends after
December .15, 2003 for variable interests in those entities
commonly referred to as special-purpose entities. Application
of the provisions of FIN 46(R) for all other entities is effective
for the first reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. We
have no interest in any entity considered a special purpose
entity; therefore, the initial adoption of FIN 46(R) did not have
an impact on the Company. We believe the adoption of the pro-
visions of FIN 46(R) in the first quarter of 2004 will have no
impact on our net earnings, cash flows or financial position.

Cautionary Statements for Purposes of the “Safe Harhor”
Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995

Cautionary Statements

In December 1995, the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 (the “Act”) was enacted by the United
States Congress. The Act, as amended, contains certain
amendments to the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. These amendments provide protection
from liability in private lawsuits for “forward-looking” state-
ments made by public companies under certain circum-
stances, provided that the public company discloses with
specificity the risk factors that may impact its future results.
We want to take advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions of
the Act. In doing so, we have disclosed these forward-looking
statements by informing you in the following specific caution-
ary statements of certain circumstances which may cause the
information in these statements not to transpire as expected.

This Annual Report contains both historical information

_ and other information that you can use to infer future perform-

ance. Examples of historical information include our annual
financial statements and the commentary on past performance
contained in our MD&A. While we have specifically identified
certain information as being forward-looking in the context of
its presentation, we caution you that, with the exception of
information that is clearly historical, all the information
contained in this Annual Report should be considered to be
“forward-looking statements” as referred to in the Act.
Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, any
time we use the words “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “expect,”
“believe,” “anticipate,” “continue” and similar expressions,
we intend to clearly express that the information deals with
possible future events and-is forward-looking in nature. Certain
information in our MD&A is clearly forward-looking in nature,
and without limiting the generality of the preceding cautionary
statements, we specifically advise you to consider our MD&A
in the light of the cautionary statements set forth herein.-
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Forward-looking information involves risks and uncertain-
ties, including certain matters that we discuss in more detail
below in this report on Form 10-K. Much of the information
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in this report that looks towards future performance of our
Company is based on various factors and important assump-
tions about future events that may or may not actually come
true. As a result, our operations and financial results in the
future could differ materially and substantially from those we
have discussed in the forward-looking statements in this
Report. In particular, the factors we discuss below could affect
our actual results and could cause our actual results in 2004
and in future years to differ materially from those expressed in
any forward-looking statement made by us or on our behalf in
this Report. We believe that the following risk factors should
be considered by persons reading any part of this Report on
Form 10-K, and we hereby expressly qualify this Report and
future filings with the SEC (unless and until we modify these
cautionary statements in a future filing) by the inclusion of
these cautionary statements regarding future performance.

Competition—Retail: We compete with a variety of retail-
ers, dealers and distributors in a highly competitive marketplace
that includes such competitors as high-volume office supply
chains (so-called “office supplies superstores”), warehouse
clubs, computer stores, contract stationers and well-established
mass merchant retailers. Even grocery and drug-store chains
have begun to carry at least limited supplies of basic office
supplies and technology items, including printer supplies such
as ink cartridges and toner cartridges. While most of these
retailers, other than the office supplies superstores, have not
yet elected to carry the broad range of SKUs that our Company
carries in its various channels of distribution, many of them
have elected to carry the most popular and fastest selling
items, often selling those limited SKUs at highly competitive
prices relative to the prices at which our Company sells its
products. Well-established mass merchant retailers have the
financial and distribution ability to compete very effectively
with us should they choose to enter more broadly into the
office superstore retail category, Internet office supply or con-
tract stationer business or substantially expand their offering
in their existing retail outlets. In addition, there is substantial
competition on the Internet from other merchants who may or
may not have a “brick and mortar” presence. There is a possi-
bility that any or all of these competitors could become more
aggressive in the future, thereby increasing the number and
breadth of our competitors, potentially having a material
adverse effect on our business and results of our operations.

Competition—Contract and Commercial: We compete
with a number of contract stationers, mail order and Internet
operators and retailers who supply office products and services
to large and small businesses, both nationally and internation-
ally. In order to achieve and maintain expected profitability
Ievels, we must continue to grow this segment of our business
while maintaining the service levels and aggressive pricing
necessary to retain existing customers. There can be no assur-
ance we will be able to continue to expand our contract and
commercial business while retaining our base of existing cus-
tomers, and any failure to do so could have a material adverse
effect on our profitability. We are also working on various
initiatives to improve margin levels in this business segment,
but there is no assurance that these initiatives will prove suc-
cessful. Some of our competitors operate only in the contract
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and/or commercial channels and therefore may be able to
focus more attention on the business services segment, thereby
providing formidable competition. Qur failure to adequately
address this segment of our business could put us at a compet-

 itive disadvantage relative to these competitors. In addition,
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we have reached maximum capacity in some of our distribu-
tion centers that serve our contract and commercial cus-
tomers, which may be expected to impede our ability to grow
our business in certain areas of our markets. The economic
problems of the past several years have had an adverse impact
on a number of our contract and commercial customers,
resulting in some cases in cutbacks i expenditures of our
existing customers for office supplies and other items we sell
to them.

Competition—Consolidation: The past year has seen
movements to consolidate certain aspects of the competitive
landscape, including the entry of new and well-funded com-
petitors in certain aspects of our business. For example, two
major common carriers of goods have either completed or are
in the process of completing acquisitions of retail outlets that
will allow them to compete directly for packaging and ship-
ping business. This is a material part of our business as well,
and presents a new competitive challenge, to us. In addition,
two of our major competitors, one in the retail segment and the
other in the contract and commercial business, have merged to
form a new and potentially more formidable competitive pres-
ence, capable of competing in a more unified manner than was
the case when these companies were separate entities.

Internet: As mentioned above, many Internet-based mer-
chandisers also compete with us. While this industry segment
has somewhat slower growth than in previous years, the
remaining competitors in the Internet-only segment are
substantially stronger and better able to compete than was
necessarily the case in the past. The stronger competitors have
established strong distribution capabilities and are formidable
competitors to the more traditional brick and mortar office
supplies superstores. This competition may increase in the
future as the companies which have survived the ‘shakeout’ in
the Internet segment continue to expand their operations. In
addition, certain manufacturers of computer hardware, soft-
ware and peripherals, including certain of our suppliers, have
expanded their own direct marketing of products, particularly
over the Internet. In addition to selling technology hardware,
some of these manufacturers have also begun to expand their
offerings to include machine supplies, such as ink and toner.
The number of these direct sellers has increased in recent
years. Even as we expand our own Internet efforts, our ability
to anticipate and adapt to the developing Internet marketplace
and the capabilities of our network infrastructure to efficiently
handle our rapidly expanding operations are of critical impor-
tance. Failure to execute well in any of these key areas could
have a material adverse effect on our future sales growth and
profitability.

Execution of Expansion Plans: We plan to open approxi-
mately 70 to 80 stores in the United States and Canada and 5
to 10 stores in our International Division during 2004. We
consider our retail expansion program to be an integral part of



our plans to achieve anticipated operating results in future
years, Circumstances outside our control, such as adverse
weather conditions affecting construction schedules, unavail-
ability of acceptable sites or materials, labor disputes and sim-
ilar issues could impact anticipated store openings. At times in
the past, our expansion activities have been hampered by less
than optimal selection of real estate locations, resulting in
some stores that have failed to meet their planned financial
results. Our future expansion plans also include opening retail
stores of different sizes (generally smaller) than our tradi-
tional superstore models and using different store formats and
layouts. We cannot determine with certainty whether these
newly sized or formatted stores will be successful. The failure
to expand by opening new stores as planned and/or the failure
“to generate the anticipated sales growth in markets where new
stores are opened (including the opening of new sizes and for-
mats of stores) could have a material adverse effect on our
future sales growth and profitability.

Cannibalization of Sales in Existing Office Depot Stores:
As we expand the number of our stores in existing markets,
pursuing a ‘fill-in’ strategy that is both offensive and defensive
in nature, sales in our existing stores may suffer from canni-
balization (as customers of our existing stores begin shopping
at our new stores). Our new stores typically require an
extended period of time to reach the sales and profitability
levels of our existing stores. Moreover, the opening of new
stores does not ensure that those stores will ever be as prof-
itable as existing stores, particularly when new stores are
~opened in highly competitive markets or markets in which
other office supply superstores may have achieved *“first mover”
advantage. Our comparable sales are affected by a number of
factors, including the opening of additional Office Depot
stores; the expansion of our contract stationer business in new
and existing markets; migration of our customers from the
retail channel to other channels, including our own Internet
sites, commercial and contract channels, competition from
other office supply chains, mass merchandisers, warehouse
clubs, computer stores, other contract stationers and Internet-
based businesses; and regional, national and international
economic conditions. In addition, our profitability would be
adversely affected if our competitors were to attempt to cap-
ture market share by reducing prices. Any or all of these
circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our
anticipated future revenue and profitability models.

Costs of Remodeling and Re-merchandising Stores: The
remodeling and re-merchandising of our stores has con-
tributed to increased store expenses, and these costs are
expected to continue impacting store expenses throughout
2004 and beyond. While a necessary aspect of maintaining a

fresh and appealing image to our customers, the expenses -

associated with such activities could result in a significant
impact on our net income in the future. In addition, there is no
guarantee that these changes will generate any of the benefits
that we have anticipated. Furthermore, our growth, through
both store openings and acquisitions, will continue to require
the expansion and upgrading of our informational, operational
and financial systems, as well as necessitate the hiring of new
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managers at the store and supervisory level. As mentioned in
our MD&A, we are also experimenting with a new retail for-
mat which we call ‘Millennium.” We have thus far opened or
remodeled 11 stores to the Millennium design. We continue to
evaluate the return on our investment in the Millennium
design, as we seek to reduce the capital and other costs asso-
ciated with either building or remodeling to the Millennium
design. If we are unsuccessful in achieving an acceptable
ROI on this design, such failure could have a material adverse
effect on our future sales growth and profitability.

Historical Fluctuations in Performance: Fluctuations in
our quarterly operating results have occurred in the past and
may occur in the future. A variety of factors could contribute
to this quarter-to-quarter variability, including new store
openings which require an outlay of pre-opening expenses,
generate lower initial profit margins and cannibalize existing
stores; timing of warehouse integration; competitors’ pricing;
changes in our product mix; fluctuations in advertising and
promotional expenses; the effects of seasonality; acquisitions
of contract stationers; competitive store openings; an increase
in activity by non-traditional resellers of office supplies,
technology or other products we sell, or other events. Such
quarterly fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on
our financial results and/or the price of our securities.

International Activity: We have operations in a number of
international markets. We intend to enter additional interna-
tional markets as attractive opportunities arise. Each entry

" could take the form of a start-up, acquisition of stock or assets

or a joint venture or licensing arrangement. We have made a
decision to accelerate our growth in Europe, increasing more
rapidly than originally planned the number of countries in
which we operate. In addition to the risks described above (in
our domestic operations), internationally we face such risks as
foreign currency fluctuations, unstable political and economic
conditions, and, because some of our foreign operations are
not wholly owned, compromised operating control in certain
countries. Recent world events have served to underscore even
further the risks and uncertainties of operating in other parts
of the world. Risks of civil unrest, war and economic crisis in
portions of the world outside North America in which we
operate represent a more significant factor than may have
been the case in the past. Also, we have experienced signifi-
cant fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates in 2003,
including large swings in the exchange rate between the dollar
and the euro during the prior year, which affected the sales
and earnings in our International Division. Our results may
continue to be affected by these fluctuations, both positive and
negative, in the future as the value of the U.S. dollar changes
against other currencies. All of these risks could have a mate-
rial adverse effect on our financial position or our results from
operations. Moreover, as we increase the relative percentage
of our business that is operated globally, we also increase the
impact these factors have on our future operating results. Our
startup operation in Japan, in particular, has proven to be disap-
pointing to date and has generated losses that have materially
affected our financial results in the past and may do so in the
future. Because of differing commercial practices, laws and
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other factors, our ability to use the Internet and electronic
commerce to substantially increase sales in international loca-
tions may not progress at the same rate as in North America.

Integration of Guilbert in Europe: In June 2003, we com-
pleted the acquisition of Guilbert, S.A., a leading contract sta-
tioner in Europe and formerly a wholly owned subsidiary of
the PPR Group in France. In addition to the risks associated
with making a large investment (nearly $1 billion in U.S.
dollars at year-end exchange rates), we also face a formidable
challenge in the integration of the Guilbert organization into
our European Office Depot and Viking businesses. We
appointed new country managers in nearly every country in
which we operate in Europe. Some of these managers came
from the Guilbert organization and some from the Office
Depot/Viking organization. Failures of any of these managers
to adapt to new cultures and the challenges in most cases of
managing substantially larger businesses in their respective
countries could have a material impact on our results of opera-
tions in Europe. In addition to the merger of somewhat different
cultures, we also face the challenges of physically integrating
facilities from both the former Guilbert side of the business
and the former Office Depot/Viking side of the business. In
many cases, we have duplicate distribution facilities in close
proximity to one another. We must choose wisely which facil-
ities to consolidate, or which ones to emphasize for future
growth and expansion. To the extent that we close or consoli-
date facilities, we are likely to face high social costs associated

with such moves, and the possibility of work stoppages in the

form of strikes in some locales in Europe. Any or all of these
integration issues could have a material impact on our future
financial performance and results of operations.

Global Sourcing of Products/Private Label: In recent
years, we have substantially increased the number and types
of products which we sell under our own Office Depot®,
Viking™, Guilbert®, NiceDay ™ and other private label brands.
We expect this trend to continue and even accelerate in the
future. We source many of these products from outside the
United States, particularly in the Far East. While these prod-
ucts have attractive margins and may enhance our brand
image, the increased reliance on foreign sourced products
introduces its own set of risks and uncertainties. Sources of
supply may prove to be unreliable, or the quality of the glob-
ally sourced products may vary from our expectations.
Economic and civil unrest in areas of the world where we
source such products could adversely impact the availability or
cost of such products, or both. Moreover, this increased
reliance on globally sourced products also subjects our
Company to other risks, such as the protracted dockworkers
strike on the U.S. West Coast that adversely impacted imported
products for a substantial period of time in 2002. Moreover,
while we seek indemnities from the manufacturers of these
products, the uncertainty of realizing on any such indemnity
and the lack of understanding of U.S. product liability laws in
certain parts of the Far East make it more likely that we may
have to respond to claims or complaints from our customers as
if we were the manufacturer of the products. For this reason, we
have incurred the expense of purchasing separate product liabil-
ity insurance for sourced products. The availability and
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expense of such insurance, while satisfactory to date, may
change in the future, making our procurement of foreign
sourced products materially less attractive than is the case
today. In addition, while the initial margins on such products
is generally more attractive than we can achieve by sourcing
from traditional sources of supply, other factors, such as the
lack of program dollars, including cooperative advertising
contributions, may make such sourcing less attractive in the
future. Any of these circumstances could have a material
adverse effect on our financial performance in the future.

Soitrces and Uses of Cash: We believe that our current
level of cash and cash equivalents, future operating cash
flows, lease financing arrangements and funds available under
our credit facilities and term loans should be sufficient to fund
our planned expansion, integration and other operating cash
needs for at least the next year. However, there can be no
assurance that additional sources of financing will not be
required during the next twelve months as a result of unantic-
ipated cash demands, opportunities for expansion, acquisition
or investment, changes in growth strategy, changes in our
warehouse integration plans or adverse operating results. We
could attempt to meet our financial needs through the capital
markets in the form of either equity or debt financing.
Alternative financing will be considered if market conditions
make it financially attractive. There can be no assurance that
any additional funds required by us, whether within the next
twelve months or thereafter, will be available to us on satis-
factory terms. Our inability to access needed financial
resources could have a material adverse effect on our financial
position or operating results.

M&A Activity: In 2003, we made a major investment in the
growth of our business in Europe through the acquisition of
Guilbert, S.A. from the PPR Group, at a cost of almost $1 bil-
lion (U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates). This followed
by five years our previous major acquisition of Viking in
1998. Other than these two acquisitions, we have otherwise
limited our merger and acquisition activity to relatively small
acquisitions. However, as we seek ways to more aggressively
expand and grow our business, it appears more likely that we
will increase our interest in M&A activity, both domestically
and internationally. While the opportunities from such activity
cannot be ignored, neither can the clear reality that many
acquisitions do not measure up to the expectations of the
acquiring company, for a host of reasons. M&A activity may
divert attention of our executive management team away from
our existing core businesses. We may do a less than optimal
job of due diligence or evaluation of target companies, and, as
always, the task of integrating two substantial businesses can
prove daunting. Failure to grow our businesses through M&A
activity, or failure to execute M&A activity in a satisfactory
manner, as well as adding substantial leverage to our balance
sheet in order to accomplish major acquisitions, could have a
significant and material adverse effect on our future business
prospects and/or our financial performance in the future.

Effects of Certain Charges: From time to time in the past,
we have recorded charges and credits to adjust past estimates,
such as facility closure costs, to reflect current conditions.



There can be no assurance that additional charges of this
nature will not be required in the future as well. In particular,
we expect that a retail store chain, such as our Retail Stores
Division, should expect to close a certain number of stores
each year, while remodeling and/or relocating a number of
other stores. We cannot be certain that our decisions to close,
remodel and/or relocate stores will have the desired favorable
results on our financial performance, nor can we anticipate the
size and nature of charges associated with such matters.
Moreover, an increase in M&A activity increases our expo-
sure to having to take such charges, as we learn more about
the acquired entity and reach conclusions to consolidate, etc.
that may or may not have been contemplated at the time of
acquisition. Such charges, if any, could have a materially
adverse impact on our financial position or operating results
in the future.

Impact of New Legislation and New Accounting Rules:
Since 2002, our Company, along with other publicly held
companies, has been working diligently to comply with new
legislation that has been called the most comprehensive set of
reforms of public companies in over a half century, the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOA”). Moreover, the imple-
mentation of various mandates under SOA has resulted in the
adoption of a host of new regulations by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and, more regulation is antic-
ipated from the newly created Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board. New regulations may dramatically change
the manner in which the Company is required to report its
results of operations, balance sheet items and other aspects of
financial accounting in the future. In addition, substantial
costs have been incurred, and will continue to be incurred to
comply with various of these mandates, including the engage-
ment of separate public accounting firms to perform work that
is now prohibited to be performed by our regular independent
accounting firm, internal costs associated with documenting
the adequacy of our internal financial controls and similar

compliance activities, and increased costs of audit by our
independent accounting firm.

While Office Depot believes that it has been at all times
in material compliance with laws and regulations pertaining to
the proper recording and reporting of our financial results,
. there can be no assurance that future regulations, implement-
ing SOA and otherwise, will not have a material adverse
impact on our reported results as compared with prior report-
ing periods. Certain policy issues, such as the expensing of
stock options issued to our employees, could, for example,
have a dramatic impact on our reported results of operations,
depending upon the outcome of current discussions regarding
which, if any, of these policy issues should or will change.
Any or all of the foregoing could have a material adverse
impact on our reported financial results. The Financial
Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) has promulgated
several new accounting standards and is considering others,
some of which could have a material impact on our reported
results. In particular, our Company is required to assess the con-
tinuing value of goodwill and long-lived assets. This assess-
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ment requires judgment and estimates about future cash flows,

which may or may not be realized. Changes in facts or assump-
tions could cause the write-down or write-off of long-lived
assets or goodwill associated with various of our operations.
The impact of any required write-off of goodwill associated
with any units of our Company could have a material adverse
impact on our reported financial results in future periods.

In summary, while Office Depot is confident that its past
practices and reports filed with the SEC, the New York Stock
Exchange and other reports are in material compliance with
all laws and regulations, the continued obligation to further
enhance disclosures and make filings that increase the trans-

. parency of our reported results will undoubtedly add to the

overall cost of doing business. And some of the many pro-

~posed changes in accounting policies and principles could

dramatically alter the reported results of our Company, partic-
ularly if we become obligated to expense stock options, as
contemplated by at least certain currently pending proposals
among various regulatory bodies.

Executive Management: Since the appointment of our
new Chief Executive Officer in July 2000, we have continued

"to evolve our management organization to better address the

future goals of our Company. in 2002, we filled key positions
by adding Executive Vice Presidents in the areas of Information
Technology, Merchandising and Marketing. These new senior
executives, in turn, have made significant changes in their
respective business organizations. In many cases, new execu-
tives have joined our Company midway through 2002 or even
later. In late 2003, two senior executives left our Company—
our President of BSG and our EVP and Chief Merchandising
Officer. We announced a management reorganization in late
2003, including the creation of a new office of President,
North America, to whom certain key operating executives in
North America would report. This would dramatically reduce
the number of such officers who report directly to our Chairman
and CEQ. At the same time, we announced promotions of two
long-time Office Depot executives to fill key executive posi-
tions in direct sales and supply chain; and we also announced
searches to fill the positions of President, North America and
EVP, Merchandising. To date, these positions have not been
filled. Such extensive changes in the management structure of
our Company may be expected to result in numerous changes
throughout our management organization, with uncertain out-
comes. There is no assurance that we will necessarily fill
these positions with the best persons for the job, or that the
executive team will function in a cohesive and effective man-
ner. As a result, our future operations and results may be
materially and adversely affected.

Disclaimer of Obligation to Update

We assume no obligation (and specifically disclaim any
such obligation) to update these Cautionary Statements or any
other forward-looking statements contained in this Annual
Report to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or
other factors affecting such forward-looking statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Market Risk.

See the information in the “Market Sensitive Risks and
Positions” subsection of Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation set
forth in Item 7 hereof.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

See [tem 15(a) in Part IV.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

The Company’s management, with the participation of
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s dis-
closure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end
of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation,
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the

Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

There have not been any changes in the Company’s inter-
nal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) dur-
ing the Company’s fiscal fourth quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the
Registrant.

Information concerning our executive officers is set forth
in Item 1 of this Form 10-K under the caption “Executive
Officers of the Registrant.”

Information with respect to our directors and the nomi-
nation process is incorporated herein by reference to the
information “Election of Directors/Biographical Information
on the Candidates” and “How Nominees to our Board are
Selected” in the Proxy Statement for our 2004 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders.

Information regarding our audit committee financial
experts is incorporated by reference to the information
“Committees of our Board” and “Audit Committee Report for
2004 in the Proxy Statement for our 2004 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. :

Information required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K is
incorporated herein by reference to “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement for
our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

The Code of Ethics for the Company’s CEO, CFO,
and Other Senior Executives is attached as Exhibit 14 to this
Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information with respect to executive compensation is
incorporated herein by reference to the information under the
caption “Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement for
our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.



Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by reference to
the information under the caption “Stock Ownership Information” in the Proxy Statement for our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information regarding compensation plans under which equity securities of the Company are

authorized for issuance as of December 27, 2003:

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise

Number of securities

of outstanding options, Weighted averége remaining available
warrants, and rights exercise price for future issuance
Plan category (a) by (©
~ Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (including the
Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan) (1) 29,452,938 . $14.89 6,319,192 (2)
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) Not Applicable Not Applicable 1,860,379 (3)
Retirement Savings Plans : Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable (3)
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders
None — Not Applicable —
Total 29,452,938 $14.89 8,179,571

(1) Outstanding options under the Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan are satisfied with available securities from the Long-Term

Equity Incentive Plan.

(2) As of December 27, 2003, the number of securities remaining available for future issuance has been reduced by approxi-

mately 390,000 shares of restricted stock.

(3) The Company currently settles essentially all share needs under the ESPP, the 401(k) Plan, and related deferred compensation
plan, by open market purchases through the respective plan administrators. ‘

For a description of the equity compensation plans above, see Note J—Employee Benefit Plans included under the heading

“Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Information with respect to such contractual relationships
is incorporated herein by reference to the information under
the captions “CEO Compensation” in the Proxy Statement for
our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountants Fees and Services.

Information with respect to principal accountants fees and
services is incorporated herein by reference to the information
under the caption “Information About Our Independent
Accountants” in the Proxy Statement for our 2004 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and
Reports on Form 8-K.

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
1. The financial statements listed in “Index to Financial
Statements” '
2. The financial statement schedule listed in “Index to
Financial Statement Schedule.”
3. The exhibits listed in the “Index to Exhibits.”

(b) Reports on Form §-K.

No reports on Form 8-K were filed during the year ended
December 27, 2003 except those disclosed in our 2003
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and the following reports on
Form 8-K filed in the fourth quarter ended December 27,
2003 through the filing of this annual report.

1. The Company filed a report, dated, October 29,

. 2003, regarding a press release announcing a stock
repurchase program providing for the repurchase of
up to $50 million of the Company’s common stock
over the next twelve months.

2. The Company filed a report, dated, November 25,
2003, regarding the adoption of certain amendments to
the Corporation’s Shareholder’s Rights Plan.

3. The Company filed a report, dated, February 11, 2004,
regarding a press release with respect to financial
results for the fourth quarter and fiscal year ending
December 27, 2003 as well as the outlook for 2004.

4. The Company filed a report, dated February 12, 2004,
regarding a transcript on the conference call on finan-
cial results conducted on February 11, 2004.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Diréctors of Office Depot, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Office Depot, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002 and the
related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 27, 2003. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. ’

We conducted our audits in'accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-
cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 27, 2003 and
December 28, 2002 and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 27, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note C to the consolidated financial state-
ments, in 2003 the Company changed its method of account-
ing for cooperative advertising arrangements to conform to
the requirements of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 02-
16 upon adoption of such principle.

DA ke 107

Certified Public Accountants
Miami, Florida
February 23, 2004



OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 27, December 28,
2003 2002
ASSETS
Current assets: v
Cash and cash equivalents .. ........c.. . it e $ 790,889 $ 877,088
Short-term InVeStMENTS. . . ..ottt e e e 100,234 : 6,435
Receivables, net of allowances of $34,173 in 2003 and $29,149in 2002. . .. ........ .. 1,112,417 771,632
Merchandise inventories, net ............. P 1,336,341 1,305,589
Deferred InComE taXeS . ... .ot v i e e e 169,542 143,073
Prepaid expenses and other CUIrent assets. . . ... .ovvv vt n it i n 67,305 105,898
Total current assetS . . ..o v vt ot e e 3,576,728 - 3,209,715
Property and equipment, NEL. . . . ...ttt e e 1,244,295 1,118,062
GoodWill . . .o e 1,004,122 257,797
Other ASSetS . . . . e e [ 320,097 180,238
TOtAl @SSBLS .« o oot et e e $6,145,242 $4,765,812
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities: ‘
ACCOUNES PAYADIE . . .. oottt et $1,323,179 $1,173,973
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . ......... ... .. ... ... . . . . 809,073 662,490
Income taxes payable. ... ... ... . .. 132,085 139,431
Current maturities of long-termdebt. . .. ... ... ... . 12,916 16,115
Total current liabilities . ... ... ... i 2,277,253 1,992,009
Deferred income taxes and other long-term liabilities. .. .. ........... .. ... oounnn. 244,600 64,721
Long-term debt, net of current maturities . . . ............. ... i . 829,302 411,970
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
"~ Common stock—authorized 800,000,000 shares of $.01 par value; :
issued 398,822,742 in 2003 and 393,905,052in2002.......... .. ... ... ... .. 3,988 3,939
Additional paid-incapital. . . ... ... 1,175,497 1,118,028
Unamortized value of long-term incentive stock grant ... ........ ... .. ... ... ... (1,362) (1,295)
. Accumulated other comprehensive income. . . ............ i 214,764 1,165
Retained earnings. . . ........ ... ... ... . e e e e 2,304,737 2,028,442
Treasury stock, at cost—=88,628,803 shares in 2003 and 85,389,591 shares in 2002 . ... .. (903,537) (853,167)
Total stockholders’ equity . . .. .. .. .. 2,794,087 2,297,112
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . .. ....... . ... ... $6,145,242 $4,765,812

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2003 2002 ‘ 2001
SaleS . $12,358,566 $11,356,633 $11,082,112
Cost of goods sold and occupancy CoStS. . . ... oo vv i 8,484,420 8,022,663 7,940,067
Gross profit .. ...t e 3,874,146 3,333,970 3,142,045
Store and warehouse operating and selling expenses .. ............... 2,802,240 2,338,128 2,331,013
General and administrative 8Xpenses . ... ........uerieniennn.. 578,840 486,279 445,538
Other Operating €Xpenses . . . .. oo v vttt et 22,809 - 9,855 12,125
Operating profit . .. ........... [P 470,257 499,708 353,369

Other income (expense):

IntereSt iNCOME. . . . oo v it 14,196 18,509 12,980

Interest EXPenSe . . .ot (54,805) (46,195) (43,339)

Miscellaneous income (expense), net . .. ... oo oo .. 15,392 7,183 (9,057)
Earnings from continuing operations before income
taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change . .................. 445,040 479,205 313,953
TNCOME LAKES .« o v v et ettt e e e e e 143,016 167,722 112,296
Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative effect

of accounting change . ... .. ... . it 302,024 311,483 201,657
Discontinued Operations, NEt . ... ...\ttt it rar i eanann 176 (775) (614)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ....................... (25,905) . — —
Net Camings. - .o oottt e e $ 276,295 $ 310,708 $ 201,043
Earnings per share from continuing operations before cumulative

effect of accounting change:

BaSIC . vt et $ 0.98 $ 1.02 $ 0.68

DIlUted. « ot ee e et e ‘ 0.96 0.98 0.66
Cumulative effect of accounting change: '

BaSIC o\t i e . 8 (0.08) $ — $ -

Diluted. .. e e (0.08) — —
Net earnings per share: .

BasiC . . e e $ 0.89 $ 1.01 $ 0.67

Diluted. . .o e e 0.88 0.98 . 0.66

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Common
Stock
Shares

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common
Stock
Amount

Unamortized
Value of
Long-Term
Incentive
Stock Grant

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Compre-
hensive
Income

Retained
Earnings

Treasury
Stock

Balance at December 30, 2000. . ... ..
Comprehensive income:
Netearnings...................
Foreign currency translation
adjustment . ................, .

378,688,359

Comprehensive income

Acquisition of treasury stock . .. ... ..
Grant of long-term incentive stock. . . .
Exercise of stock options (including
income tax benefits). . ...........
Issuance of stock under employee
stock purchase plans
Matching contributions under 401(k)
and deferred compensation plans . . .
Direct Stock Purchase Plans. .. ......
Amortization of long-term incentive
stockgrant....... ...

80,000
5,604,810
751,400

413,771

$3,787 $ 939,214

1 764
55 56,430
8 6,712

4 3,957

$(2,793) $ (53,490)

(17,783)

(764)

979

$1,516,691  $(802,158)

$201,043 201,043

(17,783)
$183,260
(4,194)

(60)

24

Balance at December 29, 2001.... ...

Comprehensive income:
Netearmnings...................
Foreign currency translation adjustment

385,538,340

Comprehensive income

Acquisition of treasury stock . ... .. ..
Grant of long-term incentive stock. . . .
Cancellation of long-term
incentive stock . . .......... ...
Exercise of stock options (including
income tax benefits).............
Issuance of stock under employee
stock purchase plans
Matching contributions under 401(k)
and deferred compensation plans . . .
Direct Stock Purchase Plans. .. ......
Amortization of long-term incentive
stockgrant....................

15,000
(73,524)
8,195,441
139,773

90,022

3,855 1,007,088

1 218
M | (549)
82 108478

1 1,097

1 1,663
33

(2,578) - (71,273)

72,438

(218)

284

1,217

1,717,734 (806,388)

$310,708
72,438

$383,146

310,708

(45,869)

(965)

56

Balance at December 28,2002, . ... ..
Comprehensive income:
Netearnings...................
Foreign currency translation
cadjustment . . ........... ...
Proceeds from cash flow hedge,
net of amortization. ...........

393,905,052

Comprehensive income

Acquisition of treasury stock .. ... ...
Grant of long-term incentive stock. . . .
Cancellation of long-term
incentive stock . .. ......... .. ...
Exercise of stock options (including
income tax benefits). ............
Issuance of stock under employee
stock purchase plans
Direct Stock Purchase Plans. ... ... ..
Amortization of long-term incentive
stockgrant....................

60,000
(4,500)
4,850,481

11,709

3,939 1,118,028

1- 867
48 57,710

(1,056)
23

(1,295) 1,165

197,570

16,029

(867)

75 -

725

2,028,442 (853,167)

$276,295 276,295
197,570

16,029
$489,894
(50,064) .

(358)

52

Balance at December 27, 2003. . .. ... 398,822,742

$3,988 $1,175,497

$(1,362) $214,764

$2,304,737  $(903,537)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
2003 - 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities: »
Net aMmMINGS . ..ottt e ettt et e et $ 276,295 $ 310,708 $ 201,043
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net .. ................ 25,905 — —
Discontinued operations, net .. .. ..o (176) 775 614
Depreciation and amortization. . . .......... ... . ... 248,345 200,747 198,223
Charges for losses on inventories and receivables .............. 118,282 93,220 108,690
Net earnings from equity method investments .. .............. - (11,056) (9,279) (10,892)
Accreted interest on zero coupon, convertible subordinated notes . . —_ 7,558 11,308
Deferred income taX proviSion. .. ... .. ..o vieineivnunnnnn 33,052 9,994 196
Net loss on investment securities . . .. ........... ..., 8,428 2,998 14,100
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment ............. 6,912 1,465 (5,273)
Facility closure costs and impairment charges . .. .............. 26,675 12,130 43,623
Other operating activities. . .. ...t e, 17,302 27,276 5,001
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decreaseinreceivables . ......... . ... . . . .. ... 30,171 11,668 83,581
(Increase) decrease in merchandise inventories .............. (52,419) (99,487) 75,238
Net decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets . . . . 4,935 (18,169) 8,961
Net (decrease) increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses
anddeferredcredits . . ... ... ... ... ... ... (80,911) 150,293 11,528
Total adjustments . .. .....ovu it 375,445 391,189 544,898
Net cash provided by operating aCtiVItIeS .. ... vv i 651,740 701,897 745,941
Cash flows from investing activities:
Sale (purchase) of short-term investments. .. ..................... 6,435 (6,435) —
Purchases of investment securities. . . . ...ttt — (2,151) —
Purchase of investments, available-for-sale .. ..................... (100,000) — —_
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired. .. . .......... ... ... ... .. . ... (918,966) — (45,960)
Capital expenditures . ... ...ttt (211,941) (202,218) (208,056)
Proceeds from sale of business .. .......... ... i 36,210 — —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment . ................... 8,425 11,338 20,945
Net cash used in investing activities .. ................ovieenenn.. (1,179,837) (199,466) (233,071)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from exercise of stock options and sale of stock under .
employee stock purchase plans . .......... ... ... ... ... ... 46,664 88,898 52,962
Repurchase of common stock for treasury. .. ......... ... ..., (50,064) (45,869) (4,193)
Proceeds from issuance of subordinatednotes. . ................... 398,880 — 266,286
Proceeds from issuance of long-term borrowings. . ................. 28,505 — —
Payments on long- and short-term borrowings. . ................... (35,134) (12,350) (400,458)
Repurchase of zero coupon, convertible subordinated notes .......... —_ (243,304) —
Net cash provided 'by (used in) financing activities . .. ... ............. 388,851 (212,625) (85,403)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . . . . . ... 53,047 21,894 (8,537)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents. . ... ......... (86,199) 311,700 418,930
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . ... ................ 877,088 565,388 146,458
Cash and cash equivalents atend of period . . ... ........... ... ... ... $ 790,889 $ 877,088 $ 565,388

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business: Office Depot, Inc. and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) is a global supplier of office products and
services, with sales in 21 countries outside the United States
and Canada under the Office Depot®, Viking Office Products®,
Viking Direct®, 4Sure.com®, Guilbert® and NiceDay™ brand
names. Products and services are offered through wholly
owned retail stores, contract business-to-business sales rela-
tionships, commercial catalogs and multiple web sites provid-
ing a wide range of office products, computers and technical
support functions.

Basis of Presentation: The consolidated financial state-
ments of Office Depot, Inc. and its subsidiaries have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. All intercompany
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Non-
controlling investments in joint ventures selling office products
and services in Mexico and Israel are accounted for using the
equity method. The Company’s share of joint ventures’ opera-
tions is included in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings
in miscellaneous income (expense), net.

Certain prior yéar amounts have been reclassified to con-
form to current year presentation.

Fiscal Periods. Fiscal years are based on a 52- or 53-week °

period ending on the last Saturday in December. All periods
presented consist of 52 weeks.

Estimates and Assumptions: Preparation of these financial
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts
reported in the financial statements and related notes. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency: Assets and liabilities of international
operations are translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange
rate at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are
translated at average monthly exchange rates. Translation
adjustments resulting from this process are recorded in stock-
holders’ equity as* a component of other comprehensive
income (loss).

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency
other than a consolidated entity’s functional currency result in
transaction gains or losses from the remeasurement at spot
rates at the end of the period. Foreign currency gains and
losses that relate to non-operational accounts, such as cash
and investments, are recorded in other income (expense), net
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. During 2003,
approximately $11.8 million was recognized as a foreign cur-
rency. gain resulting from holding euro investments in a dollar
functional currency subsidiary in advance of the acquisition of
Guilbert. Foreign currency gains and losses on operational
accounts, such as receivables and payables, are included as a

41

component of operating expenses, though historically these
amounts have been immaterial.

Cash Equivalents: Highly liquid securities with maturities
of three months or less from the date of acquisition are classi-
fied as cash equivalents.

Short-term Investments: In October 2003, the Company
invested $100 million in a mutual fund that primarily invests
in U.S. Government agency obligations. This investment is
recorded as available for sale, and accordingly, changes in fair
value are recognized as a component of other comprehensive
income. Interest earned on these funds is used to purchase
additional units. At December 27, 2003 the historical cost and
fair value of this investment was $100.2 million.

Receivables: Trade receivables, net, totaled $797.7 million
and $482.5 million at December 27, 2003 and December 28,
2002, respectively. An allowance for doubtful accounts has
been recorded to reduce receivables to an amount expected to
be collectible from customers. The allowance recorded at
December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002 was approximately
$34.2 million and $29.1 million, respectively. Receivables
generated through a private label credit card program are
transferred to financial services companies, a portion of which
have recourse to Cffice Depot.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk associated with
trade receivables is limited by having a large customer base that
extends across many different industries and geographic regions.
However, the Company’s receivables may be adversely affected
by an economic slowdown in the U.S. or internationally.

Other receivables, totaling $314.7 million and $289.1
million as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002,
respectively, consist primarily of amounts due from vendors
under purchase rebate, cooperative advertising and various
other marketing programs,

Merchandise Inventories: Inventories are stated at the

“lower of cost or market value. The weighted average method

is used to determine the cost of a majority of our inventory and
the first-in-first-out method is used for international operations.

Income Taxes: Income tax expense is recognized at appli-
cable U.S. or international tax rates. Certain revenue and
expense items may be recognized in one period for financial
statement purposes and in a different period’s income tax
return. The tax effects of such differences are reported as
deferred income taxes.

Essentially all earnings of foreign subsidiaries are
expected to be reinvested in overseas expansion. Accordingly,
no provision has been made for incremental U.S. taxes on
undistributed earnings considered permanently invested.
Cumulative undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries
for which no Federal income taxes have been provided was
$1,046.2 million and $778.7 million as of December 27, 2003
and December 28, 2002, respectively.
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‘ OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment addi-
tions are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization is
recognized over their estimated useful lives using the straight-
line method. The useful lives of depreciable assets are estimated
to be 15-30 years for buildings and 3-10 years for furniture,
fixtures and equipment. Computer software is amortized over
three years for common office applications, five years for larger
business applications and seven years for certain enterprise-
wide systems. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
shorter of the terms of the underlying leases or the estimated
useful lives of the improvements.

Other Investments: In prior years, the Company made
various investments in Internet-based companies and funds.
These investments are carried at cost and their value is reduced
if a decline is considered other than temporary. During 2003,
the Company liquidated various investments and recognized an
$8.4 million charge in miscellaneous income (expense), net.
Impairment charges were also recorded in 2002 and 2001 and
totaled $3.0 million and $14.7 million, respectively. At
December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002, the portfolio
totaled $5.0 million and $14.4 million, respectively.

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase
price and related costs over the value assigned to net tangible
and identifiable intangible assets of businesses acquired and
accounted for under the purchase method. Under accounting
rules that became effective at the beginning of fiscal year
2002, goodwill is no longer amortized, but instead is tested
annually for possible impairment. See Note F for goodwill
balances and related information.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: Long-lived assets are
reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such
assets may not be recoverable. Impairment is assessed at the
location level, considering the estimated undiscounted cash
flows over the asset’s remaining life. If estimated cash flows
are insufficient to recover the investment, an impairment loss
is recognized based on the fair value of the asset less any costs
of disposition. Impairment losses of $2.7 million, $5.4 million
and $19.3 million were recognized in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, relating to certain under-performing retail stores.

Facility Closure Costs: The Company regularly reviews
store performance against expectations and closes stores not
meeting investment requirements. Costs associated with
closures resulting from such ongoing performance reviews,
principally lease cancellation costs, have historically been
accrued when the decision to close is made. Accounting rules
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that became effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2003 will
generally delay recognition of lease termination costs from
the date of closure commitment to the date the facility is no
longer used in an operating capacity.

" Accruals for lease termination costs are based on the
future commitments under contract, adjusted for anticipated
sublease and termination benefits. Because of continued
uncertainty relating to sublease assumptions for properties

-previously closed, the Company conducted a comprehensive

review of its closed store commitments during the fourth
quarter of 2003 and recorded a $23.9 million charge to termi-
nate some existing commitments and to adjust the remaining
commitments to current market values. We recorded similar
charges in 2002 and 2001 for $6.7 million and $8.5 million,
respectively. The accrued balance relating to our future com-
mitments under operating leases of our closed stores was
$57.6 million and $60.4 million at December 27, 2003 and
December 28, 2002, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: The estimated fair
values of financial instruments recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets or disclosed within these Notes to Consoli-
dated Financial Statements have been determined using
available market information, information from unrelated third
party financial institutions and appropriate valuation method-
ologies, primarily discounted projected cash flows. However,
considerable judgment is required when interpreting market
information and other data to develop estimates of fair value.
Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current
market exchange.

Short-term Assets and Liabilities: The fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, short-term investments, receivables,
accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current
liabilities approximate their carrying values because of their
short-term nature.

Notes Payable: The fair value of the senior subordinated
notes and senior notes were determined based on quoted
market prices.

Interest Rate Swaps and Foreign Currency Contracts:
The fair values of our interest rate swaps and foreign currency
contracts are the amounts receivable or payable to terminate the
agreements at the reporting date, taking into account current
interest and exchange rates. In January 2004, we hedged a por-
tion of our fixed-rate debt by entering into a fixed-for-variable
interest rate swap for a notional amount of $100 million. We
may hedge more of our debt portfolio in future periods.



OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

There were no significant differences as of December 27, 2003 and December 28, 2002 between the carrying values and fair

values of the financial instruments except as disclosed below:

2003 2002
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(Dollars in thousands) Value Value Value Value
$250 million Senior Subordinated Notes .. ... ............. $259,440 $300,000 $262,213 $279,625
$400 million Senior Notes . . .. ........... it .in, $398,923 $420,320 — —

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation: The Company
accounts for its stock-based compensation plans under
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related
Interpretations. Essentially all employee stock options are
issued at market value on the date of grant. Under APB 25, no
‘compensation expense is recognized for such options. The
compensation cost charged against income for the Long-Term
Equity Incentive Plan, Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan,
Employee Stock Purchase Plans and retirement savings plans
approximated $10.9 million, $9.4 million and $4.9 million in
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Had compensation cost for
awards under our stock-based compensation plans been deter-
mined using the fair value method prescribed by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standard (“FAS”) No. 123, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended, the Company
would have recognized additional compensation expense, net
- of related tax effects, of approximately $22.4 million, $29.4
million and $36.7 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. The Company prepares this pro forma disclosure based
on the assumptions listed below, as well as an assumption of
forfeiture rates for unvested options.

(In thousands,

except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001
Net earnings
Asreported. . ... .. .. $276,295 $310,708 $201,043
Proforma.......... 253,866 281,332 164,335
Net earnings per share—
Basic :
Asreported . ..... $ 08 $ 100 $ 067
Pro forma........ 0.82 0.92 0.55
Net earnings per share— '
Diluted
Asreported. ... ... $ 088 $ 098 $ 066
Pro forma........ 0.81 0.89 0.54

The fair value of each stock option granted is established
on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. The weighted average fair values of options granted
during 2003, 2002, and 2001 were $4.17, $6.38, and $4.21, res-
pectively, using the following weighted average assumptions
for grants:

» Risk-free interest rates of 2.59% for 2003, 4.69% for 2002,
and 4.58% for 2001

* Expected lives of 4.3, 4.4 and 4.9 years for 2003, 2002, and
2001, respectively
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* A dividend yield of zero for all three years
» Expected volatility of 40% for all three years

Revenue Recognition: Revenue is recognized at the point
of sale for retail transactions and at the time of successful
delivery for contract, catalog and Internet sales. An allowance
for sales returns has been recorded based on past experience.
Revenue from sales of extended warranty service plans is
either recognized at the point of sale or over the warranty
period, depending on the determination of legal obligor status.
All performance obligations and risk of loss associated with
such contracts are transferred to an unrelated third-party
administrator at the time the contracts are sold. Costs associ-
ated with these contracts are recognized in the same period as
the related revenue.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs: Income generated
from shipping and handling fees is classified as revenues for
all periods presented. Freight costs incurred to bring merchan-

. dise to stores and warehouses are included as a component of

inventory and costs of goods sold. Freight costs incurred to
ship merchandise to customers are recorded as a component
of store and warehouse operating and selling expenses.
Shipping costs, combined with warehouse handling costs,
totaled $827.7 million in 2003, $717.8 million in 2002 and
$740.8 million in 2001.

Advertising: Advertising costs are either charged to
expense when incurred or, in the case of direct marketing
advertising, capitalized and amortized in proportion to the
related revenues.

We participate in cooperative advertising programs with
our vendors in which they reimburse us for a portion of our
advertising costs. Total cooperative advertising reimburse-
ments were $234.2 million in 2003, $242.7 million in 2002
and $272.0 million in 2001. Prior to 2003, these vendor
arrangements reduced advertising expense for the period.
Effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2003, we changed
our accounting policy and now classify such reimbursements
as a reduction of the costs of our inventory (see' Note C).
Advertising expense recognized in 2003 was $546.9 million.
Advertising expense in 2002 and 2001, which was net of
cooperative advertising allowances, was $317.6 million and
$309.5 million, respectively.

Pre-opening Expenses: Pre-opening expenses related to
opening new stores and warehouses or relocating existing

_ Office Depot 2003 / Form 10-K




OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

stores and warehouses are expensed as incurred and included
in other operating expenses.

Self-Insurance: Office Depot is primarily self-insured for
workers’ compensation, auto and general liability and employee
medical- insurance programs. Self-insurance liabilities are
based on claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not
reported. These liabilities are not discounted.

Comprehensive Income: Comprehensive income repre-
sents the change in stockholders’ equity from transactions and
other events and circumstances arising from non-stockholder
sources. Comprehensive income consists of net earnings, for-
eign currency translation adjustments, realized or unrealized
gains (losses) on investment securities that are available for
sale, net of applicable income taxes, and proceeds and related
amortization of qualifying cash flow hedges.

Derivative Financial Instruments: Certain derivative
financial instruments may be used to hedge the exposure to
foreign currency exchange rate and interest rate risks, subject
to established risk management policies. Such approved
financial instruments include swaps, options, caps, forwards
and futures. Use of derivative financial instruments for trading
or speculative purposes is prohibited by Company policies.

New Accounting Standards: In November 2003, the
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on
EITF 03-10, Application of Issue No. 02-16 by Resellers to
Sales Incentives Offered to Consumers by Manufacturers.
Generally under this guidance, vendor funded coupons that
can be redeemed broadly across companies should be consid-
ered revenue, but vendor funded coupons that are unique to a
specific retailer should be considered a reduction of the product
cost sold. Most retailers, including Office Depot, have histori-
cally recognized both types of arrangements as revenue. Our
sales for fiscal years 2003, 2002, and 2001 include approxi-
mately $12.3 million, $4.5 million, and $7.6 million relating
to Company-specific vendor funded coupon arrangements.
Beginning in 2004, future vendor funded arrangements will be
classified as a reduction of cost of goods sold.

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No.
46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. FIN 46(R)
replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation by business
enterprises of variable interest entities. The provisions of FIN
46(R) are effective for the first reporting period that ends after
December 15,2003 for variable interests in those entities
commonly referred to as special-purpose entities. Application
of the provisions of FIN 46(R) for all other entities is effective
for the first reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. We
have no interest in any entity considered a special purpose
entity; therefore, the initial adoption of FIN 46(R) did not have
an impact on the Company. We believe the adoption of the pro-
visions of FIN 46(R) in the first quarter of 2004 will have no
impact on our net earnings, cash flows or financial position.
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NOTE B—Discontinued Operations

In August 2002, the Company announced its decision to
sell its Australian operations. Accordingly, the Australian por-
tion of the Company’s business is reported as a discontinued
operation in the International segment disclosure and in the
consolidated financial statements. The sale was completed in
January 2003 with no significant impact on net earnings.

Australia’s sales and pre-tax profit (loss), respectively,
were $80.9 million and $(1.0) million for 2002; and $72.0
million and $0.2 million for 2001. Diluted earnings per share
was not affected by discontinued operations in the three years
presented. Basic per share amounts were $(0.01) and $(0.01),
for 2002 and 2001, respectively. Australia’s assets and liabili-
ties were considered held for sale and at December 28, 2002,
with $33.0 million included in prepaid expenses and other
current assets and $7.0 million included in accrued expenses
and other current liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

NOTE C—Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changé

At the beginning of fiscal year 2003, we adopted EITF
(02-16. This guidance primarily affects our accounting for
cooperative advertising arrangements. Under these rules, there
is a presumption that amounts received from vendors should
be considered a reduction of product costs. This presumption
can be overcome if certain restrictive provisions are met. We
adopted a policy of considering all cooperative advertising
arrangements to be a reduction of product cost, because the
cost of tracking actual advertising costs by vendor to meet
these criteria would exceed the benefit. These arrangements
were previously accounted for as a reduction of advertising
expense. A portion is now deferred in inventory and reduces-
the cost of products as they are sold, similar to the current
practice for vendor rebate arrangements.

To record the initial amount of cooperative advertising
deferred in inventory at the beginning of the year, we recorded
an after-tax cumulative effect adjustment of $25.9 million, or
$0.08 per share. The impact on continuing operations of
applying this method in 2003 decreased cost of goods sold by
$240.4 million and increased advertising expense by $234.2
million. Operating profit increased by $6.2 million, net earn-
ings by $4.3 million and diluted earnings per share by $0.01.
Prior periods have not been restated. However, the estimated
impact of applying this method in 2002 would have been to
decrease the cost of goods sold by $241.3 million and increase
advertising expense by $242.7 million. Pro forma operating
profit would have decreased by $1.4 million, net earnings by
$1.0 million and would have had no impact on diluted earn-
ings per share.



OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE D—Acquisition

On June 2, 2003, the Company acquired all of the
common shares of Guilbert S.A. (“Guilbert”) from Pinault-
Printemps-Redoute S.A. Guilbert is the French parent com-
pany of a corporate group that constitutes one of the largest
contract stationers in Europe. The acquisition provided the
Company with an immediate presence in targeted markets,
substantially increased the scope and breadth of the Company’s
contract business in Europe, and established Office Depot as
the leading multi-channel reseller of office products in conti-
nental Europe and the United Kingdom. The results of
Guilbert’s operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements since the date of acquisition.

The cash purchase price was euro 780 million. The U.S!
dollar value of the-acquisition, including transaction costs,
totaled $945.2 million at the date of acquisition, or $919.0
million, net of cash acquired, translated at currency rates in
effect at the time of actual cash settlement. The price is sub-
ject to an upward adjustment of euro 40 million in cash or the
Company’s common stock if the price per share of Office
Depot common stock closes at or above $20 per share for any
five consecutive trading days during the 18-month period fol-
lowing June 2, 2003. This contingent consideration was not
included in the cost initially allocated to assets and liabilities
acquired because of the uncertainty of payment; but if paid, it
would increase the amount of goodwill recorded. Additionally,
the seller is required to pay to Office Depot the value of any
unfunded pension liability ds measured at a future date. The
existing unfunded pension liability has been recorded as part
of the fair value assigned to liabilities assumed. Because of
the inability to reasonably estimate the amount of that future
payment to the Company, no receivable has been recorded at
December 27, 2003. The future settlement will reduce good-
will when received.

The following table summarizes the purchase price
allocation as of June 2, 2003 based on independent appraisals
and management’s estimates. The final allocation is subject
to the contingent consideration identified above, as well as
completion of integration plans.

As of June 2, 2003
(In millions)

Current a@ssets . ... oo $ 4559
Property, plant, and equipment . ... .......... 116.1
Intangible assets . .. ....... ... ... . .. 127.3
Goodwill. . ... 700.9
Other assets .. ..o 16.5
Total assets acquired . . .. .................. 1,416.7
Current liabilities . ... ............ ... ..... 295.5
Long-term liabilities .. .................... 176.0
Total liabilities assumed ... ................ 471.5
Netassetsacquired . ... ................... $ 945.2

45

Intangible assets at June 2, 2003 include $64.8 million for
tradenames, currently estimated to have indefinite lives. An
additional $62.5 million has been assigned to a customer-
related intangible that is being amortized on an accelerated
basis over five years.

The integration of Guilbert and Office Depot operations
will result in closing certain warehouses, customer service
centers, and other facilities, as well as the sale or liquidation
of some operations and the consolidation of the combined
workforce. Included in the purchase date balance sheet are
accrued Guilbert-related integration costs of approximately
$14.9 million for facility closure costs and $33.8 million for
employee-related costs. Of these amounts, approximately $7.7
million was paid or used by December 27, 2003. Goodwill
has also been increased since the date of acquisition to adjust
certain initial asset valuations to values currently anticipated
on sale or liquidation. Goodwill may continue to be adjusted
as integration plans are finalized and for resolution of acquisi-
tion date uncertainties. Costs associated with Office Depot-
related integration activity have been expensed as incurred.
These costs totaled $17.7 million through December 27, 2003
and primarily related to consulting for management, commu-
nications, and human resource related activity.

All assets and liabilities of Guilbert, including goodwill and .
intangibles, have been recorded in the International Division.

Unaudited pro forma information giving effect to the
acquisition of Guilbert as if it had been acquired at the begin-
ning of 2002 is shown below. Based on our review, Guilbert’s
results of operations have been modified from amounts origi- .
nally prepared under French accounting principles to conform
to accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Adjustments have been made to Guilbert’s
2002 financial information to present as discontinued opera-
tions the gain of approximately $306 million from the sale of
their catalog business and to present as a cumulative effect of
an accounting change $22 million relating to the assumed
adoption of FAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

Unaudited pro forma information

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002
Revenues ...................... $12,960 $12,63%8
. Earnings from continuing
operations before
cumulative effect of
accounting change. . ............ $ 301 $ 256
Netearnings .................... $ 275 $ 539
Earnings per share from -
continuing operations
© before cumulative effect
of accounting change:
Basic.........cooiiiiiiiin.. $ 097 § 084
Diluted .................... $ 096 $ 081
Net earnings per share
Basic...........oiii, $ 089 $ 176
Dilated .................... $ 088 § 1.69
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NOTE E—Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of:

December 28,

. December 27,
(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Land................... $ 105,120 $ 79,253
Buildings. . .............. 322,498 253,930
Leasehold improvements. . . . 703,384 630,442
Furniture, fixtures and :
- equipment............. 1,286,082 1,098,897
2,417,084 2,062,522

Less accumulated

depreciation. . .. ........ (1,172,789) (944.,460)

$ 1,244,295 $1,118,062

Depreciation expense was $232.3 million, $197.0 million
and $188.3 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The above table of property and equipment includes
assets held under capital leases as follows:

December 27, December 28,
(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Buildings. .. ............. $ 70942 $ 55975
Furniture, fixtures and
“equipment............. 49,352 45,410
120,294 101,385
Less accumulated
depreciation. .. ......... (52,950) (40,590)
’ $ 67,344 $ 60,795

NOTE F—Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The components of goodwill by segments are listed below:

December 27, December 28,
(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Goodwill: -
North American Retail. .., $ 1,739  § 1470
Business Services Group. . 229,950 229,950
International ........... 772,433 26,377
Total goodwill. . .......... $ 1,004,122 $ 257,797

The increase in international goodwill reflects the acqui-
sition of Guilbert and represents the excess of the purchase
price and related costs over the value assigned to the net tangi-
ble and identifiable intangible assets acquired. See Note D for
discussion of the Guilbert acquisition. The remaining change
in the value of goodwill reflects fluctuations in foreign cur-
rency exchange rates. Under accounting rules that went into
effect at the beginning of 2002, goodwill and indefinite life
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intangible assets are no longer amortized but are tested annu-
ally for impairment. Goodwill amortization in 2001 was $5.2
million. Without this amortization, pro forma earnings per
share would have increased by $0.02 for 2001.

The net book value of other intangible assets totaled
$131.6 million at December 27, 2003 and $12.5 million at
December 28, 2002 and is included in other assets in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The increase in intangible assets
reflects the additions related to the acquisition of Guilbert
including $68.8 million (at year-end exchange rate) for trade-
names, currently estimated to have indefinite lives. An addi-
tional $54.7 million (remaining balance at year-end exchange
rate) has been assigned to customer-related intangibles which
are being amortized on an accelerated basis over five years.
Amortization of intangible assets was $13.8 million in 2003,
$1.4 million in 2002 and $2.0 million in 2001. It is anticipated
that amortization expense for our existing intangible assets
will be approximately $16.0 million for 2004, and approxi-
mately $11.0 million, $8.0 million, $5.0 million and $4.0 mil-
lion per year, respectively, for the four years thereafter.

NOTE G—Debt
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The debt components consisted of the following:

December 27, December 28,

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Current maturities of
long-term debt:
Capital lease obligations. .. $ 11,219 S 14,469
Other................. - 1,697 1,646
$ 12916 $16,115
Long-term debt, net of
current maturities:
Revolving credit facility. ..  $100,102 $ 81,415
$250 million Senior
Subordinated Notes . . .. 259,440 262,213
$400 million Senior Notes. . 398,923 —
Capital lease obligations. . . 69,367 65,095
Other................. 1,470 3,247
$829,302

$411,970

In August 2003, the Company completed an offering of
$400 million senior notes due August 2013 (the “Notes™). The
Notes are not callable and bear interest at the rate of 6.250%
per year, to be paid on February 15 and August 15 of each year.
The Notes contain provisions that, in certain circumstances,
place financial restrictions or limitations on the Company.
Simultaneous with completing the offering, the Company lig-
uidated a treasury rate lock, the proceeds of $16.6 million have
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been recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income on
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December
27, 2003. The proceeds on the treasury rate lock will be amor-
tized over the term of the notes, reducing the effective interest
rate to the Company on the Notes to 5.87%.

In April 2002, the Company replaced its 364-day credit
agreement, domestic credit facility, and its yén facility with a
single credit facility through a syndicate of banks. This new
" revolving credit facility provides for borrowings in the aggre-
gate amount of $600 million, including up to $150 million for
issuance of standby and trade letters of credit. This agreement
is a three-year, unsecured revolving credit facility maturing on
April 24, 2005, though the Company may enter into a new
arrangement before this agreement expires. Borrowings up to
the equivalent of $100 million are allowed in U.S. dollars,
euro, British pounds, or yen and will bear interest at a bench-
mark variable rate plus a spread determined at the time of
usage. The remaining $500 million is available in U.S. dollars.
For U.S. dollar borrowings, interest can be based on the then-
current London Interbank Offering Rate (LIBOR) or U.S.
prime rate, at the Company’s election. For international borrow-
ings, interest will be based on the then-current Eurocurrency
rate. The Company can specify the benchmark rates for peri-
ods of one, two, three or six months. Based on the Company’s
current credit ratings, all borrowings would include a spread
of 0.925%. The facility contains restrictive covenants relating
to various financial ratios. As of December 27, 2003, yen bor-
rowings equivalent to $100.1 million were outstanding with
an average effective interest rate of 0.988%, and outstanding
letters of credit totaled $72.8 million.

In July 2001, the Company issued $250 miilion of seven
year,.non-callable, senior subordinated notes due on July 15,
2008. The notes have a coupon interest rate of 10.00%,
payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15. In August
2001, the Company entered into LIBOR-based variable rate
swap agreements to convert the fixed interest rate on these
notes. In September 2002, the Company terminated these
interest rate swap agreements and received proceeds totaling
$18.8 million. The benefit associated with these proceeds is
being amortized over the remaining term of the notes, lower-
ing the effective interest rate on this borrowing to 8.7%.

During 2002, the Company redeemed, before scheduled
maturity, all outstanding shares of its zero coupon, convertible
subordinated notes for $243.3 million, representing the original
issue price plus accrued interest. ‘
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The Company is in compliance with all restrictive
covenants included in the above debt agreements.

Under capital lease agreements, the Company is required
to make certain monthly, quarterly or annual lease payments
through 2020. The aggregate minimum capital lease payments
for the next five years and beyond, with their present value as

of December 27, 2003, are as follows:
December 27,

(Dollars in thousands) 2003
2004 . e $ 16,766
2005 . . 14,270
2006. ... 9,490
2007 . 8,083
2008 . . 7,773
Thereafter. . ........ ... ... ... ... .... 64,113
Total minimum lease payments. ... ......... 120,495
Less amount representing interest at
500%t01027% ... ..o 39,909
~ Present value of net minimum lease payments . . 80,586
Less current portion . . ................... 11,219
Long-term portion ...................... $ 69,367

NOTE H—Income Taxes
The income tax provision related to earnings from continuing
operations consisted of the following:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Current:
Federal .......... $ 70,802 $114,420 $ 66,074
State . ........... (3,753) 14,181 12,904
Foreign.......... 42,915 29,127 33,122
Deferred .......... 33,052 9,994 196
Total provision for . :
income taxes. . .... $143,016  $167,722  $112,296

~ The components of earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting
change consisted of the following:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

North America . ..... $227,962  $352,645 $176,711

International . ... ... .. 217,078 126,560 137,242
Total............ $445,040  $479,205 $313,953
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The tax-effected components of deferred income tax assets
and liabilities consisted of the following:

December 27, December 28,

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002
Self-insurance accruals. . . . .. $ 24,348 $ 26,049
Inventory ................ 22,976 34,125
Vacation pay and other

accrued compensation . . . . 26,672 31,558
Reserve for bad debts. . ... .. 7,926 4585
Reserve for facility closings. . . 28,226 52,637
Acquisition and integration

COSES. . v v vi e 11,821 4,934
Unrealized loss on

investments ............ 1,660 20,279
Foreign and state net operating

loss carryforwards .. .. ... 156,903 86,281
State credit carryforwards, .

net of Federal........... 7,015 —
Other items, net. . ......... 50,515 39,545

Gross deferred tax assets . . 338,062 299,993
Valuation allowance.. .. . . . . (156,903) (86,281)

Deferred tax assets. ...... 181,159 213,712
Basis difference in fixed assets 42,940 86,433
Intangibles............... ] 44,949 3,356
Other ttems, net . . . ........ 20,560 1,730

Deferred tax liabilities . . . . 108,449 91,519
Net deferred tax assets...... $ 72,710 $122,193

As of December 27, 2003, we had approximately $805
million of state and $372 million of foreign net operating loss
carryforwards, of which approximately $126 million, $45 mil-
lion tax effected, relate to the Guilbert acquisition. Of these
carryforwards, approximately $135 million will expire in 2004,
$126 million will carry over indefinitely, and the balance will
expire between 2005 and 2023. The valuation allowance has
been developed to reduce our deferred tax asset to an amount
that is more likely than not to be realized, and is based upon
the uncertainty of the realization of certain foreign and state
deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss carryfor-
wards. In addition to the net operating loss carryforward noted
above, the deferred asset above includes approximately $17
million, consisting mainly of acquisition and integration
related items, and the deferred tax liability above includes
approximately $43 million, consisting mainly of basis differ-
ences in intangible assets related to the acquisition of Guilbert.
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The following is a reconciliation of income taxes at the
Federal statutory rate to the provision for income taxes:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Federal tax computed at

the statutory tate . .. $155,764  $167,721  $109,945
State taxes, net of

Federal benefit .. .. 4,136 8,526 13,333
Non-deductible

goodwill .. ... ... — — 1,834
State credits ........ (10,400) — —
Foreign income taxed

at rates other than

Federal .......... 9,470) (12,656) (14,534)
Other items, net. . ... . 2,986 4,131 1,718
Provision for income

taxes . ........... $143,016 $167,722  $112,296

NOTE I—Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases: Office Depot leases facilities and
equipment under agreements that expire in various years
through 2029. Substantially all such leases contain provisions
for multiple renewal options. In addition to minimum rentals,
there are certain executory costs such as real estate taxes,
insurance and common area maintenance on most of our facility
leases. Certain leases contain provisions for additional rent to
be paid if sales exceed a specified amount, though such pay-
ments have been immaterial during the years presented.
The table below shows future minimum lease payments due
under non-cancelable leases as of December 27, 2003. These
minimum lease payments include facility leases that were
accrued as store closure costs.

(Dollars in thousands)

2004 . . $ 382,944
2005 . . e 327,808
2006 . . . 277,635
2007 . e 241,722
2008 . . 207,374
Thereafter. . ........... ... ... ... . ..... 850,377
B 2,287,860

Less subleaseincome . . ........covonin. 71,417
$2,216,443

The Company is in the process of opening new stores and
CSCs in the ordinary course of business, and leases signed
subsequent to December 27, 2003 are not included in the
above described commitment amounts. Rent expense, includ-
ing equipment rental, was approximately $424.7 million,
$402.6 million and $396.4 million in 2003, 2002, and 2001,
respectively. Rent expense was reduced by sublease income of
approximately $3.1 million in 2003, $2.9 million in 2002 and
$3.0 million in 2001.
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Guarantee of Private Label Credit Card Receivables:
Office Depot has private label credit card programs that are
managed by a third-party financial services company. The
Company acts as the guarantor of all loans between our com-
mercial customers and the financial services company. The
difference between the transfer amount and the amount
received is recognized in store and warehouse operating and
selling expense. Maximum exposure to off-balance sheet
credit risk is represented by the outstanding balance of private
label credit card receivables, less reserves held by the finan-
cial services company which are funded by us. At December
27, 2003, the transferred amount totaled approximately
$263.4 million. The fair value liability associated with risk of
loss is included in accrued expenses.

Other: We are involved in litigation arising in the normal
course of business. In our opinion, these matters will not mate-
rially affect our financial position or results of operations.

NOTE J—Employee Benefit Plans
Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan

The Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, which was approved
by the Company’s stockholders, became effective October 1,
1997. This plan provides for the grants of stock options and
other incentive awards, including restricted stock, to directors,
officers and key employees. Under this plan, stock options
must be granted at an option price that is greater than or equal
to the market price of the stock on the date of the grant. If an
employee owns at least 10% of the Company’s outstanding
common stock, the option price must be at least 110% of the
market price on the date of the grant. Options granted under
this plan become exercisable from one to five years after the
date of grant, provided that the individual is continuously
employed with the Company. All options granted expire no
more than 10 years following the date of grant.

To date under this plan, 391,193 shares of restricted stock
were issued at no cost to the employees, 68,565 of which have
been canceled and 140,000 remain outstanding but restricted.
The fair market value of these awards was approximately $5.0
million at the date of the grants. Restricted stock issued under

this plan may have vesting periods of up to four years from
the date of grant. Compensation expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period.

In April 2002, stockholders approved an amendment to
the plan allowing the Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors to grant performance-based shares to our senior
executives and directors. Performance-based shares are used
as an incentive to increase shareholder returns with actual
awards based on the Company’s Total Shareholder Return
over a three-year period, compared against the industry peer
group. Compensation expense for the anticipated number of
shares to be issued, if any, will be recognized over the vesting
period. Depending on actual Company performance, shares
issued may be more or less than amounts assigned. As of
December 27, 2003, target awards of 244,250 shares have been
assigned, but no performance-based shares have been issued.

Tax benefits are recorded based on an estimate of stock
options activity. Each year, the prior year’s estimated tax ben-
efit is adjusted based on the actual stock sold during the year.
Tax benefits received in excess of compensation expense
recorded on nonqualified stock options are credited to addi-
tional paid-in capital.

Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan

Prior to our merger with Viking Office Products (“Viking™)
in 1998, Viking’s Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan allowed
awards of up to 2,400,000 restricted shares of common stock to
key Viking employees. Under this plan, 1,845,000 shares were
issued at no cost to employees, of which 1,395,000 have been
canceled or the restrictions satisfied, leaving 450,000 restricted
shares outstanding. Pursuant to the merger agreement, shares
issued under this plan were converted to Office Depot com-
mon stock, and no additional shares may be issued under the
plan. The fair market value of these restricted stock awards
was approximately $10.0 million at the date of the grants.
Prior to the merger, the vesting period was 15 years. Because
of the plan’s change in control provision, however, the
employees now vest in their stock ratably over the 15-year
period. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period.

A summary of the status of and changes in our stock option plans for the last three years is presented below.

2003 2002 2001
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year. . . . . 31,499,632 $14.36 35,750,521 $13.46 36,406,229 $12.81
Granted. . ........ .. ... .. ....... 5,679,500 11.46 6,926,250 16.39 7,509,000 10.63
Canceled....................... 2,875,713) 14.44 (3,014,831 14.74 (2,642,428) 13.99
Exercised . ..., ... ... ... .. ... (4,850,481) 9.50 (8,162,308) 10.80 T (5,522,280) 7.93
Qutstanding at end of year . ........ 29,452,938 $14.60 31,499,632 $14.69 35,750,521 $13.46

As of December 27, 2003, the weighted average fair values, as calculated under the Black Scholes option pricing model, of

options granted during 2003, 2002, and 2001 were $4.17, $6.38, and $4.21, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information about options outstanding at December 27, 2003.

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average
Remaining Weighted Weighted
Range of Number Contractual Life Average Number Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding (in years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$443-3664............... 239,260 6.0 $ 635 237,260 $ 635
6.65- 997 ............... 4,265,349 6.5 8.67 2,619,208 8.37
998-1496............... 9,064,961 6.0 11.68 4,044,775 11.84
1497- 2245 ............... 14,063,838 5.1 17.79 9,340,408 17.96
2246- 2500........... o 1,819,530 4.4 24.19 1,813,030 24.19
$443-82500............... 29,452,938 5.5 $14.89 18,054,681 $16.67

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which was approved
by the Company’s stockholders, permits eligible employees to
purchase our common stock at 85% of its fair market value. A
similar plan is available to employees in the United Kingdom.
Effective April 2002, essentially all share needs under this
plan are now satisfied through open market purchases.
However, the Company is authorized to issue up to 1,860,379
shares under this plan.

Retirement Savings Plans

The Office Depot Retirement Savings Plan, which was
approved by the Board of Directors, allows eligible employ-
ees to contribute up to 18% of their salary, commissions and
bonuses, up to $12,000 in 2003, to the plan on a pretax basis
in accordance with the provisions of Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. Employer matching contributions,
which are allocated in shares of Office Depot common stock,
are equivalent to 50% of the first 6% of an employee’s contri-
butions and within the limits of the plan. Discretionary match-
ing common stock contributions in addition to the normal
match may be made. 4Sure.com employees participate in the
Office Depot 401(k) plan. The 4Sure.com 401(k) plan will be
merged into the Office Depot 401(k) plan in 2004. The
Company also has a deferred compensation plan that permits
eligible employees who are limited in the amount they can
contribute to the 401(k) plan to alternatively defer compensa-
tion of up to 18% of their salary, commissions and bonuses to
~ this plan. Employer matching contributions to the deferred
compensation plan are the same as those under our 401(k)
Retirement Savings Plan described above. During 2003, 2002,
and 2001, $10.1 million, $8.4 million and $4.0 million,
respectively, was recorded as compensation expense for
Company contributions to these programs.

Pension Plans

The acquisition of Guilbert included two defined benefit
pension plans that cover a limited number of employees in
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Europe. The aggregate information for these foreign plans
from the date of acquisition is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003
Service cost. . oo vt e $ 3,404
Interestcost. .......co i 3,279
Expected return on plan assets. .. ........... (2,276)
Net periodic pension cost. ............... $ 4407
Changes in projected benefit obligation:
Obligation at acquisition date. . . ............ $142,313
Service CoSt. . .. v 3,404
Interestcost. . ..., 3,279
Member contributions . ................... 866
Benefitspaid .. ........... ... ... ..., (544)
Actuarial gain . .......... ... ... ... (7,570)
Currency translation. . . ............. ... ... 2,798
Obligation at October 31 . ................. 144,546
Changes in plan assets:
Fair value at acquisitiondate .. ............. 78,794
Actual return on planassets. .. ............. ‘ 5,009
Contributions. . . ............... R, 3,470
. Benefitspaid . ......... ... ... Lo (544)
Currency translation. . . ................... 1,623
Plan assets at October 31.................. 88,352
Plan assets less benefit obligation ........... (56,194)
Unrecognized gain. .. .................... (10,549)
-Post-valuation contributions. ... ............ 690
Currency translation. . .. .................. (3,923)
Net amount recognized at December 27, 2003.. $(69,976)
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The net unfunded amount is classified as a non-current
liability in the caption deferred taxes and other long-term lia-
bilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 27,
2003. Assumptions used in calculating the funded status
included: weighted average discount rate of 5.1%; average
salary increase of 4.35%; and expected average rate of return
on plan assets of 6.25%. The transition provisions of FAS
132, Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Post-
retirement Benefits, allow foreign plans until fiscal year 2004
to provide information about the anticipated timing of benefit
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payments and certain investment assumptions. This informa-
tion is not available for the acquired plans.

The purchase and sale agreement related to the Guilbert
acquisition included a provision whereby the seller is required
to pay to Office Depot the amount of unfunded benefit obliga-
tion as measured-at a future date, not to exceed five years fol-
lowing the acquisition. Because of the inability to reasonably
estimate the amount of that future payment, no receivable has
been recorded at December 27, 2003. The future settlement
will reduce goodwill when received.

NOTE K—Capital Stock
Preferred Stock

- As of December 27, 2003, there were 1,000,000 shares of
$0.01 par value preferred stock authorized of which none
were issued or outstanding.

Stockholder Rights Plan

Our stockholder rights plan (“the Plan”) was adopted by
the Board of Directors on September 4, 1996 and amended on
November 25, 2003. The Plan has certain anti-takeover provi-
sions that may cause substantial dilution to a person or group
that attempts to acquire the Company on terms not approved
by the Board of Directors. Under the Plan, each stockholder is
issued one right to acquire one one-thousandth of a share of
Junior Participating Preferred Stock, Series A at an exercise
price of $95.00, subject to adjustment, for each outstanding
share of Office Depot common stock they own. These rights
are only exercisable if a single person or company acquires
20% or more of our outstanding common stock or if an
announced tender or exchange offer would result in 20% or
more of our common stock being acquired. If the Company
were acquired, each right, except those of the acquirer, shall
have the right to receive the number of shares of common
stock in the Company having a then-current market value of
twice the exercise price of the right.

In addition, if the Company becomes involved in a
merger or other business combination where (1) the Company
is not the surviving company, (2) the Company’s common

stock is changed or exchanged, or (3) 50% or more of the -

Company’s assets or earning power are sold, then each right,
except those of the acquirer, will be exercisable for common
stock of the acquiring corporation having a market value of
~ twice the exercise price of the right. In addition, the Board of
Directors has the option of exchanging all or part of the rights
for an equal number of shares of common stock.

The Company may redeem the rights for $0.01 per right
at any time prior to an acquisition.

In response to a shareholder vote at the Company’s 2003
Annual Meeting, the Board of Directors adopted certain
amendments to the Plan, which became effective on November

25, 2003. Under the terms of this amendment, in the event of
a cash or marketable securities offer for all of the Company’s
common stock, and if requested to do so by the holders of at
least 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding stock, the
Board of Directors shall either call a special stockholder
meeting within 60 days to allow a vote on a resolution to
redeem the rights or the rights automatically will be redeemed.
There are certain other conditions on what constitutes a
“Qualifying Offer” which are detailed in the Company’s filings
on Form 8-K/A and Form 8-K with the SEC on November 25,
2003. The rights will expire on September 16, 2006, unless
earlier redeemed or exchanged.

Treasury Stock

. The Board of Directors has approved stock repurchases
of up to $50 million per year until cancelled by the Board,
subject to their annual review. Under these plans, the shares
and dollar amount of repurchases for the indicated years were:
2003—3.2 million shares, for $50.1 million; 2002—2.9 mil-
lion shares, for $45.9 million and; 2001—252,000 shares, for
$4.2 million.

NOTE L—Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during each period. Diluted
earnings per share reflects the impact of assumed exercise of
dilutive stock options and, prior to redemption in 2002, the net
impact of convertible subordinated notes.

The information required to compute basic and diluted
net earnings per share is as follows:
(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Basic:
Weighted average
number of common

shares outstanding. . . . . 309,699 306,778 298,054
Diluted:
Net earnings. . ....... $276,295 $310,708 $201,043

Interest expense related
to convertible notes, ‘
netoftax ......... —_ 4,795 7,238

$276,295 $315,503 $208,281

Adjusted net earnings . .

Weighted average
number of common

shares outstanding .. 309,699 306,778 298,054
Shares issued upon

assumed conversion

of convertible notes . . —_ 9,033 13,846

Shares issued upon
assumed exercise of ,
stock options . ..... 3,989 - 6,389 4,524

Shares used in computing
diluted net earnings
per common share . . ..

313,688 322,200 316,424
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For 2003, options to purchase 15.7 million shares of
common stock were not included in our computation
of diluted earnings per share because their effect would have

been anti-dilutive.

NOTE N—Segment Information

NOTE M—Supplemental Information on Operating,

Investing and Financing Activities

Additional supplemental information related to the

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is as follows:

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Cash paid for:

Interest . ........... $ 41,869 $ 47,114 $16,905

Taxes.............. 102,623 111,597 13,080
Non-cash asset additions

under capital leases . . . 10,664 10,395 8,256
Additional paid-in capital

related to tax benefit on

stock options exercised

(SeeNoteJ)......... 11,059 20,453 10,218

Office Depot operates in three reportable segments: North American Retail Division, Business Services Group (“BSG”), and
International Division. Each of these segments is managed separately primarily because it serves different customer groups. The
accounting policies for each segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies (see Note A).

The following is a summary of our significant accounts and balances by segment, reconciled to our consolidated totals.

North American International Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in thousands) Retail Division BSG Division and Other* Total

Sales $5,650,051 $3,965,271 $2,746,535 $ (3,291 $12,358,566
‘ 5,804,449 3,913,902 1,641,411 (3,129) 11,356,633
5,842,648 3,763,006 1,480,103 (3,645) 11,082,112
Segment Operating Profit $ 313,976 $ 387,887 $ 370,748 $ (705 $ 1,071,906
419,738 364,624 212,127 (647) 995,842
308,300 291,208 212,179 (655) 811,032
Capital Expenditures $ 58,272 $ 17262 $ 68532 $ 67875 $ 211941
50,149 28,524 67,551 55,994 202,218
76,337 44,087 57,509 30,123 208,056

Depreciation and Amortization $ 91,991 $ 35411 $ 39645 $ 81,298 $ 248,345 -
88,737 39,336 16,487 56,187 200,747
88,227 45,699 15,973 48,324 198,223
Charges for Losses on $ 56,857 $ 32,065 $ 29,360 — $ 118,282
Receivables and Inventories 36,627 36,991 19,602 — 93,220
35,739 53,712 19,239 — 108,690
Net Earnings from Equity — — $ 11,056 — $ 11,056
Method Investments — — 9,279 — 9,279
— — 10,892 — 10,892
Assets $1,551,734 $ 988,753 $2,255,846 $1,348,909 $ 6,145,242
1,653,524 1,063,700 771,734 1,276,854 4,765,812

*Amounts included in “Eliminations and Other” consist of inter-segment sales, which are generally recorded at the cost to the
selling entity, and assets (including all cash and equivalents) and depreciation related to corporate activities.

Office Depot 2003 / Form 10-K

52



OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Senior management evaluates the performance of each business segment based on segment operating profit, which is defined
as sales less cost of goods sold, and store and warehouse operating expenses. General and administrative expenses, financing costs
and certain other items currently are not allocated to the business segments because they are viewed as corporate. functions that
support all activities. However, with the growth in our e-commerce and the acquisition of Guilbert, our general and administrative
costs have increased substantially in recent years. Therefore, beginning in 2004, we plan to reclassify certain amounts previously
classified as general and administrative expenses into operating and selling expenses. We also plan to begin allocating costs where
appropriate to determine segment profitability. A reconciliation of the measure of segment operating profit to consolidated earn-
ings from continuing operations before income taxes follows.

(Dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Segment operating profit ... .. ... . . .. $1,071,906 $995,842 $811,032
{Add)/subtract:
General and administrative eXpenses .. ... ...ttt 578,840 486,279 445,538
Other Operating €XPerSes . . .« o v v vt ei e e e 22,809 © 9,855 12,125
Interest expense, net. ......... e 40,609 27,686 30,359
Miscellaneous (inCOME) EXPENSE . .« oo v vt n it ettt et ean s (15,392) (7,183) 9,057
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and

cumulative effect of accounting change . . . .. R $ 445,040 $479,205 $313,953

The Company sells office products and services through either wholly owned operations or through joint ventures or licensing
arrangements, in Austria, Belgium, Canada, Costa Rica, El Salvador, France, Germany, Guatemala, Hungary, Ireland, Israel, Italy,
Japan, Luxemboufg, Mexico, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Spain, Switzerland, Thailand, the United Kingdom and the United
States. There 13 no single country outside of the United States in which we generate 10% or more of our total revenues. Geographic
financial information relating to our business is as follows.

. Sales Property and Equipment

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002
United States . .............. PRI, $ 9,469,563 $ 9,575,457 $ 9,452,453 $ 839,242 $ 874247
_ International . . ....................... 2,889,003 1,781,176 1,629,659 405,053 243,815
Total....... ... .o $12,358,566 $11,356,633 $11,082,112 $1,244,295 $1,118,062
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

" NOTE O—~Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except per share amounts) First Quarter Second Quarter  Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
Fiscal Year Ended December 27, 2003
Netsales. . ...t $3,055,869 - $2,815,691 $3,235,580 $3,251,426
Gross profit. . ... . L 958,978 860,116 1,015,596 1,039,456
Earnings from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change . . .......... 103,935 59,629 . 91,666 46,794(2)
Netearmings . .. ..o ei i e 79,196(1) 59,629 91,666 45,804

Earnings per share from continuing operations
before cumulative effect of accounting change:

Basic. ... ... . . $ 0.34 $ 0.19 $ 0.30 $ 0.15

Diluted .. ... ..o 0.33 0.19 0.29 0.15
Net earnings per share: : »

Basic....... ... $ 0.26 $ 0.19 $ 0.30 $ 015

Diluted .. ....... ... . ' 0.25 0.19 0.29 0.15

Fiscal Year Ended December 28, 2002

Netsales. . ..ot $3,021,873 $2,622,259 $2,870,781 $2,841,720
Gross profit. . ... 876,096 763,397 850,429 844,048
Earnings from continuing operations. . .............. 102,062 56,869 87,131 65,421
Netearnings . ... ..o e 102,710 56,943 88,172 62,883
Earnings per share from continuing operations:

Basic ...... .. $ 0.34 $ 0.18 $ 0.28 $ 0.21

Diluted . ........ .. 0.32 0.18 0.27 0.21
Net earnings per share: '

Basic. .. .. S % 0.34 $ 0.19 $ 0.29 $ 0.20

Diluted .........co i 0.32 0.18 0.28 0.20

(1) Net earnings in the first quarter of 2003 includes a net charge of $25.9 million for the cumulative effect of adopting EITF 02-16.
-See Note C for further information.

(2) Earnings from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change in the fourth quarter of 2003 includes
pre-tax charges of $32.4 million to adjust our lease termination costs related to our stores closed in prior periods and our sale
or write-down of certain internet investments. See Note A for further information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors of Office Depot, Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Office
Depot, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company’’) as of December
217, 2003 and December 28, 2002 and the related consolidated
statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 27,
2003, and have issued our report thereon dated February 23,
2004 (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and
includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the entity’s
change in method of accounting for cooperative advertising
arrangements); such consolidated financial statements
and report are included in the Company’s Annual Report
to Stockholders for the fiscal year ended December 27, 2003
and are incorporated herein by reference. Our audits were
conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the
basic financial statements taken as a whole. The additional
information listed in the Index to the Financial Statement

55

Schedule is presented for the purpose of additional analysis
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
This additional information is the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Such information has been sub-
jected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the
basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated
in all material respects when considered in relation to the
basic financial statements taken as a whole.

DA+ Tohe 107

Certified Public Accountants
Miami, Florida
February 23, 2004
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INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULE

Page
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and RESEIVES. . . .. ..o\ttt i ittt it e e 57

All other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information is included elsewhere herein.
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SCHEDULE I
OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(In thousands)
Column A Column B Column C Column D - Column E
Deductions—
Balance at Additions— Write-offs, Balance at
Beginning Charged to Payments and End of
Description of Period Expense Other Adjustments Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
2003, .. $ 29,149 $ 25,645 $ 20,621 $ 34,173
2002, . 32,228 22,103 25,182 29,149
33,682 23,226 24,680 32,228
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Sequentially
Numbered
Exhibit Number Page
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended to date ¢))
3.2 Bylaws (10)
4.1 Form of Certificate representing shares of Common Stock
4.2 Exchange and Registration Rights Agreement dated August 11, 2003 by and among the Company and the
initial purchasers of the $400 million 6.250% Senior Notes due August 15, 2013 2
4.3 Indenture, dated as of August 11, 2003, for he $400 million 6.250% Senior Notes due August 15, 2013,
between the Company and SunTrust Bank (13)
4.4 Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of August 11, 2003, for the $400 million 6.250% Senior Notes .
due August 15, 2013, between the Company and SunTrust Bank (13)
4.5 Supplemental Indenture No. 2, dated as of October 9, 2003, for the $400 million 6.250% Senior Notes due
August 15, 2013, between the Company and SunTrust Bank (14)
4.6 Rights Agreement dated as of September 4, 1996, as amended and restated as of November 25, 2003, between
between Office Depot, Inc. and Mellon Investor Services, L.L.C., as Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit B
thereto the form of the Right Certificate ’ (14)
4.7 Indenture, dated as of July 2, 2001, between the Company and SunTrust Bank, N.A., relating to the 10% Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2008 (3)
10.01  Office Depot, Inc. Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan* ' )
- 10.02  1997-2001 Office Depot, Inc. Designated Executive Incentive Plan* (5)
10.03  Form of Indemnification Agreement, dated as of September 4, 1996, by and between Office Depot, Inc. and
each of David I. Fuente, Cynthia R. Cohen, W. Scott Hedrick, James L. Heskett, Michael J. Myers, Peter J.
: Sclomon, William P. Seltzer, and Thomas Kroeger 4
10.04 Executive Severance Agreement, including Release and Non-competition Agreement, dated September 19,
2000 by and between the Company and David I. Fuente (schedules and exhibits omitted)* (6)
10.05 Executive Employment Agreement dated January 30, 2001 by and between the Company and Jerry Colley* ()
10.06  Change of Control Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2001, by and between the Company and Jerry Colley* (8)
10.07  Change of Control Agreement, dated as of May 28, 1998, by and between the Company and Charles E. Brown* )
10.08 . Executive Employment Agreement dated October 8, 2001 by and between the Company and Charles E. Brown* (®)
10.09  Executive Employment and Change of Control Agreement dated as of December 29, 2001 by and between
the Company and M. Bruce Nelson* , 1an
10.10  Consulting Agreement dated as of March 1, 2002 by and between the Company and Irwin Helford* (11)
10.11 Executive Employment Agreement dated November 7, 2000 by and between the Company and Rolf
van Kaldekerken* i
10.12 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of November 7, 2000, by and between the Company and Rolf
van Kaldekerken* il
10.13  Executive Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2000 by and between the Company and David C. Fannin* i
i

10.14  Change of Control Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2000, by and between the Company and David C. Fannin*

10.15 Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of April 24, 2002 by and among the Company and Citibank, N.A., as
syndication agent, Fleet National Bank and BNP Paribas, as documentation agents, Salomon Smith Barney Inc.
and First Union Securities, Inc., as joint lead arrangers, Salomon Smith Barney Inc., as sole bookrunner, and
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (12}

14 Code of Ethics for the Company’s CEO, CFO, and Other Senior Executives :

211 List of the Company’s Significant Subsidiaries

23.1 Independent Auditors’ Consent

31.1 Certification of CEO required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a)

31.2 Certification of CFO required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a)

32 Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the .
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
FThis information appears only in the copy of this report filed electrdnically with the SEC.

=y




ey

2
3
)

®)
(6)

(7
®

®
(10)
an

(12)

(13)
(14)

INDEX TO EXHIBITS (Continued)

@

Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to the Proxy Statement for the Company’s 1995 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. ‘

Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 33-39473.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 25, 2003.
Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 27, 1997. )

Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to the Proxy Statement for the Company’s 1997 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. ‘
Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 28, 1996.

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), filed with the Commission on October 31, 2000.
Incorporated by reference to the respective exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 30, 2000.

Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to the Company’s Form S-4 Registration Statement No. 333-67620.
Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on November 2, 2001. .
Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 29, 2001,

Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission on May 1, 2002.
Incorporated by reference from the respective exhibit to the Company’s Form S-4 Registration Statement No. 333-108602.
Incorporated by reference from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the Commission-on October 27, 2003.

Upon request, the Company will furnish a copy of any exhibit to this report upon the payment of reasonable copying and

mailing expenses.
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Exhibit 14
CODE OF ETHICS FOR THE COMPANY’S CEO, CFO, AND OTHER SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Preamble

Office Depot, Inc. (the “Company”) recognizes that the quality, integrity and transparency of its financial statements are of
paramount importance in establishing and maintaining the trust and confidence in the Company, its Board of Directors and
Management on the part of stockholders, employees, the New York Stock Exchange, the financial community generally, and gov-
ernmental securities regulatory bodies.

Pursuant to the mandate of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Act”) and regulations of the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) promulgated pursuant to the authority and mandate of the Act, this Code of Ethics has been
adopted for our CEO, CFO, Controller, Division Presidents and Executive Vice Presidents of the Company (collectively the
“Senior Officers”).

Each of the Senior Officers of Office Depot, Inc. is bound by the following Code of Ethics. Each Senior Officer shall:

1. Be committed to the highest standards of honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent
conflicts of interest between their personal and professional relationships in the performance of their duties as Senior
Officers of the Company.

2. Be committed to the full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that the Company
files with, or submits to, the SEC and in other public communications made by the Company, of all information relating to
the Company, its financial condition and results of operations. '

3. Be committed to compliance with all applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations relating to the conduct of the
businesses of the Company and to required reports regarding the financial condition and results of business operations of
the Company, including the laws of all countries in which the Company operates.

4. Act in good faith, responsibly, with due care, competence and diligence, without misrepresenting material facts or allowing
one’s independent judgment to be subordinated to any personal interest.

5. Respect the confidentiality of information acquired in the course of serving as a Senior Officer of the Company except when
authorized or otherwise legally obligated to make disclosure. Confidential information shall not be used for personal advantage.

6. Report violations of this Code of Ethics to the General Counsel and/or the Vice President, Internal Audit of the Company,
or directly to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company, as soon as practicable after learning of any
such violation.

7. Hold themselves accountable for adherence to this Code of Ethics, and understand that the Company’s Board of Directors
will hold them accountable, as Senior Officers of the Company, to this Code of Ethics. :
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L.IST OF THE COMPANY’S SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES

Name

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Eastman Office Supplies, Inc.

Guilbert SAS

OD International, Inc.

The Office Club, Inc.

Office Depot of Texas, L.P.

Office Depot International (UK) Limited
Viking Office Products, Inc.

Office Depot International BV

Delaware
France
Delaware
California
Delaware
United Kingdom
California
Netherlands
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Exhibit 23.1
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-62478 of Office Depot, Inc. on Form S-3 and
Registration Statements No. 333-45591, No. 333-59603, No. 333-63507, No. 333-68081, No. 333-69831, No. 333-41060, No.
333-80123 and No. 333-90305 of Office Depot, Inc. on Forms S-8 of our reports dated February 23, 2004 (which report expresses an
unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the entity’s change in method of accounting for cooperative
advertising arrangements) included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Office Depot, Inc. for the year ended December 27, 2003.

/s DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Certified Public Accountants -

Miami, Florida
February 25, 2004
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Bruce Nelson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Office Depot, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mate-
rial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the periods covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and pro-
cedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our con-
clusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

¢) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has mate-
rially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other Certifying Officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons per-
forming the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial report-
ing which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and ' '

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the reg-
istrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2004
/s! BRUCE NELSON

Bruce Nelson
Chief Executive Officer
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. Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

1, Charles E. Brown, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Office Depot, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mate-
rial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the periods covered by this annual report;

. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this annual report;

. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and pro-

cedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this annual report is being prepared,

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our con-
clusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has mate-
rially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

. The registrant’s other Certifying Officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons per-
forming the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial report-
ing which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the reg-
istrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2004
/s/ CHARLES E. BROWN

Charles E. Brown
Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
Certification of CEOQ and CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursunant to
: Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Office Depot, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended
December 27, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Bruce Nelson, as
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Charles E. Brown, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/s/ BRUCE NELSON

Name: Bruce Nelson
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 25, 2004

/s/ CHARLES E. BROWN

Name: Charles E. Brown
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 25, 2004

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of §18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. '
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Date
Time

Location

Items of Business

Record Date

Annual Report

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
2200 OLD GERMANTOWN ROAD
- DELRAY BEACH, FLORIDA 33445
NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Friday, May 14, 2004
10:00 a.m. Local Time

Renaissance Boca Hotel
2000 N.W.19th Street

Boca Raton, FL 33431-7362
(561) 368-5252

1. To elect twelve (12) members of the Board of Directors for the term described in this proxy statement;

2. To request that our shareholders approve an increase of Fifteen million shares to the shares available
for grants and awards under our Long Term Equity Incentive Plan (*‘Stock Option Plan”);

3. To ratify our Audit Committee’s appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as independent public

accountants for the term described in this proxy statement;
4. To transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

You must own shares of Office Depot common stock as of the close of business on March 10, 2004 (the
“Record Date”) to attend and vote at our Annual Meeting and any adjournment thereof. .

Our 2003 Annual Report is enclosed with these proxy materials.

By order of the Board of Directors,

David C-Fannin
Executive Vice President,
General Counsel & Corporate Secretary

Delray Beach, Florida; April 1, 2004

Please note that for security reasons, we will require that you present the admission ticket included with this proxy state-

ment. We will require positive picture identification from all attendees at our Annual Meeting. We reserve the right to.
exclude any person whose name does not appear on our official shareholder list as of our record date of March 10, 2004. If

you hold shares in “street name’’ and do not have a ticket, please bring a letter from your stockbroker, or a current broker-

age statement, to indicate that the broker is holding shares for your benefit. We also reserve the right to request any person

to leave the Annual Meeting who is disruptive, refuses to follow the rules established for the meeting or for any other reason.

Cameras, recording devices and other electronic devices, signs and placards will NOT be permitted at the meeting,
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Proxy Statement For The
2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Office Depot, Inc.

2200 OLD GERMANTOWN ROAD
DELRAY BEACH, FLORIDA 33445
TELEPHONE (561) 438-4800

This proxy statement contains important information about our 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be held on May 14,
2004. We are mailing this proxy statement and accompanying proxy card to our shareholders on or about April 1, 2004.

Purposes of the Meeting. Our Annual Meeting will consider important matters outlined in the Notice of this Meeting. We have
mailed these proxy materials to you in connection with the solicitation of proxies by our Board of Directors (our “Board”). Our
Board asks that you authorize your proxy to vote as they recommend.

Voting your Shares. If you cannot attend the Meeting in person, you may vote your shares: (1) by completing, signing and
returning your proxy card to us in the enclosed postage-paid envelope; (2) by voting electronically using a touch-tone telephone
(1-800-435-6710); or (3) by using the Internet to vote your shares (www.eproxy.com/odp). ¥f your shares are held in “street name”
with a broker or similar party, you will need to contact your broker to determine whether you will be able to vote using one of
these alternative methods. If you vote over the Internet, you may incur costs such as telephone and Internet access charges for
which you will be responsible. If you choose to use the Internet or telephone to vote, you must do so by 4:00 p.m. Eastern time on
May 13, 2004,

OUR BOARD RECOMMENDS that you vote FOR its nominees as directors of the Company as described in Item 1, and
that you vote FOR the request to approve an increase in the number of shares authorized under our Long-Term Equity
Incentive Plan, described in Item 2, and that you vote FOR the ratification of our Audit Committee’s appointment of
Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent accountants as described in Item 3.

Proxies. Our Board has appointed certain persons (“proxies”) to vote proxy shares in accordance with the instructions of our
shareholders. If you authorize the proxies to vote your shares, but do NOT specify how your shares should be voted, they will vote
your shares as our Board recommends. If any other matters are presented for consideration at our Annual Meeting, your shares
also will be voted as our Board recommends. You can change or revoke your proxy, (1) by mailing your request to our Corporate
Secretary at our corporate headquarters so that it is received not later than 4:00 p.m., on May 13, 2004, (2) by filing a proxy with
a later date, or (3) by voting your shares by ballot in person at the Annual Meeting.
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Solicitation of Proxies. In addition to soliciting proxies by
mail, we may also solicit proxies in person, by telephone or
over the Internet. Our employees do not receive additional
compensation for their solicitation services. Certain banking

institutions, brokerage firms, custodians, trustees, nominees ..
and fiduciaries who hold shares for the benefit of another

party (the “beneficial owner”) may solicit proxies for us. If so,
they will mail proxy information to, or otherwise communi-
cate with, the beneficial owners of shares of our common
stock held by them. We have also hired Mellon Investor
Services LLC (“MIS”) to assist us in communicating with
these institutions and forwarding solicitation materials to
them, and we have agreed to pay MIS a fee of $13,500 plus
reimbursement of their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in
connection with this service. We will also reimburse broker-
age firms and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for
their expenses incurred in sending proxies and proxy materi-
als to beneficial owners of our common stock.

Shareholders Eligible to Vote at Our Annual Meeting; List
of Shareholders Available. Owners of our common stock as
of the close of business on March 10, 2004 (the “Record
Date”) will be entitled to vote at our Annual Meeting. Our
official stock ownership records will conclusively determine
whether you are a “holder of record” as of the Record Date. A
list of shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting will be
available at our Annual Meeting and for ten days prior to the

meeting between the hours of 9 a.m. and 4 p.m. Eastern Time

at our corporate headquarters in Delray Beach, Florida. As of
March 10, 2004, there were 311,657,517 shares of common
stock issued by Office Depot and owned by shareholders (i.e.
excluding shares held in treasury by Office Depot). Each
share of common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter
considered at our Annual Meeting.

Establishing a Quorum. In order for us to transact business
at our Annual Meeting, the holders of the majority of the out-
standing shares of our stock must be present, either in person
or by proxy. Shareholders choosing to abstain from voting and
broker “non-votes” will be treated as present and entitled to
vote for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present.
Abstentions and broker “non-votes” will not be counted as a
vote “for” or “against” any matter. However, abstentions will
have the same effect as voting “no” or against a matter voted
on at our Meeting which requires the affirmative vote of a
majority of the shares present and voting. Broker non-votes
will not be counted as shares entitled to vote and, accordingly
will not affect the outcome with respect to any matter .to be
voted on at the meeting.

Householding of Annual Disclosure Documents. The
Securities and Exchange Commission has approved a rule con-
cerning the delivery of disclosure documents, called “house-
holding.” Under that rule, certain, banks, brokers and other
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intermediaries have arranged for a single set of our annual
report and proxy statement to be delivered to multiple share-
holders sharing an address unless those banks, brokers and
other intermediaries have received contrary instructions from
one or more of the shareholders. The rule applies to our
annual reports and proxy statements. Each shareholder will
continue to receive a separate proxy card or voting instruction
card. We will deliver promptly upon written or oral fequest a
separate copy of this proxy statement and annual report to a
shareholder at a shared address to which a single copy of the
document was sent. If you would like to receive your own
set of such documents in future years, contact us by calling
or writing to our Department of Investor Relations at our
Corporate Headquarters at: 2200 Old Germantown Road,
Delray Beach, FL 33445 or call us at: 800-937-3600 x87641.
Two or more shareholders sharing an address can request
delivery of a single copy of our annual disclosure documents
if they are receiving multiple copies by contacting us in the
same manner. If a broker or other nominee holds your shares,
please contact ADP and inform them of your request by
calling them at: (800) 542-1061 or writing to them at:
Householding Department, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY
11717. Please be sure to include your name, the name of your
brokerage firm, and your account number.

Matters to be Considered
by Our Shareholders

Item 1: Election of Directors

Nominees for Directors of Office Depot

Twelve (12) individuals have been nominated for election as
directors at our Annual Meeting, to serve for a term of office
that continues from the date and time of their election until
our next Annual Meeting of Shareholders, or until their suc-
cessors are elected and qualified. The 12 nominees for direc-
tors who receive the highest'number of votes cast at our
Meeting will be elected. All of our directors form a single
class of directors. Information about these individuals, their
business experience and other relevant information is set forth
below. The Company expresses its deep appreciation to sev--
eral directors who have decided not to seek re-election at our
2004 Annual Meeting: Cynthia R. Cohen, Bruce Gordon,
Frank Scruggs and Peter Solomon. We thank all of them for
their dedicated service on our Board.

Lee A. Ault IIT Neil R. Austrian
Abelardo E. Bru David I. Fuente
Myra M. Hart W. Scott Hedrick
Patricia A. McKay Michael J. Myers

David W. Bernauer
Brenda J. Gaines
James L. Heskett
Bruce Nelson




Should any of these nominees become unable to serve (for
example, if any of them should become ill or incapacitated or
should die), our Corporate Governance & Nominating Com-
mittee may propose a substitute nominee. If a substitute nom-
inee is named, all proxies voting FOR these nominees will be
voted for the substitute so named (unless you specify on your
proxy card to withhold voting for such person). If a substitute
nominee is not named, all proxies will be voted for the elec-
tion of the remaining nominees (or as directed on your proxy
card). In no event will more than twelve (12) d1rectors be
elected at our Annual Meeting.

Your Board of Directors Recommends a Vote FOR
Item 1 on Your Proxy Card-—Election of all Nominees
Listed Above as Directors

Biographical Information on the Candidates

Lee A, Ault 111 Age: 67
Mr. Ault has served as one of our directors since August 1998.
He is currently Chairman of the Board of In-Q-Tel, Inc., an
information technology company. Mr. Ault served as Chief
Executive Officer of Telecredit, Inc., a payment services
company, from November 1968 until January 1992. He also
was President of Telecredit, Inc. from 1968 until 1983 and
Chairman of the Board from 1983 until January 1992.
Telecredit, Inc. was merged into Equifax, Inc. in December
1990. Since 1990, Mr. Ault has served as a director of
Equifax, Inc. He served as a director of Viking Office
Products, Inc. (*Viking”) from 1992 until August 1998 when
we merged with Viking. He also is a director of American
Funds Insurance Series, a private investment management
company and Anworth Mortgage Asset Corporation, a real
estate investment trust.

Neil R. Austrian Age: 64
Mr. Austrian has served as one of our directors since August
1998. Mr. Austrian served as President and Chief Operating
Officer of the National Football League from April 1991 until
December 31, 1999. He was a Managing Director of Dillon,
Read & Co. Inc. from October 1987 until March 1991. Mr.
Austrian served as a director of Viking from January 1988
until August 1998 when we merged with Viking. He also
serves as a director of Hughes Electronics, -a publicly traded
company.

David W. Bernauer Age: 59
Mr. Bernauer is a candidate to serve as a director of our
Company for the first time in 2004. He has served since
2003 as Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer of
Walgreen Company, the nation’s largest drugstore chain. From
2002 to 2003 he served as President & CEO of Walgreen;
from 1999 to 2002 as President & COO of Walgreen, and he
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“Abelardo (Al) E. Bru
"~ Mr. Bru is a candidate to serve as a director of our Company

- has served in various management positions, with increasing

areas of responsibility at Walgreen since 1966. He serves as a
member of the Board of Walgreen Company.

Age: 55

for the first time in 2004. He has served since February 2003
as Chairman & Chief Executive Officer of Frito-Lay North
America. Frito-Lay North America is an $8.5 billion division
of PepsiCo, Inc. and the largest snack-food maker in the world.
He joined Frito-Lay in 1999 as President & Chief Executive
Officer. Prior to joining Frito-Lay, Mr. Bru served in various
capacities for Sabritas, a subsidiary of PepsiCo and the largest
snack food maker in Mexico, from 1992 to 1999. Mr. Bru has
served in various senior international positions with PepsiCo
Foods International since joining PepsiCo in 1976.

David I. Fuente Age: 58
Mr. Fuente has been a director since he joined Office Depot in
December 1987 and until December 29, 2001, he served as
Chairman of our Board, when he was succeeded in that capac-
ity by our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Bruce
Nelson. Until July 17, 2000, Mr. Fuente also served as Chief
Executive Officer of our Company. He is a director of Ryder
System, Inc., and Dick’s Sporting Goods, both publicly traded
companies.

Brenda J. Gaines Age: 54
Ms. Gaines has been a director of our Company since February
2002. Ms. Gaines has served since 1999 as North American
President of Diners Club International, a Division of Citigroup.
From 1994 until 1999, she served as Executive Vice President,
Corporate Card Sales for Diners Club International, and prior to
that she served in various positions of increasing responsibility
within Citigroup or its predecessor corporations from 1988.
From 1985 to 1987, Ms. Gaines was Deputy Chief of Staff for
the Mayor of the City of Chicago. She serves on the Boards of
the Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Boys and Girls Clubs, Junior
Achievement and the Chicago Museum of Science and
Industry, all non-profit organizations in the City of Chicago.

Myra M. Hart Age: 62
Doctor Hart is a candidate to serve as a director of our
Company for the first time in 2004. From 1995 to the present
time, she has served, and currently serves, as Professor,
Entrepreneurial Management at the Harvard Business School. -
From 1985 until 1990, Dr. Hart was employed by Staples, Inc.
in various management capacities, with a primary emphasis
on strategic planning and growth implementation in new and
existing markets. She is Chairwoman of the Center for
Women'’s Business Research, a Trustee of Cornell University,
and a member of the Committee of 200.
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W. Scott Hedrick Age: 58
Mr. Hedrick has been a director of our Company since April
1991. From November 1986 until April 1991, he was a direc-
tor of The Office Club, Inc., which has been our subsidiary
since April 1991, when Office Depot acquired it. He was a

founder and has been a general partner of InterWest Partners, -

a venture capital fund, since 1979. Mr. Hedrick is also a direc-
tor of Golden State Vintners, Inc. and Hot Topic, both publicly
traded companies.

James L. Heskett Age: 70
Mr. Heskett has served as one of our directors since May 1996.
Mr. Heskett has served on the faculty of the Harvard University
Graduate School of Business Administration since -1965. He
has taught courses in marketing, business logistics, the man-
agement of service operations, business policy and service
management. He is also a director of Limited Brands, a publicly
held company and Intelliseek, Inc., a privately held company.

Patricia A. McKay Age: 45
Ms. McKay is a candidate to serve as a director of our
Company for the first time in 2004. She has served since 2003
as Chief Financial Officer of Restoration Hardware, Inc. a
California-based public company that is a specialty retailer of
high-quality home furnishings, decorative accessories and
hardware. From 1997 until 2003, she was Senior Vice President,
Finance, for AutoNation, Inc., the nation’s largest retailer of
automobiles, with sales of nearly $20 billion. From 1988 until
1996, Ms. McKay served in various financial positions for
Dole Food Company, Inc., culminating in the position of Vice
President Finance & Controller, a position she held from 1993
until 1996.

Michael J. Myers Age: 63
Mr. Myers has served as one of our directors since July 1987.
He is the President and a director of First Century Partners
Management Company, an advisor to private venture capital
equity funds. He is also president and a director of Salomon
Smith Barney Venture Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of
Smith Barney Holdings, Inc., which acts as the managing gen-
eral partner of two private venture capital equity funds. From
1976 until January 1992, he was a Managing Director of
Smith Barney, Harris Upham & Co., Inc.

Bruce Nelson Age: 59
Mr. Nelson has been Chairman of our Board of Directors since
December 29, 2001 and our Chief Executive Officer since
July 17, 2000. Previously, he served both as President of
Office Depot International and as President and Chief
Operating Officer of our subsidiary, Viking Office Products,
Inc. He has been one of our directors since he joined us in
August 1998. From January 1996 until August 1998, he
served as President and as a Director of Viking. From July
1995 until January 1996, Mr. Nelson was Chief Operating
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Officer of Viking, and from January 1995 until July 1995, he
was Executive Vice President of Viking. From 1990 until July
1994, Mr. Nelson was President and Chief Executive Officer
of BT Office Products USA. He had previously worked for
over 22 years at Boise Cascade Office Products in a number
of executive positions.

How Nominees To Our Board Are Selected

Candidates for election to our Board of Directors are nominated
by our Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee (the
“Committee” or the “Nominating Committee™) and ratified by
our full Board of Directors for nomination to the shareholders.
The Committee operates under a charter, which is available on
our corporate website at www.officedepot.com. You will find
the charter of the Committee and the charters of all of our
other Board committees under the headings “Company
Information, Investor Relations, Corporate Governance.” A
copy of the charter is available to all shareholders upon
request, addressed to the Secretary of our Company at our
address provided elsewhere in this proxy statement. All mem-
bers of the Committee are Independent under the standards
established by the New York Stock Exchange.

Our Nominating Committee will give due consideration to
candidates recommended by shareholders. Shareholders may
recommend candidates for Nominating Committee considera-
tion by submitting such recommendation directly to the Com-
mittee by mail or electronically, using the methods described
under the heading “Corporate Governance and Director Inde-
pendence; Communicating with our Board of Directors.” In
making recommendations, shareholders should be mindful of
the discussion of minimum qualifications set forth in the fol-
lowing paragraph. However, just because a recommended
individual meets the minimum qualification standards does
not imply that the Committee necessarily will nominate the
person so recommended by a shareholder.

Our Nominating Committee believes that the minimum quali-
fications for serving on our board are that a nominee have
substantial experience in working as an executive officer for,
or serving on the board of a public company, or that he or she
demonstrates by significant accomplishment in another given
field of endeavor, whether in the for-profit or the non-profit
sectors, an ability to make a meaningful contribution to the
oversight and governance of a company having a scope and
size similar to our Company. A Director must have an exem-
plary reputation and record for honesty in his or her personal
dealings and business or professional activity, as confirmed by
a background and security check. All Directors should possess
a basic understanding of financial matters, have an ability to
review and understand the Company’s financial and other




reports, and to discuss such matters intelligently and effec-
tively. He or she also needs to exhibit qualities of independence
in thought and action. A candidate should be committed first
and foremost to the interests of the shareholders of the
Company. Persons who represent a particular special interest,
ideology, narrow perspective or point of view would not,
therefore, generally be considered good candidates for elec-
tion to our Board. In addition to these factors, our Committee
seeks to have a Board that represents diversity as to gender,
race and background experiences.

Our Nominating Committee identifies nominees in a number
of ways. One method is the recommendation of a sitting member
of the Board, who personally knows and has an understanding
of the qualifications of a proposed nominee. A second method
is an awareness of persons who are successful in business, the
non-profit sector or a profession, whether personally known to
a member of the Board or not. Such persons are contacted
from time to time to ask whether they would be willing to
serve. If they are willing, then the Committee conducts signifi-
cant amounts of due diligence to ensure that a nominee pos-
sess the qualifications, qualities and skills outlined above. The
Nominating Committee also from time to time engages search

73

firms to assist the Committee in identifying potential Board
nominees, and we pay such firms a fee for conducting such
searches. As mentioned above, our Nominating Committee
also is open to receiving recommendations from shareholders
as to potential candidates it might consider.

Our Nominating Committee engaged the professional search
firm Egon Zehnder to assist it in recruiting new Board nomi-
nees for our 2004 Annual Meeting. Egon Zehnder was
engaged directly by our Nominating Committee, and the Com-
mittee was responsible for oversight of the work of this firm.
The Committee reviewed a number of potential candidates,
and following several rounds of evaluation and interviews,
David Bernauer, Abelardo Bru, Myra Hart and Patricia McKay
were nominated to our Board by our Nominating Committee,
and the Board in turn has provided those nominations to our
shareholders.
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Committees of Our Board

Our Board has established four standing committees—(1) Audit, (ii) Compensation, (iii) Corporate Governance & Nominating and
(iv) Finance. Our Board met seven (7) times during fiscal 2003 and acted two (2) times by unanimous written consent. All of our
directors attended more than 75% of the total number of Board meetings and meetings of the committees on which they serve.

Committees

Membership at

December 31, 2003
[Proposed Membership for
2004 (Pending Election)]

- Functions (Highlights Only)
See Charters on our Website
for Further Explanation
of Committee Duties
and Responsibilities

Number of
Meetings or Actions
by Consent in 2003

Audit Committee®”

Compensation
Committee

Corporate Governance

& Nominating
Committee

Finance Committee

Michael J. Myers,
Chairman

Lee A. Ault III

Brenda J. Gaines

James L. Heskett

[Michael J. Myers,
Chair

Brenda J. Gaines

James L. Heskett

Patricia A. McKay] -

W. Scott Hedrick,
Chairman

Neil R. Austrian

Cynthia R. Cohen

Bruce S. Gordon

[Lee A. Ault ITI,
Chair

Neil Austrian

Al E. Bru

Myra Hart

‘Scott Hedrick]

James L. Heskett,
Chairman

Lee A. Ault III

Cynthia R. Cohen

[James L. Heskett,
Chair

Lee A. Ault III

Brenda J. Gaines

Scott Hedrick]

Neil Austrian,
Chairman

Bruce S. Gordon

Frank P. Scruggs, Jr.

. Peter J. Solomon

[Neil Austrian, Chair
David W. Bernauer
Al E. Bru

David Fuente]

1.

3.

Oversees financial reporting
process.

. Meets with internal and external

auditors regarding audit results.

. Engages and ensures independence

of our outside audit firm.

. Reviews effectiveness of internal

controls.

. Oversees compliance with Code of

Ethical Conduct.

. Approves salaries and incentive

compensation of elected officers,
as well as the compensation of
our Board members.

. Reviews compensation of certain

other executive management
employees.

. Administers employee benefit plans,

including our Long-Term Equity
Incentive Plan (stock option plan).

. Reviews management succession

planning.

. Reviews and makes recommendations

to the Board concerning the size and
composition of our Board and its
committees and the recruitment and
selection of directors.

. Nominates director candidates for

election at Annual Meetings.

. Reviews and makes recommendations

to the Board concerning corporate
governance policies and practices.

. Reviews our financial policies and

procedures.

. Reviews annual capital budgets and

major spending requests from
management.

Monitors our financial standing and
financial ratings.

. Reviews our long-range financial

objectives.

. Provides oversight and advice to

management regarding our capital
structure.

Met seven times during 2003.

Met two times during 2003.

Met six times during 2003.

Met six times during 2003.

(1) Our Board has reviewed and made the determinations required by the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange
(“*NYSE”) and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding the independence
of, and the financial literacy of, the members of our Audit Committee. In addition, our Board has determined that the
Chairman of our Audit Committee, Michael Myers, by virtue of his extensive career in business, including the securities
industry, and experience in the areas of investment banking, finance and business generally, qualifies as an “audit committee
financial expert” within the meaning of applicable regulations of the SEC, promulgated pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

- of 2002.
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Director Compensation

During 2003, our Directors who are not employees of ‘the
Company were paid an annual stipend of $50,000 and
received a fee of $1,000 for each Board meeting (up to one-
half day), $2,000 for any meeting which is longer than one
half day. Fees for telephonic meetings were $1,000. They also
were paid $1,000 for each Committee meeting ($1,500 for the
Committee Chair) attended by them. In addition, the Chair of
our Audit Committee received an additional annual stipend of
$25,000 for serving in that position, and the Chairs of our
other commitiees each received an additional annual stipend
of $15,000 for serving in their positions. They also were reim-
bursed for expenses incurred in such attendance. Additionally,
under our Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, the number of
stock options granted to our non-employee Directors and the
terms and provisions of these options are determined by our
Board’s Compensation Committee. Non-employee Directors
were awarded options to purchase 11,250 shares of our com-
mon stock in 2003. Non-employee Directors are permitted to
defer up to 100% of their compensation under a deferred com-
pensation plan.

Corporate Governance And Director Independence

Governance and Director Independence. Office Depot is
committed to principles of good corporate governance and the
independence of our Board of Directors from the management
of our company. All members of our Audit Committee, our
Compensation Committee and our Corporate Governance &
Nominating Committee have been determined by our Board
to be independent directors within the applicable listing stan-
dards of the New York Stock Exchange (the “Exchange”). Our
Board has reviewed the various relationships between mem-
bers of our Board and the Company and has affirmatively
determined that none of our Directors have material relation-
ships with Office Depot other than Mr. Nelson. All other
members of our Board are considered ‘independent directors’
under the listing standards of the Exchange. In addition, the
first-time nominees to our Board, Messrs. Bernauer and Bru
and Mesdames Hart and McKay, have all been determined to
be ‘independent directors’ under the listing standards of the
Exchange. If elected, all committees of our Company will be
comprised solely of independent directors. The basis for such
determination by our Board is either that the independent
director has no business relationship other than his or her
service on our Board, or that while an independent director
may have some involvement with a company or firm with
which our Company does business, our Board has determined
that such involvement is not material. None of our Directors
~ serve as an executive officer of a charitable organization to
which our Company made contributions during 2003, Mr.
Nelson does not sit on any of our Committees as an official
member, but attends all committee meetings ex officio. Our
former CEQ, Mr. Fuente, serves on the Finance Committee of
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our Board, which is not a committee mandated €ither by the
Exchange or by any legal or regulatory requirement. See

- description of the Finance Committee elsewhere in this proxy

Statemernt.

At each regular meeting of our Board of Directors, a private
session, without management present, is conducted by the
non-management members of our Board. Pursuant to our
Board governance procedures, the independent directors, as a
group, annually select one independent director as the “Lead
Director” for the purpose of setting the agenda and presiding
at these executive sessions. James L. Heskett currently serves
as Lead Director. '

Code of Business Conduct (Code of Ethical Behavior). Our
Board has adopted a Code of Ethical Behavior for all our
employees and our Directors. A copy of this Code may be
viewed at our corporate website, www.officedepot.com under
the headings “Company Information/Investor Relations/

" Corporate Governance/Code of Ethics.” In addition, a printed

copy of our Code of Ethical Behavior will be provided to any
shareholder upon request submitted to our Corporate Secretary
at the address listed elsewhere in this proxy statement.

Corporate Governance Guidelines. Our Board has adopted
Governance Guidelines for our Company. Those Guidelines
are attached to this proxy statement as Appendix A and also
may be viewed at our corporate website, www.officedepot.com
under the headings “Company Information/Investor Relations/

- Corporate Governance.” In addition, a printed copy of our

Governance Guidelines will be provided to any shareholder
upon request submitted to our Corporate Secretary at the
address listed elsewhere in this proxy statement.

Charters of our Board Committees. The Charters of our
Board Committees are available on our corporate website,
www.officedepot.com under the headings “Company
Information/Investor Relations/Corporate Governance.” The
amended and restated Charter of our Audit Committee also is
attached to this proxy statement as Appendix B. In addition,
printed copies of any of our Board Committee Charters will
be provided to any shareholder upon request submitted to our
Corporate Secretary at the Company’s address listed else-
where in this proxy statement.

Communicating With Qur Board Members

Our shareholders have several available options to communi-
cate directly with our Board of Directors. You may contact
any member (or all members) of our Board (including without
limitation the Lead Director or the non-management directors
as a group), any Board committee or any chair of any such
committee by mail or electronically. To communicate with our
Directors by mail, correspondence may be addressed to any
individual director, the non-management Directors
as a group, the Lead Director, any Board committee or any
committee chair by either name or title. All such mailings are

Office Depot 2003 / Proxy Statement



to be sent “c/o Corporate Secretary” at our corporate head-
quarters address, which is 2200 Old Germantown Road,
Delray Beach, FL 33445. To communicate with any of
our Directors electronically, shareholders should go to
our corporate website, www.officedepot.com. Under the head-
ings “Company Information/Investor Relations/Corporate
Governance/Communicating with our Board,” you will find a
form that may be used for writing an electronic message to
any individual director, the non-management Directors as a
group, the Lead Director, any Board committee or any com-
mittee chair by either name or title. Follow the instructions on
our website in order to send your message electronically. This
capability is anticipated to be available not later than June 1,
2004. In the interim, communications are limited to mail
deliveries in the manner described above.

All regular mail received as set forth in the preceding para-
graph will be examined by the office of our General Counsel
for the sole purpose of determining whether the contents actu-
ally represent a message to our Directors. The General
Counsel’s office will also examine the mailing from the stand-
point of security. Any contents that are not in the nature of
advertising, promotions of a product or service, or patently
offensive material will be forwarded promptly to the
addressee. In the case of the non-management directors as
a group (such as a committee of our Board), the General
Counsel’s office will make the contents available to each
Director who is a member of the group to which the envelope
is addressed.

In addition, any person who desires to communicate any mat-
ter specifically to our Audit Committee may contact the Audit
Committee by addressing a letter to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee, c/o Corporate Secretary, at our corporate head-
quarters address, which is 2200 Old Germantown Road, Delray
Beach, FL 33445, or electronically, at our corporate website,
www.officedepot.com under - the headings “Company
Information/Investor Relations/ Corporate Governance/
Communicating with our Board.” This capability is antici-
pated to be available not later than June 1, 2004. In the
interim, communications are limited to mail deliveries in the
manner described above. Communications to our Audit
Committee may be submitted anonymously, if sent by mail,
addressed to the Audit Committee Chair, in which event the
envelope will not be opened for any purpose, other than
appropriate security inspections. Otherwise, such mailing will
be forwarded directly to the Chair of our Audit Committee for
his or her review and follow-up action as he or she deems
appropriate.

It is our Board’s policy that each of our Directors shall attend
the Annual Meeting of our shareholders. All of our Directors
were in attendance at the 2003 Annual Meeting of our share-
holders.
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Item 2: Amendment of Our Long-Term Equity Incentive
Plan to Increase the Number of Shares Authorized for
Issuance under the Plan by 15,000,000 Shares to
62,068,750 Shares of Our Company’s Stock

Purpose of the Plan

Our Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) exists to
provide one important component of compensation for our
officers, directors and certain key employees. The Plan has
been adopted and previously approved by our shareholders
(including amendments to the Plan from time to time) for the
purpose of attracting, retaining and rewarding the best avail-
able persons for positions of substantial responsibility in our
Company. In addition, the Plan serves to align the interests of
our officers, directors and key employees with the interests of
our shareholders, since the benefits of the Plan are realized
generally only if the market price of our stock increases in the
marketplace. The Plan permits issuance of stock options (both
Incentive Stock Options and non-qualified stock options),
Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) and Restricted Shares
of our stock. Grants are made at the discretion of the
Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors, which
consists solely of independent directors of our Company.

Reasons for Proposed Amendment

For several reasons, the Compensation Committee has recom-
mended to our Board, and our Board now recommends to our
shareholders, that the number of shares authorized and avail-
able for issuance under the Plan be increased by 15 million
shares of stock, from 47,068,750 shares. of our stock to
62,068,750 shares. Of this total number (i.e. 47,068,750 total
authorized shares), we had shares available for issue as of our
fiscal year-end 2003 of 6,319,192 (or only approximately
13% of the currently authorized total shares under the Plan).
Also at our fiscal year-end, we had issued but unexercised
options outstanding of 29,452,938. The balance of shares
originally approved for issuance under the Plan have been
exercised, and the resulting shares of our stock are either
being held or have been sold.

In October 1998, our shareholders approved an amendment to
the Plan to increase the number of shares which may be
granted as awards under the Plan to 20,712,500. Pursuant to
the terms of the Plan, this number automatically increased to
31,068,750 as a result of the three for two stock split which
became effective April 1, 1999. In April 2000, our sharehold-
ers voted in favor of a Plan amendment to increase the number
of shares with respect to which awards may be granted under
the Plan to the current level of 47,068,750 shares.




In April 2002, our shareholders voted to amend the Plan to
provide for certain changes in the Plan that included allowing
for the grant to our executive officers and members of our
Board, as an alternative to traditional stock options (“TSO’s™),
certain performance-accelerated stock options (“PSO’s”),
~which have a longer vesting period and a shorter term than
TSO’s, but as to which the vesting may be accelerated upon
the occurrence of certain positive performance. achievements
by our Company. The creation of PSO’s by our Board (and
approval by our shareholders) was, in part, a response to the
fact that in recent years, a number of companies have imple-
mented various types of performance-based stock options.
Some of these plans utilize stock options granted at exercise
prices that are at a fixed amount or a fixed percentage above
the market price of the issuer’s stock on the date of grant.
Others use so-called performance-contingent options, where
the stock option is forfeited if a certain level of stock price
performance is not achieved. Yet others use what are referred
to as performance-accelerated stock options. These stock
options are issued at the market price on the date of grant, but
have a significantly longer vesting schedule than traditional
stock options. Vesting may be accelerated, however, if speci-
fied company performance criteria are met.

Our Compensation Committee and Board determined, and our
shareholders approved, Plan amendments to utilize the third
of these alternatives, or performance-accelerated stock
options, as a component of the stock option grants to our
Chairmtan and Chief Executive Officer, our Division
Presidents, our Executive Vice Presidents and our Directors.

Why Do We Need an Increase in the Number of Shares
Available for Awards Under the Plan?

Our Company has’ enjoyed considerable growth in the period
since 2000, when we last requested an increase in the number
of authorized shares under the Plan. For example, in 2003, we
substantially expanded our operations in Europe through the
acquisition of Guilbert, S.A., virtually doubling the size of our
business in Europe and establishing the Company as the lead-
ing reseller in the office supplies business in many key coun-
tries in Europe. In the same four-year period, our e-commerce
business worldwide has enjoyed spectacular growth to over
$2.6 billion in annual sales in 2003. With these expansions of
our business, we have added a number of key personnel,
including new country management leadership in Europe, e-
commerce management, and we anticipate continuing to add
personnel, particularly in Europe and in technical areas, such
as our IT organization and our rapidly expanding e-commerce
business. In addition, our contract business continues to grow,
and we expect to continue to add key managers in this area.

This dramatic increase in our overall business size, coupled
with ambitious plans for the future growth of our Company,
requires that we have sufficient shares authorized for issuance
to new key managers and other employees. If we do not add
sufficient capacity to the Plan, we may be unable to attract the
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right caliber of personnel to our Company or to retain the serv-
ices of key managers currently with our Company, including
key executives in recently-acquired businesses, which could
jeopardize the future growth prospects of our Company.

As a result of these factors, we have determined that we do
not currently have available a sufficient number of shares
authorized under the Plan to cover normally anticipated needs.
We believe at this time that an increase of 15 million shares,
from 47,068,750 shares to 62,068,750 authorized shares under
the Plan will be sufficient to cover our anticipated needs under
the Plan for the next several years, possibly until 2008. This is
consistent with our commitment to shareholders in 2000 that
the increase approved at that time would be sufficient for at
least three (3) years, which has turned out to be the case.

Steps Taken to Counter Dilution

Our Company is aware of the potential for dilution under the
Plan, as more shares are issued. To help counter this dilutive
effect, our Board has authorized in recent years a series of
stock repurchase plans, of approximately $50 million annu-

-ally, to offset dilution due to issuance of shares under the

Plan. In 2001-2002, we repurchased 3,154,031 of our shares
for this purpose, and in 2003, we repurchased 3,222,635 of
our shares for the same purpose. While future repurchases are
in the discretion of our Board of Directors, they have author-
ized an additional $50 million in repurchases in 2004, to
counter dilution by additional awards under the Plan.

Description of the Plan

General. The Plan, which our shareholders first approved
effective October 1, 1997, allows us to grant stock options,
stock appreciation rights (*“SARs”) in tandem with options,
restricted stock, performance awards and any combination of
the foregoing to directors, officers, key employees, and certain
other key individuals who perform services for our Company.
Stock options, as discussed above, now include either TSO’s
or PSO’s. The original purpose of adopting the Plan was to
incentivize eligible individuals to maximize shareholder value
and otherwise contribute to the success of our Company. The
Plan also enables us to attract, retain and reward the best
available persons for positions of substantial responsibility.

The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of
our Board. Because grants awarded under the Plan are made
entirely at the discretion of this Committee, the recipients,
amounts and values of future benefits to be received pursuant
to the Plan are not determinable. The shares of our Common
stock reserved for issuance pursuant to the Plan are subject to
adjustment in the event of a reorganization, recapitalization,
stock split, stock dividend or similar change in our corporate
structure or the outstanding shares of our common stock. Such
shares may be authorized and unissued or reacquired and held
as treasury shares.
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Eligibility. Our directors (whether or not employees), officers
and key employees, including those of our subsidiaries, who
are selected by our Compensation Committee are eligible to
receive grants pursuant to the Plan. However only our domes-
tic employees may receive grants of incentive stock options.
As of February 29, 2004, approximately 3,592 employees
were eligible to participate in the Plan.

Stock Options. Pursuant to the Plan, our Compensation
Committee may award grants of incentive stock options (*‘incen-
tive options”) conforming to the provisions of Section 422 of
the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code,” and other stock
options (“non-qualified options”). However, the number of
shares of our common stock underlying grants of options
and/or SARs made to any participant in any one-year shall not
exceed 2,000,000 shares. The exercise price of any option is
determined by our Compensation Committee in its discretion
at the time of the grant, but may not be less than 100% of the
fair market value of a share of our stock on the grant date. The
exercise price of an incentive option awarded to a person who
owns stock constituting more than 10% of the voting power of

our Company may not be less than 110% of such fair market

value on such date. The Plan also provides that no option or
SAR may be granted in substitution for a previously granted
option or SAR if the new award would have a lower option
exercise price or SAR appreciation base than the award it
replaces. In other words, stock option ‘repricing’ is not allowed
under the Plan.

The term of each option also is established by our Compen-
sation Committee, subject to a maximum term of ten years
from the date of grant (or five years from the grant date in the
case of an incentive option granted to a person who owns stock
constituting more than 10% of the voting power of Office
Depot). In addition, the Plan provides generally that all options
cease vesting on, and terminate 90 days after, the date on
which a grantee ceases to be a director, officer or employee of,
or to otherwise perform services for, Office Depot or its sub-
sidiaries, except for certain provisions applicable to Section 16
Officers and members of our Board of Directors, for whom a
longer period is allowed under certain circumstances, due to
such persons having restricted periods of time when they can
exercise stock options during their tenure with the Company.

The Plan also provides that unless our Compensation Com-
mittee decides otherwise:

(a) Upon a Plan grantee’s death while still an employee
of our Company, all of the grantee’s options become
fully vested and exercisable and remain so for 24
months after the date of death, provided that all
incentive options must be exercised within twelve
months of the grantee’s death or they will be treated
as non-qualified stock options under the plan;
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(b) Upon the retirement of a grantee, non-qualified
stock options vested as of the date of retirement will
remain exercisable for a period of 18 months after
retirement;

(c) Upon a grantee’s termination for cause (as defined
in the Plan), all options terminate immediately;

(d) Upon the voluntary separation of a Section 16 offi-
cer or a member of the Board of Directors of the
Company, all non-qualified stock options granted to
such person which are vested at the date of such
voluntary separation will remain exercisable for a
period of 18 months after such voluntary separation;
provided that the Section 16 officer or director has
had a period of service of five (5) years or Jonger as
an employee or director of the Company as of the
date of such voluntary separation (but in no event
beyond the termination date of the stock option pur-
suant to the terms of its original grant); '

(e) Upon the involuntary separation (including a termi-
nation for good reason, as defined in the Plan) of a
Section 16 officer or a member of the Board of
Directors, other than for cause (as defined in the
Plan), all non-qualified stock options granted to such
person which are vested at the date of such involun-
tary separation will remain exercisable for a period
of 18 months after such involuntary separation,
regardless of the period of service of such Section 16
officer or director of the Company (but in no event
beyond the termination date of the stock option pur-
suant to the terms of its original grant); and

(f) Upon a change in control of Office Depot, all options

become fully vested and exercisable.

Upon exercise of a SAR, the grantee will receive an amount in
cash and/or shares of our common stock equal to the differ-
ence between the fair market value of a share of our common
stock on the date of exercise and the ‘exercise price of the
SAR, multiplied by the number of shares as to which the SAR
is exercised.

Restricted Stock. Under the Plan, our Compensation
Committee also may award restricted stock subject to condi-
tions and restrictions, and for such duration (which shall be at
least twelve months except as other described below), as deter-
mined by the Committee in its discretion. Except as otherwise
provided by our Compensation Committee, all restrictions on
a grantee’s restricted stock will lapse immediately prior to a
change in control of our Company or at such time as the grantee
ceases to be a director, officer or employee of, or otherwise
perform services for us or one of our subsidiaries due to death
or retirement. Unless our Compensation Committee decides
otherwise, if a grantee ceases to serve as a director, officer or
employee of, or otherwise perform services for, our Company,
all of his or her restricted stock as to which the applicable
restrictions have not lapsed will be forfeited immediately.




Performance Awards. Our Compensation Committee may
grant performance awards contingent upon achievement of set
goals and objectives with respect to specified performance cri-
teria, such as return on equity, over a specified performance
cycle, as designated by the Committee. Performance awards
may include specific dollar-value target awards, performance
units, (the value of which is established by our Compensation
Committee at the time of grant) and/or performance shares,
the value of which is equal to the fair market value of a share
of our common stock on the date of grant. The value of a per-
formance award may be fixed or may fluctuate on the basis of
specified performance criteria. The number of shares of our
common stock or the amount of cash that can be granted to a
participant to satisfy a performance award in any one year
cannot exceed 100,000 shares or $2.0 million, respectively.

Except as otherwise provided by our Compensation Commit-
tee, in the event of a change in control of our.company, or if a
grantee ceases to be a director, officer or employee of, or oth-
erwise perform services for, Office Depot or its subsidiaries
due to death, or retirement, prior to completion of a perform-
ance cycle, the grantee will receive the portion of the perform-
ance award payable to him or her based upon the achievement
of the applicable performance criteria over the elapsed portion
of the performance cycle. If a grantee ceases to be a director,
officer or employee of, or otherwise perform services for us or
one of our subsidiaries for any other reason prior to comple-
tion of a performance cycle, the grantee will become ineligi-
ble to receive any portion of a performance award.

Vesting. The terms and conditions of each award made
under the Plan, including vesting requirements, will be set
forth, consistent with the Plan, in a written document provided
to each grantee. Unless our Compensation Committee deter-
mines otherwise, no award under the Plan may vest and
become exercisable within twelve months of the date of grant;
other than immediately prior to a change in control of our
Company and in certain other circumstances upon a partici-
pant’s termination of employment or performance of services
as described above.

Transferability. Unless our Compensation Committee deter-
mines otherwise, no award made pursuant to the Plan will be
transferable otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and
distribution, and each award may be exercised only by the
grantee or his or her guardian or legal representative.

Amendment and Termination of the Plan. No options may be
granted under the Plan after the close of business on September
30, 2007 and the Plan may be terminated by our Board at any
time. Our Compensation Committee, with concurrence of the
Board, may amend the Plan in its discretion, except that no
amendment will become effective without the approval of our
shareholders if such approval is necessary for continued com-
pliance with the performance-based compensation exception
of Section 162(m) of the Code or any stock exchange listing
requirements.
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Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan

The following discussion is intended only as a brief summary
of the federal income tax rules relevant to options or shares
issued under the Plan, as based upon the Code as gurrently in
effect. These rules are highly technical and subject to change
in the future. Because federal income tax consequences will
vary as a result of individual circumstances, grantees should
consult their personal tax advisors with respect to the tax con-
sequences associated with stock options. Moreover, the fol-
lowing summary relates only to grantees’ United States federal
income tax treatment, and the state, local and foreign tax con-
sequences may be substantially different. Certain Plan partici-
pants are residents of foreign countries. These grantees are
provided country-specific tax summary information. at the
time they receive grants under the Plan.

Non-Qualified Options. A grantee does not recognize any
taxable income, and we are not entitled to a tax deduction, upon
the grant of a non-qualified option. Upon the exercise of a
non-qualified option, the grantee recognizes ordinary income
(subject to wage and employment tax withholding) equal to
the excess of the fair market value of our common stock
acquired over the option exercise price. A grantee’s basis in
the stock received is equal to such stock’s fair market value on
the date of exercise. We are entitled to a tax deduction equal to
the compensation taxable to the grantee.

If a grantee sells our common stock acquired pursuant to the
exercise of a non-qualified option, the grantee will recognize
capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the selling
price of the stock and the grantee’s basis in the stock. Capital
gains are currently taxed at a maximum rate of 15% in the
case of stock held for more than 12 months, and 35% in the
case of stock held for not more than 12 months. The capital

~ gain holding period will begin on the exercise date. We are not

entitled to any tax deduction with respect to any capital gain
recognized by the grantee.

Capital Josses on the sale of stock may be used to offset capi-
tal gains. If capital losses exceed capital gains, then up to
$3,000 of the excess losses may be deducted from ordinary
income. Remaining capital losses may be carried forward to
future tax years.

Incentive Options. An optionee does not recognize taxable
income on the grant or exercise of an incentive option.:
However, the excess of the stock’s fair market value on the
exercise date over the option exercise price will be included in
the grantee’s alternative minimum taxable income and thereby
may subject the grantee to an alternative minimum tax. Such
alternative minimum tax may be payable even though the.
grantee receives no cash upon the exercise of his or her incen-
tive option with which to pay such tax.

Upon the disposition of shares of our common stock acquired
pursuant to the exercise of an incentive option, if such shares
are held for (i) more than one year after the date of exercise,
and (ii) more than two years after the grant date (the “Required
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Holding Periods™), the grantee recognizes capital gain or loss,
as the case may be, measured by the difference between the
stock’s selling price and the exercise price. We are not entitled
to any tax deduction by reason of the grant or exercise of an
incentive option, or a disposition of stock received upon the
exercise of an incentive option after the Required Holding
Periods have been satisfied.

If a grantee disposes of shares of our common stock acquired
pursuant to the exercise of an incentive option before the expi-
ration of the Required Holding Periods (a “Disqualifying
Disposition™), the difference between the exercise price of
such shares and the lesser of (i) the fair market value of such
shares upon the date of exercise or (ii) the selling price, will
constitute compensation taxable to the grantee as ordinary
income. We would be allowed a corresponding tax deduction
equal to the amount of compensation taxable to the grantee. If
the selling price of the stock exceeds the fair market value on
the exercise date, the excess will be taxable. to the grantee as
capital gain. We are not allowed a tax deduction with respect
to any such capital gain recognized by the grantee.

At the present time, it is the intention of our Compensation
* Committee not to award any further incentive stock options

after February 19, 2004 and instead to award only non-quali-
fied stock options.

One Million Dollar Compensation Limit, 1If a covered
employee’s total compensation from our Company (including
compensation related to options) exceeds $1 million in any
given year, such compensation in excess of $1 million may
not be tax deductible by us under Section 162(m) of the Code.
The “covered employees” for any given taxable year of Office
Depot are our Chief Executive Officer and the four other most
highly compensated executive officers at the end of the tax-
able year. Excluded from the calculation of total compensation
for this purpose is compensation that is “performance-based”
within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code. We intend
that compensation realized upon the exercise of an option, SAR
or a performance award granted under the Plan be regarded as
“performance-based” under Section 162(m) of the Code and
that such compensation be deductible without regard to the
limits of Section 162(m) of the Code.

Vote Required for the Plan Amendment

The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by the
holders of shares of Office Depot Common stock represented
in person or by proxy at our Annual Meeting is required for
approval of the Plan Amendment. ' '
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Text of Proposed Plan Amendment

The Amendment to the Plan submitted for your approval is as
follows: The first sentence of Section 4 of the Long-Term
Equity Incentive Plan is hereby amended as follows:

Subject to adjustments as provided in Section 15, as of any date
the total number of shares of Common stock with respect to
which awards may be granted under the Plan (the “Shares™)
shall equal the excess (if any) of 62,068,750 over (i) the number
of shares of Common stock subject to outstanding awards under
the Plan or the Prior Plans, (ii) the number of shares of
Common stock in respect of which options and stock appreciate
rights have been exercised under the Plan or the Prior Plans,
and (iii) the number of shares of Common stock issued pur-
suant to performance awards or issued subject to forfeiture
restrictions which have lapsed under the Plan or the Prior Plans.

Your Board of Directors Recommends a Vote FOR Item
Number 2 on your Proxy Card, Amending Our Long-
Term Equity Incentive Plan.

Item 3: Ratifying Our Audit Committee’s Appointment
of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Our Independent
~ Accounting Firm

Information About Our Independent Accountants

In accordance with the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 (“SOA”), the Audit Committee of our Board has
appointed the certified public accounting firm of Deloitte &
Touche LLP (“Deloitte”) as independent accountants to audit
our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year end-
ing December 25, 2004. Deloitte has audited our consolidated
financial statements each year since 1990. Representatives of
Deloitte will be present at our Annual Meeting with the
opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so, and
they will be available to respond to appropriate questions
from shareholders. Although our Audit Committee already
has appointed Deloitte as our independent accountants for
2004 and the vote of our shareholders is not required, we
request that the shareholders nevertheless ratify this appoint-
ment. Regardless of the vote of the shareholders, our Audit
Committee’s decision to appoint Deloitte as our independent
accountants for 2004 will not be changed, but our Audit
Committee may take into consideration the vote of our share-
holders on this matter in selecting independent accountants to
serve as our outside auditors in future years.



Audit & Other Fees

The aggregate fees billed by our independent accountants for professional services rendered in connection with (i) the audit of our
annual financial statements set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2002 and
December 27, 2003, and (ii) the review of our quarterly financial statements set forth in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for
each of our fiscal quarters during 2002 and 2003, as well as fees paid to our audit firm for audit-related work, tax compliance, tax

planning and other consulting services are set forth below.

Audit & Other Fees Paid to Deloitte & Touche LLP 2002 2003
Audit Fees $1,641,000 $2,664,000
Audit Related Fees (as defined under the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) **See footnote below 1,234,977
Tax Compliance Fees **See footnote below 685,932
Tax Planning Fees 1,973,000%* 1,004,666
All Other Fees* 6,201,000 1,168,892
. Total Fees $9,815,000 $6,758,467

Ratio of Audit Fees, Audit Related Fees and Tax
Compliance Fees To Total Fees paid to our Audit
Firm in the years indicated.**

83%—All other fees**

17%—Audit fees 67.8 %—Audit, Audit-Related and
Tax Compliance Fees
32.2%—All other fees (including

tax planning fees)

©*  On April 15, 2003, our Audit Committee voted unanimously to discontinue the use of Deloitte & Touche LLP for any man-
agement consulting services, and to limit the services of our outside accountants to audit work, audit-related work, and tax
services, all of which must be preapproved by the Committee. The category “all other fees” includes fees for consulting serv-
ices in 2003 paid for work instituted prior to this action by our Audit Committee. That consulting work included projects
focused on improving merchandising effectiveness and the efficiencies of our transportation and logistics operations.

Ak

Prior to 2003, the Company did not maintain records sufficient to distinguish tax compliance and tax planning fees, so we

have included all fees paid in 2002 for tax-related services as if they were for ‘tax planning’ services. Similarly, prior to 2003,

the Company did not maintain records on ‘audit-related’ fees.

Financial Information Systems Design and
Implementation Fees

We did not engage our independent accountants to provide

any professional services in connection with (i) operating or

supervising the operation of our information system or man-
aging our local area network; or (ii) designing or implement-
ing a hardware or software system that aggregates source data
underlying the financial statements or generates information
that is significant to the Company’s financial statements taken
as a whole.

All Other Fees

All audit work performed by Deloitte is approved in advance
by our Audit Committee, including the amount of fees due
and payable to them for such work. In addition, our Audit
Committee also approves all non-audit related work per-
formed by Deloitte in advance of the commencement of such
work. Our Audit Committee has delegated to the chairman of
the Committee the right to approve such non-audit related
assignments between meetings of the Committee, and the
Chairman then reports on all such approvals at the next meet-
ing of the Committee, which considers ratification of such
‘approvals by the Committee Chairman. In 2003, all fees paid

R1

to Deloitte were approved by our Audit Committee in
advance of the performance of work by Deloitte, and no fees
were approved after the services were rendered by our
accounting firm.

The Audit Committee of our Board has determined that the
non-audit services rendered by our independent accountants
during our most recent fiscal year are compatible with main-
taining their independence.

Your Board of Directors Recommends a Vote FOR Item 3
on Your Proxy Card Ratification of Our Audit
Committee’s Appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as
our Independent Accountants

§
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Audit Committee Report

The following Report of the Audit Committee does not consti-
tute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed or
incorporated by reference into any other Company filing
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, except to the extent the Company specifically
incorporates this Report by reference therein.

The Audit Committee of the Office Depot Board of Directors
(the “Committee™) is comprised of four independent directors.
The responsibilities of the Committee are set forth in its writ-
ten charter (the “Charter”), which has been adopted by our
Board of Directors (the “Board”). A copy of the Charter is
attached to this proxy statement as Appendix B and also may
be obtained from our Company in the manner described else-
where in this proxy statement.

The duties of this Committee include oversight of the finan-
cial reporting process for the Company through periodic
meetings with the Company’s independent accountants, inter-
nal auditors and management of the Company to review
accounting, auditing, internal controls and financial reporting
matters. Pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOA™),
our Committee has certain other duties, which include the
engagement of our independent accounting firm, Deloitte &
Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), pre-approval of both audit and non-
audit work in advance of Deloitte’s commencing such work
and other obligations as imposed by SOA. Pursuant to appli-
‘cable provisions of SOA, we have delegated to our Chairman,
Michael Myers, the authority to pre-approve engagements of
Deloitte between meetings of our Committee, provided that
he reports to us at each meeting on pre-approvals since the
date of our last Committee meeting. Our Board has deter-
mined that Mr. Myers is an “audit committee financial expert”
under the regulations of the SEC promulgated pursuant to
authority granted to it under SOA. Mr. Myers’ qualifications
are detailed in his biographical information set forth earlier in
this Proxy Statement. In addition, in accordance with listing
standards of the New York Stock Exchange (the “Exchange”),

our Board has determined that each member of our Audit

Committee is financially literate as required by such listing
standards.

During fiscal year 2003, this Committee met seven times, four
times in person and three times by telephonic communication
prior to the release of quarterly earnings information (one
review of earnings information took place at a regular meeting
of the Committee). The Company’s senior financial manage-
ment and independent and internal auditors were in attend-
ance at all such meetings. At each such meeting held in
person, this Committee conducted a private session with the
management of our Internal Audit Department as well as the
external, independent accountants, without the presence of
managerment. ’

The management of the Company is responsible for the prepa-
ration and integrity of the financial reporting information and
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related systems of internal controls. The Audit Committee, in
carrying out its role, relies on the Company’s senior manage-
ment, including particularly its senior financial management,
to prepare financial statements with integrity and objectivity
and in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples, and relies upon the Company’s independent accountants
to review or audit, as applicable, such financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.

We have reviewed and discussed with senior management the
Company’s audited financial statements for the fiscal year
ended December 27, 2003, included in the Company’s 2003
Annual Report to Shareholders. Management has confirmed
to us that such financial statements (i) have been prepared
with integrity and objectivity and are the responsibility of
management and (ii) have been prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

In discharging our oversight responsibility as to the audit
process, we have discussed with Deloitte, the Company’s
independent accountants, the matters required to be discussed
by SAS 61 (Communications with Audit Committees). SAS 61
requires our independent accountants to provide us with addi-
tional information regarding the scope and results of their audit
of the Company’s financial statements, including: (i) their
responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards,
(i1) significant accounting policies, (iii) management judg-
ments and estimates, (iv) any significant accounting adjust-
ments, (v) any disagreements with management and (vi) any
difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

We have obtained from Deloitte a letter providing the disclo-
sures required by Independence Standards Board Standard
No. 1 (Independence Discussion with Audit Committees) with
respect to any relationship between Deloitte and the Company
that in their professional judgment may reasonably be thought
to bear on independence. Deloitte has discussed its independ-
ence with us, and has confirmed in its letter to us that, in-its pro-
fessional judgment, it is independent of the Company within
the meaning of the United States securities laws.

Based upon the foregoing review and discussions with our
independent and internal auditors and senior management of
the Company, we have recommended to our Board that the
financial statements prepared by the Company’s management
and audited by its independent accountants be included in the
Company’s 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders, and that
such financial statements also be included in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K, for filing with the United
States Securities & Exchange Commission. The Committee
also has appointed Deloitte as the Company’s independent
accounting firm for 2004.

As specified in the Charter, it is not the duty of this Commit-
tee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company’s
financial statements are complete and accurate and in accord-
ance with generally accepted accounting principles. These
are the responsibilities of the Company’s management and




independent accountants. In discharging our duties as a
Committee, we have relied on (i) management’s representa-
tions to us that the financial statements prepared by manage-
ment have been prepared with integrity and objectivity and in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and
(ii) the report of the Company’s independent accountants with
respect to such financial statements.

Presented by the members of the Audit Committee:

Michael J. Myers (Chair)
Lee A. Ault, III, Member
Brenda J. Gaines, Member
James L. Heskett, Member

Response to Shareholder Action Taken
at Our 2003 Annual Meeting

There are no proposals from our shareholders to be pre-
sented at our 2004 Annual Meeting.

At our Annual Meeting in 2003, our shareholders approved
the following resolution: :

Resolved, That the shareholders of Office Depot, Inc. (here-
inafter “the Company”) request the Board of Directors to
redeem the shareholder rights plan that was adopted in 1996
unless such plan is approved by a majority vote of sharehold-
ers to be held as soon as may be practicable.

In response to this Resolution, our Corporate Governance &
Nominating Committee, together with management and our
outside legal counsel, carefully reviewed our Shareholder
Rights Plan (the “Plan”), and in November 2003, we filed
with the SEC a revised Plan, which we believe is responsive
to our understanding of the aspects of the Plan which certain
of our shareholders found objectionable. The following excerpt
from our Form 8-K/A, filed at that time, describes the princi-
pal modifications made to the Plan:

In the event (x) the Corporation receives a “Qualifying Offer,”
meaning an offer which (among other things) (i) is for all of
the Corporation’s Common Stock, (ii) consists of cash and/or
marketable securities, (iii} includes a firm commitment letter
from an established financial institution stating that the
offeror has the money to pay any cash included in the offer,
(iv) has a non-waivable condition that the offeror must own at
least two-thirds of the Corporation’s Common Stock after the
consummation of the offer, (v) stays open for at least 60 busi-
ness days and is extended in the event of a price increase or a
competing offer, (vi) commits the offeror to buying all other
shares of the Corporation Common Stock at a prices not less
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than the original offer, and (vii) if the original offer is unsuc-
cessful, prohibits the original offeror from making another
offer for the Corporation’s equity securities for 6 months,
unless a subsequent Qualifying Offer which is at least 10%
higher than the original offer is made by an unrelated third
party, and (y) the Corporation receives a Special Meeting
Notice from the holders of at least 10% of the shares of
Common Stock then outstanding (other than the shares of
Common Stock held by the Person making the Qualifying
Offer and such Person’s affiliates and associates), then the
Corporation’s Board of Directors is required to call a special
stockholder meeting the purpose of which is to allow the
stockholders to vote on a resolution to redeem the Rights
Agreement (a “Special Meeting”).

In the event that the Special Meeting is not held on or prior to
the sixtieth (60th) day following receipt of the Special Meeting
Notice (the “Outside Date”) or if, at the Special Meeting, the
holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock out-
standing as of the record date for the Special Meeting selected
by the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall vote in
favor of the redemption resolution and provided that no per-
son or entity has become an Acquiring Person prior to the
redemption date referred to below, then all of the Rights shall
be deemed redeemed by such failure to hold the Special
Meeting or such shareholder action, as the case may be, at the
Redemption Price, effective as of the close of business on the
tenth (10th) business day following the Outside Date (if the
Special Meeting is not held on or prior to such date) or the
date on which the results of the vote on the redemption resolu-
tion at the Special Meeting are certified as official, as the case
may be. Immediately upon redemption of the Rights, the ability
of holders to exercise the Rights will terminate and the only
rights of such holders will be to receive the Redemption Price.

In addition, our Board also amended the Plan to delete certain
so-called ‘continuing director’ provisions and also certain spe-
cial purpose provisions which were no longer applicable to the
Company.

Please see a copy of our Form 8-K/A, filed with the SEC, for
additional details.

We believe that the actions of our Board were meaningfully
responsive to the sentiments of our shareholders, as expressed
at the 2003 Annual Meeting.
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Stock Ownership Information

Our Largest Shareholders; Ownership’by Our Directors and Executive Officers

We have provided a stock ownership table below that contains certain information about shareholders whom we believe are the
“beneficial” owners of more than five percent (5%) of our outstanding common stock, as well as information regarding stock own-
ership by our directors and our “NEQ’s” and our directors and executive officers as a group. Except as described below, we know
of no person that beneficially owns more than 5% of our outstanding common stock, based solely upon filings on Forms 13G, filed
with the SEC.

Except as otherwise noted below, each person or entity named in the following table has the sole voting and investment power with
respect to all shares of our common stock that he, she or it beneficially owns.

Percent of
v Beneficial  Class (Less than
Name of Beneficial Owner (As of December 31, 2003) Ownership 1% not shown)
Capital Research and Management Company™
333 South Hope Street, Los Angeles, California 90071 18,150,000 5.8%
FMR Corp.?

82 Devonshire Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02109 20,906,716 6.7%
Fidelity Management & Research Company 20,213,249® 6.455%
Fidelity International Limited 106,300® 0.034%
Fidelity Management Trust Company 586,928® 0.187%
Strategic Advisers, Inc. ' 248® 0.000%

Harris Associates LP™ :

Two North LaSalle Street, Suite 500, Chicago, IL 60602 19,703,262 6.29%
Oppenheimer Capital LLC®

1345 Avenue of the Americas, 49th Floor, New York, NY 10105 . 17,723,321 5.7%
Putnam, LLC d/b/a Putnam Investments®

One Post Office Square, Boston, MA 02109 , 18,300,237 5.8%
(Board of Directors and Named Executive Officers*) v

Lee A. Ault ITI ’ 72,575

Neil R. Austrian 217,647

Cynthia R. Cohen 77,568

David I. Fuente 1,973,128

Brenda J. Gaines 9,375

Bruce S. Gordon . ' 9,375

Scott Hedrick 149,333

James L. Heskett ' 81,125

Michael J. Myers ' 136,019

Bruce Nelson 2,256,177

Frank P. Scruggs, Jr. 64,125

Peter J. Solomon - 243,096

Jerry Colley 342,812

Rolf van Kaldekerken 175,837

Charles E. Brown 247,728

David C. Fannin . 200,396

All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (23 Persons in Total) 7,135,956 2%

*  Includes shares of common stock subject to options which are exercisable within 60 days of March 10, 2004. See table below
for detail.

(1) The information about Capital Research and Management Company (“Capital”) is as of December 31, 2003 and was derived
from an SEC filing by Capital. Capital is an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act
of 1940 and reported that it acts as investment adviser to various investment companies registered under Section 8 of the
Investment Company Act of 1940 and is deemed to have sole dispositive power over 18,150,000 shares but does not have sole
or shared voting power with respect to such shares.
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The information about FMR Corp. (“FMR”) is as of December 31, 2003 and was derived from an SEC filing by FMR,
Edward C. Johnson 3d, Chairman of FMR, and Abigail P. Johnson, a director of FMR. FMR, on behalf of its direct and indi-
rect subsidiaries, Fidelity Management & Research Company, Fidelity International Limited, Fidelity Management Trust

" Company and Strategic Advisers, Inc., reported that these entities have sole dispositive power over 20,906,716 shares and

sole voting power over 693,476 shares.

Fidelity Management & Research Company (“Fidelity”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR, acts as investment advisor to
various investment companies (the “Funds”) that hold these shares. Mr. Johnson and FMR (through control of Fidelity and
the Funds) each is deemed to have sole dispositive power over 20,213,240 shares and no voting power over these shares as
the Funds’ Boards of Trustees have sole power to vote these shares. ‘

Fidelity International Limited (“FIL”), in which Mr. Johnson and members of his family control approximately 40% of the

voting stock, provides (with various foreign based subsidiaries) investment advisory and management services to a number

of non-U.S. investment companies and institutional investors. FIL is deemed to be beneficial owner of these shares of com-
mon stock and has sole voting and dispositive power over these shares.

Fidelity Management Trust Company (“Fidelity Trust”), a subsidiary of FMR, serves as investment adviser to institutional
accounts that hold these shares. Mr. Johnson and FMR (through control of Fidelity Trust) each is deemed to have sole dispositive
power over these shares and sole power to vote or direct the voting of 586,928 shares owned by these institutional accounts.
Strategic Advisers, Inc., a subsidiary of FMR, serves as investment advisor to individual accounts that hold these 248 shares.
FMR (through its control of Strategic Advisers, Inc.) is deemed to have beneficial ownership of 248 shares of the Company’s
stock and has sole or shared voting power with respect to securities held by its clients.

The information about Harris Associates LP (“Harris”) is as of December 31, 2003 and was derived from an SEC filing by
Harris. Harris is a Delaware limited partnership, the General Partner of which is Harris Associates, Inc., a Delaware corpora-
tion. Harris reported that it serves as investment adviser to the Harris Associates Investment Trust (“Harris Trust”), that vari-
ous of Harris’s officers and directors are also officers and trustees of Harris Trust, and that Harris Trust owns 13,614,900
shares, which are included as shares over which Harris has shared voting and dispositive power, and thus, as shares benefi-
cially owned by Harris because of Harris’s power to manage Harris Trust’s investments. Harris reported that it has shared
power to vote 19,703,262 shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 6,088,362 shares and shared dispositive power with
respect to 13,614,900 shares.

The information about Oppenheimer Capital LLC (“Oppenhelmer ) is as of December 31, 2003 and was derived from an
SEC filing by Oppenheimer. Oppenheimer is a Delaware limited liability company and an investment adviser registered

‘under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and reported that it has sole voting power and sole dispositive

power with respect 17,723,321 shares of Office Depot, Inc. under its written guidelines as an investment adviser.

The information about Putnam, LLC d/b/a Putnam Investments (“Putnam”) is as of December 31, 2003 and was derived from
an SEC filing by Putnam. Putnam made such filing on behalf of itself and its affiliates, Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc.
(“Marsh™), Putnam Investment Management, LLC (“PIM”) and The Putnam Advisory Company, LLC (“PAC”). Each of
Putnam, PIM and PAC is a Delaware limited liability company. Marsh is a Delaware corporation. Putnam reported that it has
shared voting power over 1,341,074 shares and shared dispositive power over 18,300,237 shares. PIM has shared voting
power with respect to 744,700 shares and shared dispositive power over 16,646,198 shares, and PAC has shared voting power
with respect to 596,374 shares and shared dispositive power over 1,654,039 shares.

Options Exercisable within 60 Days of Record Date

The number of options which are or will be exercisable within 60 days of March 10, 2004 for each person named in the table
above and for our Executive Officers and Directors as a group is as follows:

Lee A. Ault I1I 39,375 Neil R. Austrian 69,375
Cynthia Cohen ' 75,456 David I. Fuente 1,970,211
Brenda Gaines 9,375 Bruce S. Gordon 9,375
Scott Hedrick ‘ ' , 80,183 James L. Heskett 73,125
Michael J. Myers : 101,250 Bruce Nelson 2,127,056
Frank P. Scruggs, Jr. 61,875 Peter J. Solomon 101,250
Charles E. Brown 206,249 Jerry Colley 333,334
Rolf van Kaldekerken ) 175,836 David Fannin 180,799
All Executive Officers and Directors

as a Group (Twenty-three (23) Persons) 6,416,582
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Executive Compensation

The following table provides a summary of the annual and long-term compensation which we paid to (or deferred for): (i) our
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, and (ii) the four other most highly compensated persons who were serving as
executive officers of our Company at the end of fiscal 2003, (collectively referred to herein as the “Named Executive Officers” or
“NEOQs”) for services rendered during the 2001, 2002 and 2003 fiscal years.

Summary Compensation Table

Long-Term Compensation Awards

" Annual Compensation Awards & Payouts”
. Other Restricted  Securities =~ All Other
Principal Annual Stock Underlying  Compen-
Name Position Year Salary$  Bonus$  Compensation $% Awards $®  Options#  sation$®
Bruce Nelson  Chairman and 2003 - 1,000,000 0 74,070 — 575,000 1,840,740 .
Chief Executive 2002 1,000,000 1,866,667 84,197 — 825,000 4,094,522 ‘
Officer 2001 1,000,000 1,000,000 69,210 — 1,000,000 1,050,427
Jerry Coﬂeym President, North 2003 530,000 0 17,559 — 150,000 249,820
American Stores 2002 530,000 643,067 33,450 — 150,000 11,702
2001 432,690 325,000 — — 250,000 135,085
Rolf Van President, Office 2003 508,500 315,000 88,080 —_ 150,000 91,392
Kaldekerken®™ Depot Europe & 2002 470,000 584,220 99,513 — 150,000 67,963
g Viking Europe 2001 366,972 238,532 — — 100,000 —
Charles E. Executive Vice 2003 450,000 250,000 90,181 — 58,750 199,106
Brown®” President & 2002 450,000 504,000 65,348 — - 58,750 18,563
Chief Financial ~ 2001 351,923 255,000 — 358,800 100,000 5,444
Officer '
David C. Executive Vice 2003 400,000 150,000 190,326 . — 58,750 122,877
Fannin® President & 2002 400,000 425,600 81,912 — 58,750 123,093
General Counsel 2001 400,000 240,000 0 — 50,000 135,442
(1) There were no long-term incentive plan payouts to any of the Named Executive Officers in any of the years listed.
(2) Amounts of Other Annual Compensation shown (only categories that account for 25% or more of total perquisites for each such
" officer are detailed) for 2003 include a profit-sharing payment to Mr. Nelson of $44,305 and Mr. Nelson’s car allowance of
$24,000. Mr. van Kaldekerken’s amount also reflects a European housing allowance of $34,794. For Messrs. Brown and Fannin,
also shown are matching amounts paid into their DCP 401(k) Shadow Plan accounts of $20,466 and $54,693, respectively.

{3) The fair market value at fiscal year-end 2003 for restricted shares held by Mr. Brown was $660,800 (40,000 shares granted 2001).

(4) “All Other Compensation” amounts for 2003 include: For Mr. Nelson, vesting of deferred matching bonus amount awarded
in 2001 of $750,000; vesting of a 50,000 shares restricted stock awarded in 1999 in the amount of $816,250 (based on FMV
of ODP stock on vesting date); $228,594 for split dollar life insurance, and an amount for personal use of corporate aircraft
of $45,896. For Mr. Colley, vesting of deferred matching bonus award in 2001 in the amount of $243,750 and $6,070 for split
dollar life insurance. For Mr. Brown, vesting of deferred matching bonus award in 2001 in the amount of $191,250 and
$7.,856 for split dollar life insurance. For Mr. Fannin—$122,877 for split dollar life insurance. Mr. van Kaldekerken received
contributions to a non-split dollar insurance plan in Europe in the amount of $91,392.

(5) Mr. Colley joined our Company in February 2001.

(6) Mr. van Kaldekerken’s cash compensation is paid in Euros. The translation to U.S. Dollars is based upon the exchange rate

_ in effect as of December 31, 2003.

(7) While no bonuses.were earned under our 2003 Bonus Plan, certain discretionary recognition awards were granted by the
Compensation Committee of the Board to certain of our Executives. For all other purposes in this Proxy Statement, these
payments are treated as bonus payments.
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Option Grants In Last Fiscal Year

The following table sets forth information with respect to all options granted in fiscal 2003 to the Named Executive Officers.

Percentage of
Number of - total Options  Exercise

‘Securities Granted to or Base Grant Date

. Underlying  Employees Price Grant Expiration Present
NAME . Options in Year ($/share) Date Date Value® ($)
Nelson : 200,000 3.52% 11.485  2/14/2003  2/14/2013 902,860
375,000@ 6.60% 11.485  2/14/2003  2/14/2010 1,692,863
Colley 75,000 1.32% 11.485  2/14/2003  2/14/2013 338,573
75,000 1.32% 11.485  2/14/2003  2/14/2010 338,573
Van Kaldekerken 75,000 1.32% 11485  2/14/2003  2/14/2013 338,573
: 75,000@ 1.32% 11:485  2/14/2003 2/14/2010 - 338,573
Brown 40,000 0.33% 11.485  2/14/2003  2/14/2013 180,572
18,750@ 0.70% 11.485  2/14/2003  2/14/2010 84,643
Fannin 40,000 0.33% 11.485  2/14/2003  2/14/2013 180,572
' 18,7509 0.70% 11485  2/14/2003  2/14/2010 84,643

(1) The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was used to determine the grant date present value of the stock options granted in
2003 by the Company to the persons listed above. The hypothetical values shown were calculated based upon the following
assumptions: For all, the volatility rate is equal to 40%, and the dividend yield (representing the current per-share annualized
dividends divided by the annualized fair market value of the common stock) is equal to 0%. The risk-free interest rate is
3.2%, based on the interest rate of a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bond on the date of grant, with a maturity corresponding
to the estimated time until exercise. The values do not take into account risk factors such as non-transferability or risk of
forfeiture. ‘ '

(2) Indicates “performance-accelerated stock options,” which have a longer vesting schedule than traditional stock options,
unless certain performance parameters by our Company are achieved, in which event these options can vest earlier than their
scheduled vesting date.

Aggregated Option Exercises In Last Fiscal Year And Fiscal Year-End Option Values

The following table shows you information about all options exercised by our Named Executive Officers in fiscal 2003 and the
year-end value of unexercised options held by our Named Executive Officers.

Number of Value of
Securities Unexercised
Underlying In-The-Money
Unexercised Options at
Options at Fiscal
Fiscal Year-End Year-End®
Shares
Acquired on Value
Name Exercise (#) Realized($) (#) Exercisable (#) Unexercisable ($) Exercisable ($) Unexercisable
Nelson 0 0 1,982,854 1,791,668 8,684,314 2,707,047
Colley 66,666 486,328 100,000 383,334 217,250 1,948,255
Van Kaldekerken 129,166 910,015 92,502 270,834 13,556 867,317
Brown . 100,833 896,541 162,916 118,751 153,972 432,506
Fannin 34,617 361,659 137,466 102,084 476,105 387,005

(1) In accordance with SEC rules, values are calculated by subtracting the exercise price from the fair market value of the under-
lying common stock. For the purpose of calculating the values in this table, the fair market value is deemed to be $16.52 per
share, the average of the high and low prices reported for NYSE transactions on December 26, 2003. The “Value of
Unexercised, In-the-Money Options at Fiscal Year-end,” unlike figures in the “Value Realized” column, has not been, and
may never be realized. The actual gain, if any, on exercise, will depend upon the value of the Company’s common stock on
the date of such exercise.
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Long-Term Incentive Plans—Awards In Last Fiscal Year

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Plan (In Numbers of Shares)®"

Performance or

Number of Other Period
Shares, Units or  Until Maturation =~ Threshold Target - Maximum
Name Other Rights or Payout (# of Shares) ( # of Shares) (# of Shares)
Nelson 35,000 3 years 17,500 35,000 52,500
Colley 18,000 3 Years 9,000 18,000 27,000
Van Kaldekerken 15,000 3 Years 7,500 15,000 22,500
Brown 15,000 3 Years 7,500 15,000 22,500
Fannin 12,000 3 Years 6,000 12,000 18,000

(1) All awards are pursuant to the Company’s Performance Shares Plan (the “Plan”), approved by the Shareholders at the 2002
Annual Meeting. Pursuant to this Plan, select managers are awarded units in the Plan, which provides for an award of a spec-
ified number of shares of the Company’s stock provided that our Company meets or exceeds certain performance criteria
established by our Compensation Commiittee. If the Company fails to meet the specified criteria, participants may receive as
little as zero shares, or if it substantially exceeds those criteria, up to 150% of the base award amount. Each such Plan is a
closed plan, established at the beginning of a three-year performance cycle and ending at the end of such three-year per-
formance cycle. Each year, our Compensation Committee considers whether to establish such a Plan, the participants in the
Plan and the measurement criteria to be utilized to determine awards pursuant to the Plan. The Committee did establish such
a plan in 2003, and the performance shares awarded are indicated above.

Loans to Executive Officers of the Company

Prior to enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in July 2002,
the Company made a loan, in 1997, to its now-President
Europe, Rolf van Kaldekerken, in the amount of $322,114%,
The loan bears interest at the rate of 6% per annum (payable
interest only each year), is secured by a mortgage on Mr. van
Kaldekerken’s personal residence and is repayable either upon
Mr. van Kaldekerken’s departure from the Company, or sale
of his personal residence. There is no provision for earlier
repayment, other than a voluntary repayment by Mr. van
Kaldekerken. This loan will not be renewed or extended.

Office Depot, Inc. has ceased making any loans of any type to
executive officers for any purposes whatsoever and no longer
will extend or maintain credit to, or renew any extension of
credit, in the form of a personal loan, to or for the benefit of
any of its executive officers or directors.

* (Calculated on the balance dué on a loan now denominated
as 255,646 euros, translated to U.S. dollars at the year-end
conversion of $1.26 to the euro.

CEO Compensation

Employment Agreement. Effective December 29, 2001, we
entered into a new Employment Agreement with Bruce
Nelson (the “Employment Agreement”) to serve as Chairman
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer. The Employment
Agreement amends, restates and supersedes certain prior
agreements with Mr. Nelson. Mr. Nelson first became CEO on
July 17, 2000. Under the terms of the Employment Agreement,
we have agreed to employ Mr. Nelson through at least
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December 31, 2004. The Employment Agreement provides
for automatic renewal for a period of one year (and from year
to year thereafter) unless and until either Mr. Nelson or our
Company notifies the other, in writing, at least six months
prior to the end of the Employment Term (initially December
31, 2004), that he or it does not wish to renew the Employment
Agreement.

Salary and Bonus. As of December 29, 2001, the date of
the Employment Agreement, Mr. Nelson’s base salary was
$1,000,000 per year. There has been no increase in Mr.
Nelson’s base salary subsequent to that date. The Agreement

~ provides that Mr. Nelson’s salary will be reviewed annually

by our Compensation Committee and may be increased, but
not decreased. Under the Agreement, Mr. Nelson also will
participate in our Executive Officer Bonus Plan (“Bonus
Plan”). Under this Plan, our Compensation Committee estab-
lishes annual performance targets for our CEO. We intend
these performance targets to qualify as incentive compensa-
tion under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, inso-
far as that is possible. Mr. Nelson’s bonus, if any, is primarily
tied to earnings per share of the Company. For 2002 and sub-
sequent years under the Employment Agreement, Mr. Nelson
is eligible to achieve a bonus up to 200% of his base salary for
achieving the “maximum” level of performance. His “mini-
mum” bonus level (provided our Company’s performance in a
given year qualifies for any bonus payment) is 70% of base
salary, and his “target” bonus is 100% of base salary. Mr.
Nelson did not receive a bonus for 2003.




Stock Options. In connection with entering into the new
Employment Agreement as of December 29, 2001, our
Compensation Committee provided Mr. Nelson with a total
grant of one million stock options. 750,000 of these stock
options have a grant date of December 20, 2001 and the
remaining 250,000 have a grant date of January 2, 2002. All
of these stock options vest in full on December 31, 2004, pro-
vided Mr. Nelson remains with our Company through such
date, and are subject to earlier vesting in the event of a change
in control of our Company, his death or disability, his termina-
tion without Cause or his resignation for “good reason”—all
as such terms are defined in the Agreement. This one million-
share grant has the feature of premium pricing. The exercise
price for these stock options is 125% of the market price on
the date of grant, which means that these options will not have
realizable value to Mr. Nelson until the stock price increases
substantially above the 2002 year-end closing price. These
premium-priced stock options have an extended exercise
period of three (3) years, regardless of whether Mr. Nelson
remains employed by our Company during that period of
time. Mr. Nelson received 575,000 stock option grants during
2003, in the regular course of stock option grants made to our
executives by our Compensation Committee.

Change in Control Agreement. Mr. Nelson and our Company
also are parties to a Change in Control Agreement, under the
terms of which Mr. Nelson is entitled, upon a Change in
Control of our Company, coupled with certain other events
specified in the agreement, to a sum equal to three times the
sum of his annual base salary at the time of the change in con-
trol plus his highest annual bonus during the period preceding
the change in control. Mr. Nelson would also be entitled to the
continuation of his benefits for a period of three years and cer-
tain other benefits.

Other Benefits. Mr. Nelson receives certain additional bene-
fits under the terms of his Employment Agreement, which are
generally comparable to our benefits for all executive man-
agement employees. Mr. Nelson and his spouse are entitled to
health insurance coverage for their lifetimes.

Termination. If we terminate Mr. Nelson’s employment
“without cause” or Mr. Nelson quits for “good reason,” as
defined in the Employment Agreement, then he is entitled to
receive his base salary through the second anniversary of his
termination date; a pro rata portion of his bonus; the vested
and accrued amounts under his incentive plans, health and
welfare plans, deferred compensation plans and other benefit
plans; and insurance benefits for him and his family through
the second anniversary of his termination date (to the extent he
and his family participated in these benefits prior to the termi-
nation) and vesting of the deferral account and stock options
referred to above.
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Employment Agreements with
Other Named Executive Officers

We have Employment Agreements with each of our other
Named Executive Officers. Each of these “Executive Employ-
ment Agreements” is substantially similar to the others. Each
provides for a base salary which may be increased, but not
reduced, and further provides that the executive will be enti-
tled to participate in our bonus plan and other benefit plans.
All of these Executive Employment Agreements are one-year
“evergreen” agreements, which automatically renew each year
unless either party notifies the other at least six (6) months in
advance of expiration that it does not wish the agreement to be
extended for an additional year. The Executive Employment
Agreements also contain confidentiality, non-compete and
non-solicitation provisions. All of our Named Executive
Officers also are parties to Change in Control Employment
Agreements (“CIC Agreements”). The purpose of the CIC
Agreements is to assure the continued dedication of these
executives, notwithstanding the possibility, threat or occur-
rence of a change in control (“CIC”). In the event of a CIC,
each of these executives will be entitled to certain employ-
ment rights, including: (i) a minimum annual base salary and
bonus; (ii) participation rights in our incentive, savings, retire-
ment and welfare benefit plans; and (iii) certain payments and
other benefits upon termination of employment.
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Compensation Committee Report
on 2003 Executive Compensation

The following report of the Compensation Committee and the
Performance Graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated
by reference by any general statement incorporating all or
any portion of this proxy statement into any filing under the
Securities Act of 1933 or under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, except to the extent we specifically incorporate this
information by reference.

What is our Philosophy of Executive Compensation?

Our compensation philosophy is to design and implement
compensation practices that motivate employees to enhance
shareholder value. Our compensation practices are designed to
attract, motivate and retain key personnel by recognizing indi-
vidual contributions as well as the achievement of specific pre-
determined goals and objectives, primarily through the use of
“at risk” compensation strategies. Our compensation program
for executive officers consists of five (5) main components:

®
(i)

competitive base salaries,

annual cash incentives based on our overall
Company performance under our bonus plans;

stock option awards intended to encourage the
achievement of superior results over time and to
align executive officer and shareholder interests; and

(iii)

(iv) for our most senior executive officers, including our
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, our Division
Presidents and our Executive Vice Presidents, (a)
performance accelerated stock options and (b) per-

formance shares.

The second, third and fourth components constitute “at risk”
or “performance based” elements of each executive’s total
compensation.

Base Salary. Our Compensation Committee determines
base salaries for executive officers utilizing market survey
data which focuses on other high performance and specialty
retail companies. A number of the companies included in the
comparison base are included in the S&P Retail Stores
Composite and in the S&P 500. The Committee generally
considers the median level of the executive market for compa-
rably sized companies within these surveys in determining
executive base pay levels. ‘

Salary Adjustments in 2003. The 2004 base salary for
Bruce Nelson, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, will
remain the same as his base salary in 2003. Salaries for Mr.
van Kaldekerken will increase to $630,000% and for Mr.
Brown to $525,000 in 2004. As a group, the base salaries of
our NEOs increased by 6.8% for 2004 over 2003 levels.

*  Note that Mr. van Kaldekerken is paid in euros rather than
dollars. The noted salary for 2004 reflects a euro-denominated
salary of 500,000 euros, which translates to $630,000 at an
exchange rate of $1.26 as of December 31, 2003.
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Annual Bonus. The bonus compensation of our executive
officers is generally determined pursuant to our bonus plans,
which provide for cash awards to eligible participants, based
upon objectives determined each year. The objectives of our
bonus plans are to enhance shareholder value by rewarding
employees for the attainment of financial objectives and for
the attainment of specific work unit and individual goals
linked to specified strategic elements of the business. Our
Company utilizes a bonus plan formula which our sharehold-
ers approved at the 2002 Annual Meeting. By extending
annual bonuses deep into the organization, we seek to moti-
vate all managerial employees to help achieve our profit
objectives and other key strategic initiatives. Awards under
our Bonus Plan are expressed as a percentage of base salary
earnings. Awards to executive officers are a function of the

 participant’s level of responsibility and our Company’s overall

financial performance for a given year. Awards to other man-
agement employees under our Bonus Plan are also based on
achievement of individual performance objectives.

Under our Bonus Plan, performance is measured in connec-
tion with attainment of specific financial objectives (including
earnings per share) and may also be based on individual goals,
where appropriate, that are established by the participant and
his or her immediate supervisor. Our Chairman and Chief

"Executive Officer, as well as our other Executives are meas-

ured in connection with attainment of specific objectives
based on one or more of the following measurements: EPS,
TSR, RONA, ROI, relative performance against a peer group
or other measure, or some other criterion established by the
Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors at or near
the beginning of each year* pre-tax earnings, net earnings,
earnings per share, return on net assets and return on equity.
The Bonus Plan allows our Compensation Committee to
adjust these measurements under certain circumstances. Our
Compensation Committee approves the goals set for and
awards to our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, our
Group Presidents, and our Executive Officers under our Bonus
Plan. This emphasis on “at risk” compensation is consistent
with our compensation philosophy and supports continued cre-
ation of shareholder value.

In order to ensure the eligibility for deduction of annual bonus
payments (where the recipient’s total income exceeds $1 mil-
lion), under Section 162(m) of the Code, it is necessary that
our shareholders periodically approve the overall bonus plan
of our Company. Our current Bonus Plan was approved by our
shareholders at the Annual Meeting in 2002. :

* EPS=earnings per share; TSR=total shareholder return,
measured as the increase in stock price (plus any dividends
paid on the company’s shares) over a period of time,
whether or not compared to the increase in stock price (plus
dividends) of other comparable companies; RONA=total
return on net assets of our Company; and ROI=total return
on investment of our Company.

Performance Shares. Prior to December 31, 2001, we had in
place a compensation program for certain senior executives
which permitted certain of such executives to receive a match-
ing bonus payment, deferred until a specified future date, and




dependent upon the executive’s remaining with our Company
through that future date. This plan was discontinued in fiscal
year 2002 and replaced by a program of granting Performance
Shares to certain of our senior executives. These shares of
stock are essentially awards of restricted stock, having a three-
year “cliff vesting” provision. Performance Shares will vest
only if our Company’s TSR exceeds the return of a group of
peer companies, which our Committee has selected and desig-
nated. Most of these comparison companies are in the retail
sector. The purpose of our Performance Share program is to
further incentivize those senior executives who are most in a
position to influence the future success of our Company to
outperform our competition in terms of return to our share-
holders. We view this new program as a further alignment of
the interests of our executive management team with the inter-
ests of our shareholders. It is the intention of our Committee
to institute a similar three-year Performance Share program at
the beginning of future years. Each such program will have its
own three-year performance measurement cycle, peer group
and list of participants. Once a performance cycle is in place,
there will not be any change in the measurement criteria, peer
group companies (other than due to peer group bankruptcies)
or participants.

Bonus Awards in 2003. For 2003, potential Bonus awards
to our executive officers were based on earnings per share.
None of our executive officers earned a bonus in 2003 under
the Bonus Plan. However, our Company did elect to make cer-
tain recognition awards to certain executive officers and other
employees, for extraordinary performance in connection with
certain key initiatives of our Company. Among our Named
Executive Officers, Messrs. van Kaldekerken, Brown and
Fannin received such recognition payments, as set forth in the

Summary Compensation Table above, primarily in connection

with work done in the acquisition and integration of Guilbert,
S.A. in 2003. Neither Mr. Nelson nor Mr. Colley received a
recognition award.

Stock Based Incentive Program—Stock Options. The
objective of stock option awards is to motivate grantees to
maximize our long-term growth and profitability. Grantees
can realize value from options granted only if our stock price
increases after the date on which such options are granted,
because the exercise price of options granted must be at least
equal to the fair market value of our stock on the date of grant.
The award of options thus aligns the long-range interests of
the grantees with those of our sharecholders. Grants of options
are generally made annually. The Compensation Committee
determined the grant levels for awards to our Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer and our other executive officers after
taking into consideration prior year’s grants, the organiza-
tional impact of the participant and the level of emphasis we
placed on participant retention. Stock option awards below the
executive officer level are a function of position within the
organization.

-In granting stock options in 2003, the Compensation Com-
mittee took into account the turn around efforts with which
our officers were.charged, and accordingly granted stock
options to incentivize our management team to continue its
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good work in revitalizing the Company. To keep our Company
competitive for top management talent, we believe our stock
option program must remain viable by granting sufficient num-
bers of new stock options to keep our valued management tal-
ent incentivized and motivated to continue with our Company
and to excel in future performance.

Performance-Accelerated Stock Options. Beginning in 2002,
we instituted a new program of compensation for our execu-
tive officers, which added performance-accelerated stock
options and performance shares to the traditional stock option
element of their overall compensation. These compensation
programs are intended to further align the interests of our
executives with the interests of our shareholders, and to be
responsive to various positions voiced by shareholders over
the past couple of years. As approved by our shareholders in
2002, the amendments to our Option Plan are used by this
Committee to provide a reduced number of traditional stock
options (“TSQ’s”) to our Chairman and CEO, Division Presi-
dents and Executive Vice Presidents, along with a number of
performance-accelerated stock options (“PSO’s”). Generally
speaking, the more senior the executive officer, the more
heavily weighted are his or her stock options in favor of PSO’s
rather than TSO’s. PSO’s have a significantly longer vesting
schedule than TSO’s (5 years versus 3 years), and a shorter
option life (7 years versus 10 years), but the PSO’s may vest
significantly earlier if the Company’s share price reaches cer-
tain performance levels prior to the five-year vesting period.

Value of Stock Options Awarded in 2003. Based on the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the present value at date
of grant of Mr. Nelson’s 2003 stock options represented
approximately 72.2% of his total 2003 compensation of
$3,595,723, as measured by salary, bonus, and present value .
of stock options granted in 2003. Since he did not receive a
bonus payment for 2003, Mr. Nelson’s total “at risk” portion
of his compensation (consisting of stock options plus his
annual bonus (which was zero)) also represented approxi-
mately 72.2% of his compensation in 2003 as measured by
salary, bonus, and stock options. Stock option awards granted
to our other NEO’s for 2003 (as a group) represented approx-
imately 41.99% of their 2003 compensation as measured by
salary, bonus, and stock options. The total “at risk” portion,
annual bonus and stock options for our other NEO’s repre-
sented approximately 58% of their 2003 compensation as
measured by salary, bonus, and stock options.

Deferred Compensation Plan. Our executive officers and
other key employees are permitted to defer up to 25% of their
base salaries and up to 100% of their bonuses under the Office
Depot, Inc. Officer Deferred Compensation Plan. Deferrals™ -
may generally be made for any period of time selected by the
executive, but we have the right to further defer payouts under
the plan in order to avoid exceeding the $1 million limit on
executive compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code.
Although the plan allows us to make additional matching
deferrals and incentive contributions at our discretion, no such
contributions were made under the plan for 2003.
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Split Dollar Life Insurance. Effective April 1995, we pro-
vided certain of our executive officers the opportunity to pur-
chase whole life insurance policies, with the premiums paid
by us. If our assumptions regarding mortality, dividends and
other factors are realized, we will recover all of our payments
for premiums either from death benefits or from the executive,
if the policy is transferred to the executive. Messrs.
Nelson, Colley, Brown and Fannin have all been beneficiaries
of this program. Mr. van Kaldekerken participates in a different
insurance program in Europe. Effective January 1, 2004, our
Company discontinued the split dollar life insurance plan for
those executives in North America who were participants in
the plan. In consideration for surrendering these policies to
the Company, we paid the following amounts to our CEO and
other senior executives: Mr. Nelson—$480,000; Mr. Colley—
$80,000; Mr. Brown—=5$96,000; Mr. Fannin—$140,000.
These amounts were determined based upon the amount of
death benefit provided to the various executives and the esti-
mated time remaining to their normal retirement age. They
will be reflected in the Summary Compensation Table in our
2005 proxy statement. We also provided to each such execu-
tive a ‘gross-up’ payment to offset income taxes payable by
them in connection with the payments made to them in sur-
render of the split dollar life insurance policies. Henceforth,
the Company does not intend to maintain any program of split
dollar life insurance. It will maintain a program of group term
life insurance for all senior executives.

Executive Management Deferred Compensation Plan. We
have implemented the Executive Management Deferred
Compensation Plan (a non qualified retirement savings plan)
to provide our executive officers and other management and
sales executives the opportunity to defer retirement savings in
addition to those amounts which may be deferred under the
Office Depot Retirement Savings Plan (401(k) Plan). The
Executive Management Deferred Compensation Plan allows
us to supplement our matching contributions, which are lim-
ited under the Office Depot Retirement Savings Plan (401(k))
pursuant to provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.

Philosophy of Compensation of our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer. Our Employment Agreement with Mr.

Nelson, entered into effective December 29, 2001, the date of -

his becoming our Chairman, as well as CEO, provides him
with a base salary at the maximum deductible amount (to the
Company) under Section 162(m) of the Code. Salary survey
work performed for us by a reputable outside consultant indi-
cates that Mr. Nelson’s base salary is competitive with the
salaries paid to similarly situated executives at other similarly
sized companies and is not excessive. In lieu of a larger base
salary payment (a portion of which would be non-deductible
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by the Company for income tax purposes) to Mr. Nelson, the
Compensation Committee and Board of Directors have
elected to incentivize Mr. Nelson through substantial grants of
stock options, some of which are premium-priced or perform-
ance-accelerated, as described above, as well as his receipt of
performance shares. We believe that his overall compensation
package closely aligns his interests with those of our share-
holders. The Committee feels that Mr. Nelson’s compensa-
tion, including base salary, bonus payments and equity
incentives, is properly oriented towards risk-based, incentive
compensation and that the combination of base salary and
incentive compensation is competitive with similarly situated
chief executives. See the discussion above under the heading
“CEO Compensation” for a more compiete description of our
employment agreement with Mr. Nelson.

Section 162(m) and Deductibility Limits under the Internal
Revenue Code. Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue
Code generally disallows a tax deduction to public companies
for compensation exceeding $1 million paid to our Named Exe-
cutive Officers. However, certain “at risk™ portions of our
executive officers’ compensation (those portions currently
being stock option grants, annual bonus, Performance-
Accelerated Stock Options and Performance Shares) may
qualify for deduction under Section 162(m). The Compen-
sation Committee intends to continue to take actions, including
seeking shareholder approval of bonus plans and other incen-
tives, to ensure that our executive compensation programs
meet the eligibility requirements under Section 162(m) of the
Code. In certain cases, where our Committee believes our
shareholder interests are best served by retaining flexibility of
approach, we do grant incentive compensation that does not
necessarily qualify for deduction under Section 162(m). In
some cases, it may not be possible to keep a given person’s
compensation under the Section 162{m) limit or to qualify ail
compensation for deductibility under Section 162(m) in a par-
ticular year, but that remains always the goal of this
Committee. We strive to meet that goal, but the more important

goal is to ensure that our compensation systems are competitive

and enable us to attract and retain the most capable manage-
ment team possible in furtherance of the interests of our
shareholders. '

Report of Compensation Committee

W. Scott Hedrick, Chairman
Neil R. Austrian, Member
Cynthia R, Cohen, Member
Bruce S. Gordon, Member




Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires
our directors and executive officers to file reports of their
holdings and transactions of Office Depot common stock with
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York
Stock Exchange. Based on our records and other information,
we believe that each of our officers and directors complied
with all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to them
during fiscal 2003.

Copies Of Form 10-K Available

We will provide a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for our fiscal year ended December 27, 2003, which includes
our consolidated financial statements and notes to our finan-
cial statements, to any shareholder upon written request.
Requests should be sent to the Vice President, Investor
Relations & Corporate Communciations at our corporate
offices, 2200 Old Germantown Road, Delray Beach, FL 33445,
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2005 Shareholder Proposals

Any shareholder proposal intended to be presented for consid-
eration at the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and to be

" included in our Proxy Statement for that meeting must be

received by the Secretary at our corporate offices, 2200 Old
Germantown Road, Delray Beach, FL. 33445, Attn: Office of
the General Counsel, on or before 5 p.m. (Eastern Standard
Time) on December 3, 2004. Shareholder proposals to be
brought before the 2005 Annual Meeting but not inciuded in
the Proxy Statement will be considered untimely after January
7, 2005, and the proxies we solicit for next year’s Annual
Meeting may confer discretionary authority to vote on any
such matters without a description of them in the proxy state-
ment for that meeting. Notice of any shareholder proposal -
must include various matters as prescribed by the SEC,
including a clear and concise description of the proposal, and
the reasons for proposing it.
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Common Stock Performance Graph

The graph shown below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock sincé December 31, 1998 with the
S&P 500 Index and the S&P Specialty Stores Index. Note that in 2002, S&P discontinued publishing the S&P Retail Stores
Composite Index and replaced that with the S&P Specialty Stores Index which we have used below.

Measurement Period

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
Among Office Depot, Inc., the S&P 500 Index
and the S&P Specialty Stores Index

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN~
AMONG OFFICE DEPOT, INC., THE S & P 500 INDEX
AND THE S & P SPECIALTY STORES INDEX

140

12/98 12/99 12/00 12/01 12/02 12/03

—&— OFFICE DEPOQT, INC. —-A—-S&P500

---8---S &P SPECIALTY STORES

* $100 invested on 12/31/98 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 27,

Copyright @ 2002, Standard & Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, inc. All rights reserved.
www.researchdatagroup.com/S&P .htm

S&P Specialty

(Fiscal Year Covered) Office Depot, Inc. S&P 500  Stores Index
12/98 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00
12/99 $ 4452 $121.04 $ 7146
12/00 $ 28.84 $110.02 $°59.62
12/01 $ 74.95 $ 96.95 $ 96.23
12/02 $ 5731 $ 75.52 $ 85.53
12/03 $ 66.82 $ 97.18 $115.17

Other Matters

It is not presently expected that any matters other than those discussed herein will be brought before our Annual Meeting. If, how-
ever, other matters do come before the Meeting, it'is the intention of the persons named as representatives in the accompanying
proxy to vote in accordance with the recommendation of our Board of Directors.
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APPENDIX A

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The following Corporate Governance Guidelines (the
“Guidelines”) have been adopted by the Board of Directors
{the “Board”) of Office Depot, Inc. (the “Corporation”) to
assist the Board in the exercise of its responsibilities under the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Act”) and the New York
Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) Rules for Listed Companies.

These Guidelines reflect the Board’s commitment to
monitor the effectiveness of policy and decision-making both
at the Board and management level, and to enhance stock-
holder value over the long term. These Guidelines are a state-
ment of policy and are not intended to change or interpret any
federal or state law or regulation, including the Delaware
General Corporation Law, or the Certificate of Incorporation
or By-laws of the Corporation, the Act or the NYSE Rules.
These Guidelines are subject to periodic review by the
Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee (the
“Governance Committee”) of the Board and to modification
from time to time by the Board.

Board Compensation

1. Selection of Chair of the Boafd and Lead
Independent Director

A. The Board shall be free to choose its Chair in any
way it deems best for the Corporation at any given point in
time. The Chair of the Board shall be selected annually at the
time of election of corporate officers of the Corporation. He
or she may also serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company while serving as Chair of the Board.

B. The non-management Directors on the Board (i.e.
those who are not officers of the Corporation) shall separately
select from among their ranks a person to serve as the “Lead
Director,” who shall develop the agendas for, and shall preside
at, meetings of the non-management Directors in executive
session, without the presence of any management of the
Corporation, including any management Director. This person
must be an Independent Director as defined in Section 6 of
these Guidelines.

2. Size of the Board

The Board believes that it should generally have no fewer
than 9 and no more than 13 Directors subject to the provisions of
the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation and its By-laws.
This range permits diversity of experience without hindering
effective discussion or diminishing individual accountability.
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3. Selection of New Directors

The Governance Committee shall be responsible for
nominating candidates for election to the Board at the
Corporation’s annual meeting of stockholders and for filling
vacancies on the Board that may occur between annual meet-
ings of stockholders, subject to concurrence of the entire
Board. The Governance Committee shall be responsible for
identifying, screening and recommending candidates to the
entire Board for Board membership. When formulating its
Board membership recommendations, the Governance
Committee shall consider (but is not necessarily bound by)
any advice and recommendations offered by the Chief
Executive Officer, other Board members; the stockholders of the
Corporation or any outside advisors the Governance Committee
may retain. As a matter of policy, beginning with the Chief
Executive Officer on the date of adoption of these Corporate
Governance Guidelines, no former CEO of the Corporation
shall serve on the Board after his or her term of office as CEO
has ended, although he or she may be called upon to provide
advice, guidance and insights to the Board as requested by it.

4, Director Orientation and Continuing Education

An orientation process for all new Directors will be main-
tained. This process includes comprehensive background
briefings by the Corporation’s executive officers and other des-
ignated officers of the Corporation. In addition, all Directors
shall periodically participate in briefing sessions on topical
subjects to assist the Directors in discharging their duties. The
orientation and continuing education programs, which are
subject to the oversight of the Governance Committee, are the
responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer and administered
by the General Counsel/Corporate Secretary. All Directors are
strongly encouraged to attend at least one Director education
session each year. The Corporation shall pay for such continuing
education sessions and shall reimburse the Directors for the
reasonable and necessary costs of attending such sessions.

5. Board Membership Criteria

Nominees for Director shall be selected on the basis of
their character, wisdom, judgment, ability to make independent
analytical inquiries, business experiences, understanding of
the Corporation’s business environment, ability to make a time
commitment to the Corporation and ability to bring unique
and diverse perspectives and understandings to the Board
processes. Board members are expected to rigorously pre-
pare for, attend, and participate in all Board and applicable
Committee meetings. Each Board member is expected to
ensure that other existing and planned future commitments do
not materially interfere with the member’s service as an out-
standing Director.
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The Governance Committee shall be responsible for
assessing the appropriate balance of skills and characteristics
required of Board members. The Board is committed to a diver-
sified membership, in terms of both the individuals involved
and their various experiences and areas of expertise.

6. Director Independence

An “Independent” Director of the Corporation shall be .

one who meets the qualification requirements for being an
independent Director under the corporate governance listing
standards of the NYSE, including the requirement that the
Board must have affirmatively determined that the Director
has no material relationships with the Corporation, either
directly or as a partner, shareholder, or officer of an organiza-
tion that has a relationship with the Corporation. To guide its
determination whether or not a business or charitable relation-
ship between the Corporation and an organization with which
a Director is so affiliated is material, the Board has adopted
the following categorical standards:

* An Independent Director shall have no direct business
relationship with the Corporation other than his or her
position on the Board and its Committees.

» The fact that a Director of the Corporation is employed
by a company or firm with which the Corporation does
business shall not per se disqualify that person from
being deemed Independent, provided that the Director
is not personally involved in making business deci-
sions related to the vendor or customer relationship
with the Corporation and is not directly compensated
based upon the size or nature of the relationship with
the Corporation.

* The fact that a Director of the Corporation is the
holder of five percent (5%) or more of the outstanding
stock (or ownership interest) of a material (involving
$10 million or more in annual sales) vendor or cus-
tomer of the Company shall cause such Director to be
deemed not Independent.

7. Percentage of Independent Directors on Board
Independent Directors shall constitute a majority of
the Board.
8. Chair of the Governance Committee
The Chair of the Governance Committee shall be an
Independent Director.
9. Retirement Age

No Director after having attained the age of 72 years shall
be nominated for re-election or reappointment to the Board,
without the prior approval of the Governance Committee.
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10. Directors Who Change Their Present Job
Responsibility

The Governance Committee shall review the continued
appropriateness of Board membership if a Board member has
a material change in employment circumstances and the
affected Director shall be expected to act in accordance with
the Governance Committee’s recommendation. Each Director
shall promptly notify the Chair of the Governance Committee
if he or she changes position or company affiliation.

11. Term Limits

The Board does not mandate term limits for its Directors.

12. Board Compensation

A Director who is also an employee shall not receive
additional compensation for service as a Director. The Comp-
ensation Committee is charged with the responsibility for
reviewing (at least annually) and recommending to the full
Board the form and amounts of compensation and benefits for
non-employee Directors. In making its recommendation, the
Compensation Committee shall seek to fairly compensate
Directors at levels that are competitive with other companies
in the industries in which the Corporation competes and to
align Directors’ interests with the long-term interests of the
Corporation’s shareholders. In its deliberations, the Governance
Committee and the Board shall consider whether the levels of
Director compensation could impair independence and shall
critically evaluate any consulting, charitable contribution or
other potential indirect compensation arrangements.

13. Evaluation of Board

The Board shall be responsible for periodically conduct-
ing a self-evaluation of the Board as a whole. The Governance
Committee shall be responsible for establishing the evaluation
criteria and overseeing the implementation of the process for
such evaluation, which shall be conducted an annual basis.

14. Evaluation of Committees of the Board

As part of its role as the Corporation’s Nominating
Committee, the Governance Committee shall conduct periodic
reviews of each Committee’s contribution to the Corporation.
In its review of the Committees, the Governance Committee
shall review each Committee’s objectives, as stated at the
beginning of each fiscal year, and compare those stated objec-
tives to the results and time expended to achieve such results
at the end of that year. The Governance Committee shall also
consider the results of each such Committee’s self-evaluation
process in determining whether to re-nominate members to
each such Committee.




15. Board Contact with Senior Management

Board members shall have complete access to management
of the Corporation on a direct basis, without having to obtain
permission or clearance from any member of management.
However, Board members shall use sound business judgment
to ensure that such contact is not distracting, and, if contact or
questions are posed in writing, such writing shall be copied to
the Chief Executive Officer and the Chair of the Board.

Furthermore, the Board encourages senior management,
from time to time, to bring employees into Board meetings (or
into meetings of appropriate Board Committees) who: (a) can
provide additional insight concerning the items being dis-
cussed because of personal involvement in these areas; (b)
represent significant aspects of the Corporation’s business;
and (c) assure the Board of exposure to employees with future
potential to assure adequate plans for management succession
within the Corporation.

16. Access to Independent Advisors

The Board and its Committees, including the non-manage-
ment or Independent Directors when convening in executive
session, shall have the right, at any time, to retain independent
outside financial, compensation, legal or other advisors.

17. Board Interaction with Institutional Investors
and Press

The Board believes that management and not the Direc-
tors should speak for the Corporation, consistent with all reg-
ulations governing such communications and with common
sense. Unless otherwise agreed to or requested by the Chair, each
Director shall refer all inquiries from institutional investors
and the press to designated members of senior management or to

-the Chair of the Board and shall not comment for attribution
or background without first discussing such matter with the
Chair of the Board.

Board Meetings
18. Frequency of Meetings

There shall be at least four (4) regularly scheduled meet-
ings of the Board each year (to be held approximately quarterly)
and ‘special meetings from time to time as required. It is the
responsibility of each of the Directors to attend the meetings
of the Board and the Committees on which each serves.

19. Selection df Agenda Items for Board Meetings

The Chair of the Board, in consultation with the Chair of
the Governance Committee, the Chief Financial Officer, the
Corporate Secretary and the Chief Executive Officer (if differ-
ent from the Chair of the Board), shall annually prepare a
“Board of Directors Master Agenda.” This Master Agenda
shall set forth a minimum agenda of items to be considered by
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the Board at each of its specified meetings during the year.
Each meeting agenda shall include an opportunity for each
Committee chair to raise issues or report to the Board on the
work of his or her Committee. Thereafter, the Chair of the
Board, the Chief Executive Officer and the Lead Independent
Director, may adjust the agenda to include special items not
contemplated during the initial preparation of the annual
Master Agenda.

Upon completion, a copy of the Master Agenda shall be
provided to the entire Board. Each Board member shall be
free to suggest inclusion of items on the Master Agenda for
any given meeting. Thereafter, any Board member may sug-
gest additional subjects that are not specifically on the agenda
for any particular meeting. In that case, the Board member
should contact the Chair or the Secretary at least twenty (20)
days prior to the relevant meeting.

20. Strategic Discussions at Board Meetings

At least one Board meeting will be primarily devoted to
long-range strategic plans. It is also probable that specific
short and/or long-range strategic plans will be discussed at
other Board meetings throughout the year.

21. Executive Sessions of Non-Management and
Independent Directors

The non-management Directors (all those who are not
“officers” of the Corporation, as such term is defined by
NYSE listing standards) shall meet in an executive session at
each regularly scheduled Board meeting and, if any of the non-
management Directors is non-Independent, the Independent
Directors shall also meet in an executive session at least once
each year. These meetings can be in person or held telephoni-
cally. The Corporate Secretary shall establish, maintain and
publicly disclose a method for interested parties to communicate
directly with the non-management Directors as a group or the
Lead Independent Director.

22.  Board Materials Distributed in Advance

- Information and data is important to the Board’s under-
standing of the business and essential to prepare Board members
for productive meetings. Presentation materials relevant to
each meeting will be distributed in writing, or electronically, to
the Board in advance of the meeting unless doing so would
compromise the confidentiality of competitive information. In
the event of a pressing need for the Board to meet on short
notice, it is recognized that written materials or electronically
communicated materials may not be available in advance of
the meeting. Management will make every effort to provide
presentation materials that are brief and to the point, yet com-
municate the essential information.
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Governance Committee Matters
23. Board Committees

The Corporation shall have the following standing
Committees: Audit, Compensation, Corporate Governance &
Nominating, and Finance. The duties for each of these
Committees shall be outlined in each of the Committee’s
charter and/or by further resolution of the Board. The Board
may form new Committees or disband a Committee depend-
~ ing on circumstances. However, the Corporation must at all
times have an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee
and a Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee,

which shall be composed entirely of Independent Directors. In -

addition, all members of the Audit Committee shall also meet
the additional independence and financial literacy require-
ments of the NYSE adopted pursuant to the Act that are appli-
cable to members of that Committee. At least one member of
the Audit Committee shall meet the requirements of an Audit
Committee Financial Expert under the Act and regulations
of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) applicable to such qualifications.

24. Assignment and Rotation of Committee Members
and Chairs

The Governance Committee shall be responsible, after
consultation with the Chair of the Board, for making recom-
mendations to the Board with respect to the assignment of
Board members to various Committees. After reviewing the
Governance Committee’s recommendations, the Board shall
be responsible for appointing the Chairs and members to the
Committees on an annual basis.

The Board Chair and the Governance Committee shall
annually review the Committee assignments and shall con-
sider the rotation of Chairs and members with a view toward
balancing the benefits derived from continuity against the
benefits derived from the diversity of experience and view-
points of the various Directors.

The Corporation is committed to the principle of periodic
rotation of Committee assignments and Committee Chairman-
ships, as the infusion of fresh ideas and different points of
view are deemed to be of significant value to the governance
of the Corporation.

25. Annual Review by Committees

Each Board Committee shall annually review its charter
and recommend to the Board any changes it deems necessary.
In addition to its charter, the Governance Committee will
annually review these Corporate Governance Guidelines and
recommend to the full Board any changes it deems necessary.
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Leadership Development

26. Evaluation of Chief Executive Officer

The Board shall conduct an annual evaluation of the
Chief Executive Officer. The evaluation of the Chief
Executive Officer is accomplished through the following
process: '

\

+ The Chief Executive Officer. meets with the
Governance Committee to develop appropriate goals
and objectives for the next year, which are then dis-
cussed with the entire Board. ‘

» At year-end, the Governance Committee, with input
from the Board, evaluates the performance of the
Chief Executive Officer in meeting those goals and
objectives.

¢ This evaluation is communicated to the Chief Exe-
cutive Officer at an executive session of the Board.

* The Compensation Committee uses this evaluation in
its determination of the Chief Executive Officer’s
compensation.

» The Compensation Committee shall report to the full
Board of Directors all forms of compensation paid (or
payable in the future) to the Chief Executive Officer
and the next four most highly compensated executives
of the Company. This includes any and all deferred
compensation payment plans.

27. Succession Planning

The Corporation understands the importance of succes-
sion planning. Therefore, both the Governance Committee and
the Compensation Committee, along with the Chief Executive
Officer, shall analyze the current management, identify possi--
ble successors to senior management, and timely develop a
succession plan including the succession in the event of an
emergency or retirement of the Chief Executive Officer. The
plan shall then be reviewed by the entire Board, and reviewed
periodically thereafter.

28. Management Development

The Board, with the assistance of the Compensation
Committee, shall periodically review the plans for the education,
development, and orderly succession of senior and mid-level
managers throughout the Corporation.

29, Interpretation

In cases where the Chair of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer are the same individual, procedures calling
for consultation or communications between such positions
need not be followed.




Conflicts of Interest

30. Interest Matters

If a Director, directly or indirectly, has a financial or per-
sonal interest in a contract or transaction to which the
Corporation is to be a party, or is contemplating entering into
a transaction that involves use of corporate assets or competi-
tion against the Corporation, the Director shall be considered
to be ‘interested’ in the matter. The Director shall contact the
Chief Executive Officer, the Corporate Secretary or the Chair
of the Governance Committee to disclose such relationship.
The Director’s involvement or interest will be reviewed by the
Corporation’s General Counsel, and then referred for resolution
to the Governance Committee. ‘Interested’ Directors should
be identified and/or disclosed, and they shall not participate in
any discussion or any vote relating to the matter in which
they have been deemed to be interested. The decision of the
Governance Committee on all matters of “interest” shall be final.

APPENDIX B

Audit Committee Charter of
Office Depot, Inc.

Purpose

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board -of
Directors (the “Board”) of Office Depot, Inc. (the “Com-
pany”) to assist the Board in monitoring the systems of internal
_controls, the integrity of the financial reporting process, and
the financial statements and reports of the Comparny; the per-
formance of the Company’s internal audit function (“Global
Corporate Audit Services” or “GCAS”); assessing and miti-
gating business and financial risks to the Company; and the
compliance by the Company with legal and regulatory
requirements. The Committee shall be directly responsible for
the appointment (or replacement if appropriate), compensation
and oversight of the work of any public accounting firm
employed by the Company for the purpose of preparing or
issuing an audit report or related work (hereinafter referred to
as the, Independent Accountant), and the Independent
Accountant shall report directly to the Audit Committee. No
public accounting firm serving as the Company’s Independent
Accountant shall undertake any services for the Company
unless and until such services have been specifically approved
by the Committee. The Audit Committee shall provide an
open avenue for communication among the internal auditors,
the Independent Accountant, Management and the Board of
Directors.

o0

Committee Membership

The Audit Committee shall consist of at least three mem-
bers of the Board in good standing. The members of the Audit
Committee shall meet the independence and experience
requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”), the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), and, to
the extent independence and experience requirements are
established by such body, the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (“PCAOB”). In order to be considered “inde-
pendent” for the purpose of serving on the Committee, a
member of this Committee may not, other than fees received
solely in his or her capacity as a member of the Audit
Committee, the Board of Directors or any other Board
Committee: (i) accept any consulting, advisory or other com-
pensatory fee of any type from the Company; or (ii) be an
affiliated person of the Company or any subsidiary person
thereof. A person shall be deemed “affiliated” if he or she is a
current or former employee or officer of the Company. The
Committee may invite other members of the Board of Directors,
in good standing, to attend meetings of the Committee in a

" non-voting capacity but permitted to enter into the discussions

of the Committee. All members of the Audit Committee shall
be “financially literate” and at least one member of the
Committee shall be designated as a “financial expert” as
defined by applicable legislation and regulations, including
without limitation the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Act”)
and any regulations promulgated by the SEC, the NYSE or
the PCAOB. The Company will provide the opportunity for
continuing education paid by the Company. The members and
chair of the Audit Committee shall be appointed annually by
the Board, on the recommendation of the Governance &
Nominating Committee of the Board. If an Audit Committee
member simultaneously serves on the audit committees of
more than three public companies, then in each case, the
board must determine that such simultaneous service would
not impair the ability of such member to effectively serve on
the Company’s Audit Committee and disclose such determi-
nation in the Company’s annual proxy statement.

Meetings

The Committee shall meet at least four times a year, in
regular session, and also shall meet each time the Company
proposes to issue a press release with its quarterly or annual
earnings information. Such ‘earnings release’ meetings may
be combined with any regular quarterly meeting of the
Committee or may be conducted telephonically, separately
from the regular quarterly meetings of the Committee. The
Committee may convene additional meetings, as circumstances
require, at the call of the Chairman, or any two other members
of the Committee. All Committee members are expected to
attend each meeting, in person or via tele-conference, or
videoconference. The Committee shall invite members of
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management, auditors, internal or external legal counsel or
others to attend meetings and provide pertinent information,
as necessary. It will hold private meetings with the Indepen-
dent Accountant, with the head of GCAS, management and, if

requested, with the General Counsel of the Company and/or

outside counsel. The Committee also shall meet in executive
sessions as desired by the Committee. Meeting agendas shall
be prepared and provided in advance to members, along with
appropriate briefing materials. Minutes shall be prepared by a
Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Company, and submit-
ted to the Committee for its review and approval.

Committee Authority and Responsibilities

The Committee shall see that the following responsibili-
ties are duly discharged in the manner prescribed by applicable
law and regulations of the SEC, the NYSE and PCAOB or
other applicable laws and regulations.

1. The Committee shall have the authority to retain spe-
cial legal, accounting or other consultants to advise the
Committee from time to time, and the Company shall pay the
reasonable fees and expenses of any such legal, accounting
or other consultant sc engaged by the Committee. The
Committee may request any officer or employee of the
Company or the Company’s outside counsel or Independent
Accountant to attend a meeting of the Committee or to meet
with any members of, or attorneys, accountants, or consultants
to, the Committee.

2. The Committee shall make regular reports to the
Board on its activities, the results of any special investigation
conducted by it, and the results of any work performed by
special counsel, accountants or consultants engaged by it. The
Committee shall review with the Board any issues that arise
with respect to the quality or integrity of the Company’s
financial statements, the Company’s compliance with legal or
regulatory requirements, the performance and independence
of the public accounting firm, or the performance of the inter-
nal audit function.

3. The Committee shall be informed of all disagree-
ments between management and the Independent Accountant
regarding financial reporting. The Committee shall report regu-
larly to the full Board of Directors on all actions taken pursuant
to this Section of the Charter.

4. The Committee shall review and assure the inde-
pendence of the firm serving as the Company’s Independent
Accountant: The Committee will evaluate annually the per-
formance of the Company’s Independent Accountant. Also,
this evaluation shall include the review and evaluation of the
lead partner of the firm. The Company shall not hire the
Independent Accountant’s lead partner, the concurring partnet,
or any other member of the audit engagement team who pro-
vides more than ten hours of audit, review or attest services in a
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position within the Company in a financial reporting oversight
role within the one-year period preceding the commencement
of audit procedures as a member of the audit engagement
team. The term “financial reporting oversight role” shall mean
any individual who has direct responsibility for oversight over
those who prepare the company’s financial statements and
related information, such as MD&A.

5. No Independent Accountant shall perform any non-
audit work for the Company unless expressly authorized to do
so by the Audit Committee, pursuant to procedures established
for such purpose. The Committee shall approve any non-audit
services, including tax services, proposed to be performed by
the public accounting firm serving as the Company’s principal
outside audit firm, before such services are rendered to the
Company. Such pre-approval may be provided by the Chair-
man of the Committee, acting alone and without a meeting of
the Committee, to whom pre-approval authority is hereby
granted in accordance with the Act and regulations pursuant
thereto; provided that the Chairman reports to the Committee

© at its next meeting on all such matters pre-approved by him.

6. Under no circumstances shall the Committee or its
Chairman approve any non-audit service that is expressly pro-
hibited by Section 201 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002. Any
non-audit service approved by the Committee or its Chairman
shall be reported to the Company’s shareholders in the next
periodic report required to be filed by the Company pursuant
to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act””) and regulations of the SEC.

7. The Committee shall at least annually, obtain and
review a report by the Company’s Independent Accountant
describing: the firm’s internal quality-control procedures; any

- material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-
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control review, or peer review, of the firm, or by any inquiry
or investigation by governmental or professional authorities,
within the preceding five years, respecting one or more inde-
pendent audits carried out by the firm, and steps taken to deal
with any such issues.

8. The Committee shall require that each Independent
Accountant that performs an audit for the Company shall
timely report to the Audit Committee (i) all critical accounting
policies and practices used by the Company; (ii) all reasonably
available alternative treatments of financial information
within generally accepted accounting principles that have
been discussed with management of the Company, ramifica-
tions of the use of such alternative disclosures and treatments,
and the treatment preferred by the public accounting firm; and
(iii) other material written communications between the
Independent Accountant and management of the Company,
such as any management letter or schedule of unadjusted
differences.




9. The Committee shall discuss the Company’s annual
audited financial statements and quarterly financial statements
with management and the Independent Accountant, including
the company’s disclosures under “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opera-
tions;” and discuss the company’s earnings press releases, as
well as financial information and earnings guidance provided
to analysts and rating agencies.

10. In reviewing financial statements that reflect the
earnings of the Company, the Committee shall make specific
inquiry of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer regarding the ‘quality of earnings’ of the Company,
from a subjective as well as an objective standpoint. Such
review shall occur sufficiently in advance of the required fil-
ing date(s) for such reports to allow for meaningful input by
the Committee. ’

11. The Committee shall review with management
and the Independent Accountant the effect of regulatory and
accounting initiatives, as well as off-balance sheet structures,
if any:

12. The Committee shall review with the Independent
Accountants, in advance of the annual audit, their audit scope
and plan. The Committee shall review with management and
the Independent Accountant at the completion of the annual
examination of the Company’s financial statements:

¢ The Company’s annual financial statements and related
footnotes.

» The Independent Accountant’s audit of the financial
statements and the accountants’ report thereon.

» The Independent Accountant’s judgments about the
quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company’s
accounting principles as applied in its financial
reporting.

* Any significant changes required in the Independent
Accountant’s audit plan.

* Any serious difficulties or disputes with management
encountered during the course of the audit.

» Other matters related to the conduct of the audit, which
are to be communicated to the Committee under gen-
erally accepted auditing standards.

» Discuss with the Independent Accountant the matters
required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing
Standards No. 61 relating to the conduct of the audit.

13. The Committee shall require that no Independent
Accountant performing audit services for the Company shall
maintain the same person as the lead (or coordinating) audit
partner (having primary responsibility for the audit) or the
audit partner responsible for reviewing the audit, for more
than five (5) fiscal years of the Company. The lead (or coordi-
nating) audit partner shall be subject to reasonable approval
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by the Committee.

14. The Committee shall review with management, the
Independent Accountant, and the Vice President of GCAS all
interim annual financial reports, including the Company’s dis-
closures under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations” before they are
filed with the SEC or other regulators. Also, the Committee
shall discuss the Company’s earnings press releases, as well
as financial information and earnings guidance provided to
analysts and rating agencies. The Committee need not discuss
in advance each instance in which a company may provide
earnings guidance, and it shall be sufficient that the
Committee discuss generally with management the types of
information disclosed by the Company, the manner of disclo-
sure and the types of presentations made by management to
financial analysts and investors.

15. The Company shall have an internal audit function.
The Committee shall review and concur in the appointment,
replacement, reassignment, or dismissal of the Vice President
of GCAS. The Vice President of GCAS has a direct reporting
line to the Chair of the Committee and shall be at liberty to
advise such Chair as to any matter of concern with regard to
the financial integrity of the Company and other matters under
the purview of this Committee.

16. The Committee shall periodically inquire of manage-
ment, the Vice President of GCAS, the Company’s General
Counsel and the Company’s independent public accounting
firm about significant risks or exposures facing the Company,
assess the steps management has taken or proposes to take to
minimize such risk to the Company and periodically review
compliance with such steps.

17. The Committee shall review with the Independent
Accountant and the Vice President of GCAS:

* The adequacy of the Company’s internal controls
including computerized information system controls
and security.

¢ Any related significant findings and recommendations
of the Independent Accountant and internal audit serv-
ices together with management’s responses thereto.

* Any difficulties encountered in the course of their
audits, including any restrictions on the scope of their
work or access to required information.

* Any changes required in the planned scope of their plan.
* The Internal Auditing Department budget and staffing.
» The Internal Auditing Department charter.

* Annual scope and plan

» GCAS’s compliance with the IIA’s Standards for the
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (Standards).

Office Depot 2003 / Proxy Statement




BRSNS

18. The Committee shall review with the General
Counsel and the Vice President GCAS legal and regulatory
matters that, in the opinion of management, may have a
‘material impact on the financial statements, related Company
compliance policies, and programs and reports received from
regulators.

19. The Committee shall periodically review the Code
of Ethical Behavior with the Company to ensure that it is ade-
quate and up-to-date. The Committee also shall review with the
Vice President of GCAS and the Company’s General Counsel,
the results of their review of the Company’s monitoring of
compliance with the Company’s Code of Ethical Behavior.

20. The Committee shall establish (or ensure that there
are established) procedures for (a) the receipt, retention and
treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding
accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters,
and (b) the confidential, anonymous submission directly to the
Committee by employees of the Company or other parties as to
concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

21. The Committee shall review policies and procedures
with respect to officers’ expense accounts and perquisites,
including their use of corporate assets, and consider the results
of any review of these areas by the internal auditor or the
Independent Accountant.
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22. The Committee shall review the results of the Loss
Prevention audits and activities. :

23. The Committee shall review and approve the Audit
Committee Report for the Annual Report and Proxy.

24. The Committee shall create an agenda for the ensuing
year or review and approve the agenda submitted by the Vice
President of Global Corporate Audit Services.

25. The Committee shall review this Charter at least
once annually for the purpose of assessing the adequacy of
this Charter and recommend any proposed changes to the
Board of Directors, and shall perform an annual evaluation of
its performance.

While the Audit Committee has the responsibilities and
powers set forth in this Charter, it is not the duty of the Audit
Committee to plan or conduct actual audits or to determine
that the Company’s financial statements are complete and
accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles. This is the responsibility of management and
the Independent Accountant. Nor is it the duty of the Audit
Committee to conduct investigations, to resolve disagreements,
if any, between management and the Independent Accountant
or to assure compliance with laws and regulations and the
Company’s Code of Ethical Behavior.




THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

103 Office Depot 2003 / Proxy Statement




Corporate and Stockholder Information

DIRECTORS

BRUCE NELSON
Chairman of the Board &
Chief Executive Officer
Office Depot, Inc.

LEE A AULT, il
Chairman of the Board
In-Q-Tel, Inc.

NEIL AUSTRIAN
President
Dnyden & Company

CYNTHIA R. COHEN
President
Strategic Mindshare

DAVID |. FUENTE
Managing Partner
Dash Ventures

BRENDA J. GAINES
North American President
Diners Club International
Division of Citigroup

BRUCE S. GORDON
President

Retail Markets Group

Verizon Communications, Inc.

W SCOTT HEDRICK
General Partner
InterWest Partners

CORPORATE OFFICES

2200 Old Germantown Road
Delray Beach, FL 33445

(561) 438-4800

web site: www.officedepot.com

ANNUAL MEETING

May 14, 2004 at 10:00am (ET)
Renaissance Boca Raton Hote!
2000 NW 19th Street

Boca Raton, FL 33431-7362
(561) 368-5252

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Miami, FL

TRANSFER AGENT & REGISTRAR
Mellon Investor Services, LLC
P.0. Box 3315

South Hackensack, NJ 07606
{800) 681-8059

web site: www.meilon-investor.com

JAMES L. HESKETT DAVID FANNIN REX CIAVOLA, JR.
Baker Foundation Professor - General Counsel & Global Creative Services &
Harvard Business School Corporate Secretary Production
MICHAEL J. MYERS MARK HOLIFIELD GRAHAM CUNDICK
President Supply Chain European Merchandising &
First Century Partners RICK A LEPLEY Marketing
FRANK SCRUGGS North American Retail TIMOTHY TOEWS
éttom?; i A MONICA LUECHTEFELD Information Technology-Europe ,

reenverg Iraung, F-A. Global E-Commerce DAVE TRUDNOWSK!
gﬁT ER g%?”‘,”gx’;’cuﬁve Oficer  PATRICIA MORRISON BSG Western Region
Pegfjagdomof Company " Chief Information Officer ROBVALE

CHUCK RUBIN , European Cperations
OPERATING OFFICERS Chief Merchandising Officer JAMES A. WALKER
BRUCE NELSON FRANK SCRUGGS Finance & Controller
Chairman of the Board & Human Resources
Chiof Exooutive Offcor VICE PRESIDENTS
ROLF VAN KALDEKERKEN SENIOR VICE PRESIDENTS %:‘iggN CLARKE
President WIM VAN AALST
European Operations Supply Chain-Europe BRIAN DAN
Associate General Counsel
EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENTS ‘ng FREY AIKEN
gﬁ;‘ff__ﬁf; E, fgf? WN DENNIS ANDRUSKIEWICZ
4 il Lmeer Supply Chain
g:l’.\,v’;”’gafAMP BELL MARK B, BANDER
Ty sales Real Estate
TRUSTEE FOR 10% SENIOR DIVIDEND POLICY

SUBORDINATED NOTES DUE 2008
AND 6.25% SENIOR NOTES DUE 2013

SunTrust Bank

We have never declared or paid cash dividends
on our common stock. While we regularly

777 Brickell Avenue
Miami, FL 33131

COMMON STOCK

Office Depot’s common stock is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange under the symbo!
0DP. As of December 27, 2003, there were
3,754 stockholders of record. This number
excludes individual stockholders holding stock
under nominee security position listings.

DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

New investors and current stockholders of
record may acquire shares of Office Depot’s
common stock through the Company’s

direct stock purchase plan. Enroliment
materials, including the prospectus, are
available on the Company’s web site, under
Company Information/Investor Relations/Stock
Purchase, or call Melion Investor Services

at (800) 681-8059.

assess our dividend policy, we have no current
plans to declare a dividend.

FORM 10-K

A Form 10-K is available without charge on-
line at www.officedepot. com, or through
WWW.SEC.GOV.

It is also available upon written request to:
Investor Relations
Office Depot, Inc.
2200 Old Germantown Road
Delray Beach, FL 33445
{561) 438-7641

QUARTERLY STOCKHOLDER REPORTS

Office Depot's quarterly stockholders’
information is provided on the Company’s web
site (www.officedepot.com) under Company
Information/Investor Relations/SEC Filings.
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STRATEGIES

REPOSITION NORTH AMERICAN REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO

— Increase the number and speed of new store openings
— Build a more flexible retail model with smaller stores and non-traditional formats
— Reinvest in older stores to build a more competitive model

CONTROL COSTS WHILE ENHANCING QUALITY

- Introduce a world-wide focused approach to process excellence
— Continue to improve our industry-leading supply chain
— Leverage our global size and scope to introduce more globally-sourced products

G

CREATE A CUSTOMER-CENTRIC EXPERIENCE

— Enhance our ability to guide customers to the best shopping opportunities for their needs
Standardize systems, processes, and content to optimize customer interactions through
‘global content management’

— Manage customer profitability across all channels and brands

o

DEVELOP A DIFFERENTIATED PRODUCT ASSORTMENT

— Establish clear ieadership positions in destination categories
— Develop merchandise solutions based on customer use across all of our channels
— Deepen and broaden Private Brand within and across product groups

50

EXCEL IN EUROPE

— Continue our successful Guilbert integration program
— Harmonize our customer contact and product strategies
— Acquire or build our presence in new countries and new vertical market segments

g

ESTABLISH A HIGH-PERFORMANCE ORGANIZATION WITH SUPERIOR LEADERSHIP
AND EMPLOYEES

— Enhance global learning programs
— Provide leadership development opportunities
— Significantly expand college recruiting program in North America

BUILD OR ACQUIRE NEW BUSINESS TO GENERATE BREAKTHROUGH GROWTH

— Leverage strong balance sheet to generate growth
— Look for opportunities that are complementary, add talent, and can be leveraged

o
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